Characterization of novel reproductive phenotypes in dairy cows

by

Mohanathas Gobikrushanth

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Science

### Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Mohanathas Gobikrushanth, 2018

#### Abstract

A reproductive phenotype that has high variability, repeatability, heritability, and association with fertility could become an excellent candidate for genetic selection to augment fertility in dairy cows. Therefore, the general objective of this research was to evaluate the aforementioned characteristics for five novel reproductive phenotypes in dairy cows, namely gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH)-induced luteinizing hormone (LH) response, antral follicle count (AFC), anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and ano-genital distance (AGD). The secondary objective was to identify genetic markers (single nucleotide polymorphisms; SNP) associated with three of the above reproductive phenotypes (AMH, IGF-1, and AGD).

The first study was designed to determine the variability and repeatability of GnRHinduced LH responses and the associations among plasma LH, follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), estradiol (E2), and progesterone (P4) concentrations. The association between LH response categories and reproductive outcomes was also tested. I hypothesized that cows have variable responses to GnRH treatment, which are repeatable, and cows with a high LH response to GnRH would have increased likelihood of ovulation and consequently improved reproductive outcomes compared to cows with a low LH response. The GnRH-induced LH responses were normally distributed and highly variable but unrepeatable. Plasma concentrations of LH were positively associated with FSH and E2, and negatively associated with P4. Cows with high LH responses had numerically greater ovulation rate and pregnancy to first artificial insemination (P/AI); however, the association with reproductive outcomes needs to be evaluated in a larger population. The second study was designed to test the repeatability of AFC and AMH concentrations at an unknown stage of follicular growth and at an expected day of follicular wave emergence and the association between AFC and AMH at the above two stages in dairy cows. I hypothesized that the repeatability for AMH would be higher than the repeatability for AFC and the association between AFC and AMH would be strong at both stages. The repeatability was high for AMH and moderate for AFC, and a moderate correlation was found between AFC and AMH at both stages.

The third study was designed to evaluate the distribution and variation of AMH, identify factors associated with variation in circulating AMH, determine heritability, establish an optimum AMH threshold predictive of P/AI, examine the relationship between AMH and fertility, and identify SNP associated with the phenotypic variation of AMH in dairy cows. Circulating AMH was positively skewed and highly variable, had a quadratic relationship with parity, moderately heritable, and was associated with numerous genetic markers. The relationships between AMH and fertility outcomes, however, were not significant despite numerical indications of better fertility outcomes in cows with high AMH concentration.

The fourth study had similar objectives as the third study, with IGF-1 as the hormone of interest. Circulating concentration of IGF-1 was positively skewed and highly variable, influenced by herd, age, parity, pre-calving body condition score (BCS), and season of sampling. It was also positively associated with P/AI, and linked to a few genetic markers related to previously identified candidate genes of fertility in dairy cows.

The fifth study was designed to characterize the distribution and variability of AGD, determine the relationships among AGD, age and height, and evaluate the associations between AGD and P/AI and cumulative pregnancy by 250 d in milk (DIM) within parity groups (first, second, and third + parities) in Canadian Holstein cows. I hypothesized that cows with short AGD,

presumably exposed to low in-utero testosterone during fetal life, would have greater fertility than cows with long AGD. The AGD was normally distributed and highly variable, weakly-related to cow age and height, and inversely related to P/AI and pregnancy by 250 DIM in first and second parity cows, but not in third + parity cows.

The sixth study, with similar objectives as the fifth study, was conducted in Irish Holstein cows. Despite its normal distribution, high variability, moderate heritability, and weak associations with cow age, height, weight and BCS, the inverse relationship between AGD and fertility found in Canadian Holsteins, was not evident in the Irish Holsteins.

Overall, this doctoral thesis provided a deeper understanding of the characteristics of five novel reproductive phenotypes and their potential for selection in dairy cows, and opened new avenues for further research.

### Preface

This thesis is an original work by Mohanathas Gobikrushanth. The research project, which this thesis is a part of, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) for Livestock, Project Name "Reproductive phenotypes in dairy cattle", No. AUP00001272, dated October 22, 2014.

This thesis is the result of an international research collaboration, led by Professor Divakar Ambrose at the University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada along with Dr. Stephen Butler as the lead collaborator from Teagasc, Moorepark, Ireland.

**Chapter 3** of this thesis has been published as **M. Gobikrushanth**, P.A. Dutra, T.C. Bruinjé, M.G. Colazo, S.T. Butler, and D.J. Ambrose (2017), "Characterization of the variability and repeatability of gonadotropin releasing hormone-induced luteinizing hormone responses in dairy cows within a synchronized ovulation protocol," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 100, issue 8, 6753-6762. I participated in experimental design and sample collection. I managed and analyzed data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. P.A. Dutra and T.C. Bruinjé assisted with sample collection and contributed to manuscript preparation. M.G. Colazo and S.T. Butler assisted with data analysis and manuscript preparation. D.J. Ambrose conceived the study, designed the experiment, assisted with sample collection and contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. He supervised the study and was the corresponding author.

**Chapter 4** of this thesis has been published as **M. Gobikrushanth**, P.A. Dutra, T.C. Bruinjé, M.G. Colazo, S.T. Butler, and D.J. Ambrose (2017), "The repeatability of antral follicle counts and anti-Müllerian hormone concentrations determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth and an expected day of follicular wave emergence in dairy cows," *Theriogenology*, vol.

92, issue 6, 90-94. I participated in experimental design and sample collection. I managed and analyzed data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. P.A. Dutra and T.C. Bruinjé assisted with the sample collection and contributed to manuscript preparation. M.G. Colazo and S.T. Butler assisted with data analysis and manuscript preparation. D.J. Ambrose conceived the study. He designed the experiment along with M.G. Colazo, assisted with sample collection and contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript, and was the corresponding author.

**Chapter 5** of this thesis has been published as **M. Gobikrushanth**, D.C. Purfield, M.G. Colazo, S.T. Butler, Z. Wang, and D.J. Ambrose (2018), "The relationship between serum anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) concentrations and fertility, and genome wide associations for AMH in Holstein dairy cows (2018)," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 101, issue 8, 7563-7574. I participated in experimental design and sample collection. I managed and analyzed data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. D.C. Purfield performed genome-wide association analyses. M.G. Colazo and S.T. Butler assisted with data analysis and manuscript preparation. Z. Wang offered editorial suggestions. D.J. Ambrose was the corresponding author who conceived the study along with M.G, Colazo and S.T. Butler, designed the experiment, assisted with sample collection and contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript.

**Chapter 6** of this thesis has been published as **M. Gobikrushanth**, D.C. Purfield, M.G. Colazo, Z. Wang, S.T. Butler, and D.J. Ambrose (2018), "The relationship between serum insulinlike growth factor-1 (IGF-1) concentration and fertility, and genome wide associations for IGFlin Holstein dairy cows," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 101, issue 10, 9154-9167. I participated in experimental design and sample collection along with M.G. Colazo. I managed and analyzed data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. D.C. Purfield performed genome-wide association analyses. M.G. Colazo and S.T. Butler assisted with data analysis and manuscript preparation. Z. Wang offered editorial suggestions. D.J. Ambrose was the supervisory author who conceived the study along with M.G. Colazo and S.T. Butler, designed the experiment, assisted with data collection and contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript.

**Chapter 7** of this thesis has been published as **M. Gobikrushanth**, T.C. Bruinjé, M.G. Colazo, S.T. Butler, and D.J. Ambrose (2017), "Characterization of ano-genital distance and its relationship to fertility in Canadian Holsteins," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 100, issue 12, 9815-9823. I conceived the study along with D.J. Ambrose, and participated in experimental design and data collection. I managed and analyzed data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. T.C. Bruinjé assisted with data collection and contributed to manuscript preparation. M.G. Colazo and S.T. Butler assisted with data analysis and manuscript preparation. D.J. Ambrose supervised the study and was the corresponding author. He participated in experimental design, assisted with data collection and editing of the manuscript.

**Chapter 8** of this thesis has been accepted for publication as **M. Gobikrushanth**, D.C. Purfield, J. Kenneally, R.C. Doyle, S.A. Holden, P.M. Martinez, E. Rojas Canadas, T.C. Bruinjé, M.G. Colazo, D.J. Ambrose and S.T. Butler (2018), "The association between ano-genital distance (AGD) and fertility, and genome wide associations for AGD in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows (2018)," in *Journal of Dairy Science*. I conceived the study and participated in experimental design and both sample and data collection. I managed and analyzed data, interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. D.C. Purfield performed the genome wide association analyses. J. Kenneally, R.C. Doyle, S.A. Holden, P.M. Martinez, E. Rojas Canadas, and T.C. Bruinjé assisted with sample collection and contributed to manuscript preparation. M.G. Colazo and D.J. Ambrose contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript. S.T. Butler supervised the study and was

the corresponding author who participated in experimental design, assisted with data collection and offered editorial suggestions.

# Dedications

To my father, Mr. Mohanathas, my mother, Mrs. Parameswary, and my wife Sobi, for their love, belief, and encouragement

To my friends for their continued support and motivation

To all my hard working and respectable teachers

### Acknowledgements

There have been many people who have walked alongside me during the last five years. They have encouraged me, guided me, placed opportunities in front of me, and showed me the right doors to open in future. Therefore, I would like to thank each and every one of them.

First of all, I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my guru, Professor Divakar Ambrose, for his confidence in me, support and motivation in chasing my dreams. His unwavering enthusiasm for research and personal generosity helped make my time extremely productive and enjoyable in Canada. He has played a phenomenal role in supporting both my academic and personal life throughout all these years. Without his patience, guidance, knowledge, and assistance this dissertation would not have been possible.

A very big thank you to Dr. Marcos Colazo for being a mentor, colleague, and well-wisher throughout my academic career. He has been an inspiration, and whose enthusiasm for the "reproductive physiology" will have long lasting effect on my academic career.

My heartiest gratitude to my co-supervisor Dr. Stephen Butler for sharing his deepest understandings on science and passion for research, and his guidance and motivation throughout my PhD program, especially, during my stay in Moorepark, Ireland.

A very special thanks goes to Dr. Deirdre Purfield, post-doctoral fellow from Moorepark, Ireland, for being a pillar that carried the load of all genomics related analyses. Some aspects of my publications would not have been even possible without her help.

I humbly extend my sincere thanks to Professor Zhiquan Wang and Professor Michael Dyck for their generosity in agreeing to be my supervisory committee members and offering their timely support throughout this program.

Х

I take great pleasure in expressing my cordial gratitude to my dear colleagues and friends Ana, Courtney, Amir, Patricia, Tony, Larissa, Andrew, Chithra, Daniela, Johnathan, Shauna, Rachel, and Eber who have been of tremendous support throughout the course of my stay in Edmonton, Canada and Moorepark, Ireland. In addition, I owe very special thanks to Kurt and Mary Anne for hosting and treating me and my wife like their kids over the last five years of our stay in Edmonton.

I sincerely thank Alberta Innovates Biosolutions for financially supporting my PhD through the Teagasc/ University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship over the last five years. I, also, extend my thanks to Growing Forward 2, a federal-provincial-territorial initiative funding, Livestock Research & Extension Branch, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, and Alberta Livestock Meat Agency and Alberta Milk for financially supporting parts of this thesis research. I am very grateful to the producers, herd veterinarians and employees of the many dairy farms that participated in my studies in Alberta, Canada, and in Munster, Ireland for their interest and support.

Above all, I am indebted to my loving family, my father Mohan, my mother Rajini, my brother Arun and his wife Omela, my little niece Lukshy, whose value to me, only grows with age. Last but not least, I acknowledge my loving wife, Sobi for her love and continuous support, patience and trust in me during my academic career.

Abstractii
Prefacev
Dedicationsix
Acknowledgements x
List of tablesxvii
List of figures xix
List of abbreviations xxii
Chapter 1. General introduction 1
Chapter 2. Review of literature
2.1. Overview of the dairy industry
2.2. Fertility of dairy cows
2.3. Strategies to enhance fertility of dairy cows
2.3.1. Nutrition
2.3.2. Postpartum health
2.3.3. Reproductive management tools and technologies
2.3.3.1. Technologies to improve estrus detection efficiency14
2.3.3.2. Ovulation synchronization and timed-AI
2.3.3.3. Early diagnosis of non-pregnancy
2.3.4. Genetic selection for fertility traits
2.3.4.1. Milk production and fertility19
2.3.4.2. Selection indices in North-America and Ireland

# **Table of Contents**

2.3.4.3. Traditional fertility traits	21
2.3.4.4. Novel reproductive phenotypes	23
2.3.4.5. Knowledge gaps	24
Chapter 3. Characterization of the variability and repeatability of gonadotropin relea	asing
hormone-induced luteinizing hormone responses in dairy cows within a synchronized	
ovulation protocol	27
3.1. Abstract	27
3.2. Background	28
3.3. Materials and methods	30
3.3.1. Animals and housing	30
3.3.2. Reproductive management and blood sampling	31
3.3.3. Determination of plasma concentration of LH, FSH, E2 and P4	32
3.3.4. Statistical analyses	33
3.4. Results	35
3.4.1. Variability and repeatability of GnRH-induced release of LH	35
3.4.2. Associations among plasma LH concentration and FSH, E2 and P4	36
3.4.3. Associations among LH categories, parity, plasma LH, FSH, E2, P4, and	
reproductive outcomes	36
3.5. Discussion	37
3.6. Acknowledgments	40
Chapter 4. Repeatability of antral follicle counts and anti-Müllerian hormone and the	eir
associations determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth and an expected da	y of
follicular wave emergence in dairy cows	48
4.1. Abstract	48

4.2. Background	
4.3. Materials and methods	
4.3.1. Animals and housing	
4.3.2. Reproductive management	
4.3.3. Transrectal ultrasonography and determination of AFC	
4.3.4. Blood sampling and determination of AMH	52
4.3.5. Statistical analyses	53
4.4. Results and discussion	
4.5. Acknowledgments	
Chapter 5. The relationship between serum anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) conc	entrations
and fertility, and genome wide associations for AMH in Holstein cows	
5.1. Abstract	
5.2. Background	
5.3. Materials and methods	
5.3.1. Animals and management	65
5.3.2. Blood sampling and determination of serum concentrations of AMH	65
5.3.3. Determination of body condition score (BCS), reproductive measurements	and milk
yield for the current lactation	66
5.3.4. Genotyping, quality control and imputation	66
5.3.5. Statistical analyses	67
5.3.6. Genome-wide association study and estimation of genomic heritability for A	4 <i>MH</i> 70
5.4. Results and discussion	71
5.5. Acknowledgments	77

Chapter 6. The relationship between serum insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1)	
concentration and reproductive performance, and genome-wide associations for serum	
IGF-1 in Holstein cows	85
6.1 Abstract	85

6.1. Abstract
6.2. Background
6.3. Materials and methods
6.3.1. Animals and management
6.3.2. Blood sampling and determination of serum concentration of IGF-1
6.3.3. Determination of age, body condition score (BCS), ovarian cyclicity status,
reproductive measurements and 305-d mature-equivalent milk yield
6.3.4. Genotyping, quality control and imputation
6.3.5. Statistical analyses
6.3.6. Genome-wide association study for circulating IGF-1 concentration
6.4. Results and discussion
6.5. Acknowledgments

# Chapter 7. Characterization of ano-genital distance and its relationship to fertility in

Canadian Holsteins 112	
7.1. Abstract	
7.2. Background 113	
7.3. Materials and methods	
7.3.1. Animals and management	
7.3.2. Determination of AGD, age, height, milk yield and reproductive measures	
7.3.3. Blood sampling and determination of plasma concentrations of testosterone 116	

7.3.4. Statistical analyses	
7.4. Results and discussion	
7.5. Acknowledgments	123
Chapter 8. The relationship between ano-genital distance (AGD) and ferti	lity, and genome-
wide associations for AGD in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows	
8.1. Abstract	
8.2. Background	
8.3. Materials and methods	
8.3.1. Animals and management	
8.3.2. Determination of AGD, age, height, body weight, and BCS	
8.3.3. Definition for interval from calving to mating start date categories	and reproductive
parameters	
8.3.4. Genotypes, quality control and imputation	
8.3.5. Statistical analyses	
8.3.6. Heritability and Genome-wide association study for AGD	
8.4. Results and discussion	
8.5. Acknowledgments	
Chapter 9. General discussion and future directions	151
9.1. Key findings	
9.2. General discussion, limitations, and future directions	
9.3. Final thoughts	
References	

## List of tables

Table 3. 1. Associations among LH categories, parity, plasma LH, FSH, estradiol, progesterone
and reproductive outcomes in lactating dairy cows
<b>Table 4. 1.</b> The descriptive statistics of AFC ( $\geq 2 \text{ mm}$ in diameter) and serum AMH concentrations
(pg/mL) determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth (FG) and expected day of
follicular emergence (FWE) in 91 dairy cows
Table 5. 1. Associations among categories of serum anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), type of AI,
herd, parity, pre- and post-calving body condition score, 305-d mature-equivalent (ME) milk
yield and pregnancy to first AI (P/AI) in a subset of 460 Holstein cows
Table 5. 2. Genomic regions associated with anti-Müllerian hormone production after adjustment
for multiple testing. The strongest association within each region is identified as well as the
nearest putative candidate gene
Table 6. 1. The associations among categories of insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), herd, type of
AI, ovarian cyclicity status, pre- and post-calving body condition score (BCS), season, 305-
d mature-equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first insemination in 152 primiparous
cows
Table 6. 2. The associations among categories of insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), herd, type of
AI, ovarian cyclicity status, pre- and post-calving body condition score (BCS), 305-d mature-
equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first insemination (P/AI) in 308 multiparous
cows

Table 6. 3. Genomic regions associated with serum insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1)
concentration in dairy cows. The strongest association within each region is identified as well
as the nearest putative candidate genes
<b>Table 7. 1.</b> Descriptive statistics for ano-genital distance (AGD) in Canadian Holsteins
Table 7. 2. Associations among ano-genital distance (AGD) categories, herd, type of AI, 305-d
mature-equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first AI in first and second parity
Canadian Holsteins 125
Table 8. 1. Descriptive statistics for ano-genital distance (AGD) in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows
Table 8. 2. Genomic regions of suggestive association with ano-genital distance in Irish Holstein-
Friesian cows. The strongest association within each region is identified as well as the nearest
putative candidate genes
Table 8. 3. Associations among AGD categories and reproductive outcomes (least square means;
LSM) in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows146
Table 8. 4. Associations among interval from calving to mating start date categories and
reproductive outcomes (least square means; LSM) in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows 147

# List of figures

Figure 3. 1. The application of modified presynchronization-Ovsynch protocol in hundread
lactating Holstein cows
Figure 3. 2. The distribution of plasma LH concentrations determined at 2 h after the GnRH of
presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows and in cows that had plasma
P4 < 0.5  ng/mL
Figure 3. 3. Association between plasma LH determined at 2 h after GnRH of presynchronization
and the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows and in cows that had P4 concentrations $< 0.5$
ng/mL at both GnRH of presynchronization and at the second GnRH of Ovsynch
Figure 3. 4. Association between plasma FSH and LH determined at 2 h after the second GnRH
of Ovsynch in all cows and in cows that had $P4 < 0.5$ ng/mL45
Figure 3. 5. Association between plasma estradiol determined at 0 h before the second GnRH of
Ovsynch and plasma LH determined at 2 h after the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows
and in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch
Figure 3. 6. Association between plasma progesterone determined before (0 h) the second GnRH
of Ovsynch and plasma LH determined at 2 h after the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows
and in cows that had P4 $\ge$ 0.5 ng/mL
Figure 4. 1. The distribution of AFC determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth and on
the expected day of follicular wave emergence in lactating dairy cows
Figure 4. 2. The distribution of serum AMH concentration determined at an unknown stage of
follicular growth and on the expected day of follicular wave emergence in lactating dairy
cows

Figure 5. 3. Kaplan-Meier survival curve illustrating the probability of pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum based on serum AMH concentrations categories in a subset of lactating Holstein cows.

**Figure 6. 1.** Mean concentrations of serum IGF-1 at 7 (±2.4) d postpartum among herd, age, parity, pre-calving body condition score, and season of IGF-1 blood sampling in a subset of lactating

- Holstein cows......106

Figure 6. 5. Kaplan-Meier survival curve that illustrates the proportion of primiparous and
multiparous cows pregnant by 150 DPP by IGF-1 category 110
Figure 6. 6. Manhattan plot of the genome-wide association study for serum IGF-1 concentration
in lactatinh Holstein cows111
Figure 7. 1. Positioning of digital calipers to measure ano-genital distance and the distribution of
ano-genital distance in 1 <sup>st</sup> , 2 <sup>nd</sup> and 3 <sup>rd</sup> + parity Canadian Holstein cows
Figure 7. 2. Association between age and AGD and height at hip and AGD in Canadian Holstein
cows
Figure 7. 3. The estimated probability of pregnancy to first AI plotted against AGD in 1 <sup>st</sup> and 2 <sup>nd</sup>
parity Canadian Holstein cows
Figure 7. 4. The receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for AGD that predicted
probability of pregnancy to the first AI in 1st and 2nd parity Canadian Holstein cows 129
Figure 7. 5. Kaplan-Meier survival curve that illustrates the proportion of cows that remained non-
pregnant by 250 DIM by AGD category in 1 <sup>st</sup> and 2 <sup>nd</sup> parity Canadian Holstein cows 130
<b>Figure 8. 1.</b> The distribution of AGD in $1^{st}$ , $2^{nd}$ and $3^{rd}$ + parity Irish Holstein-Friesian cows. 148
Figure 8. 2. Association among AGD, age, height at hip, body weight and body condition score
in a subset 281 Irish Holstein-Friesian cows
Figure 8. 3. Manhattan plot of the genome-wide association study for AGD in a subset of 908
Irish Holstein-Friesian cows

# List of abbreviations

AFC	Antral Follicle Count
AGD	Ano-genital Distance
АМН	Anti- Müllerian Hormone
AI	Artificial Insemination
AUC	Area Under the Curve
BCS	Body Condition Score
BTA	Bos taurus Autosome
CI	Confidence Interval
CIDR	Controlled Intravaginal Drug Release
CL	Corpus Luteum
CLA	Commencement of Luteal Activity
CV	Coefficient of Variation
DIM	Days in Milk
DM	Dry Matter
DPP	Days Postpartum
DPR	Daughter Pregnancy Rate
EBI	Economic Breeding Index
EBV	Estimated Breeding Value
E2	Estradiol
FDR	False Discovery Rate
FG	Follicular Growth

FSH	Follicle Stimulating Hormone
FWE	Follicular Wave Emergence
GH	Growth Hormone
GnRH	Gonadotrophin Releasing Hormone
GCTA	Genome-wide Complex Trait Analysis
GWAS	Genome-wide Association Study
HD	High Density
IDE	Inseminated at Detected Estrus
IGF-1	Insulin like Growing Factor-1
IL	Interleukin
LH	Luteinizing Hormone
LPI	Lifetime Profit Index
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
MAF	Minor Allele Frequency
ME	Mature-Equivalent
NEB	Negative Energy Balance
NEFA	Non-Esterified Fatty Acids
NRC	National Research Council
PAG	Pregnancy Associated Glycoprotein
PLOSS	Pregnancy Loss following first Artificial Insemination
P/AI	Pregnancy to first Artificial Insemination
P150	Pregnancy by 150 days postpartum
P250	Pregnancy by 250 days postpartum

P4	Progesterone
PGF2a	Prostaglandin F2α
QTL	Quantitative Trait Loci
r	Pearson Correlation of Coefficient
R <sup>2</sup>	Coefficient of Determination
RDP	Rumen Degradable Protein
RFM	Retained Fetal Membranes
ROC	Receiver Operating Characteristics
RUP	Rumen Undegradable Protein
SEM	Standard Error of Mean
SD	Standard Deviation
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor-α
US	Transrectal Ultrasonography

### **Chapter 1. General introduction**

Dairy farming plays a pivotal role in global agricultural production. According to the United Nations, the human population is estimated to increase from 7.6 billion in 2018 to 9.8 billion by 2050. The increase in human population means increasing demand for food commodities including milk and other dairy products. Milk production per cow has increased over the last six decades in order to meet the demand of increasing human population, and according to the Council on Dairy Cattle Breeding (https://www.uscdcb.com) more than half of that increase in production was attained through intense genetic selection for milk production. Dairy cows need to conceive and calve at desired calving interval to ensure the initiation of each new lactation cycle, thereby maintaining a longer herd life. Despite increasing milk production, fertility of dairy cows has been on a declining trend worldwide (Macmillan et al, 1996; Butler, 1998; Jorritsma and Jorritsma 2000; Roche et al., 2000; Royal et al., 2000; Bousquet et al. 2004) except for Nordic countries where fertility traits have been included in the national breeding program along with production and health related traits since 1972 (Berglund, 2008). Even though the decrease in dairy cow fertility is multifactorial, the genetic antagonism between milk production and fertility (Jason and Andreasson, 1981; Dematawewa and Berger, 1998; Hansen, 2000; Roxstorm et al., 2001; Kadri et al., 2014), and the exclusion of fertility traits from national selection indices, at least in part, may have contributed to the decline in fertility (Berglund, 2008).

In order to improve reproductive efficiency, along with implementation of better nutritional, postpartum health and reproductive management strategies, traditional fertility traits were also introduced in mid-2000's into genetic selection programs in several countries such as Canada, Ireland and the USA. Even though the incorporation of traditional fertility traits such as daughter pregnancy rate in the USA has halted further decline in fertility among Holstein dairy cows (Garcia-Ruiz et al., 2016), the rate of genetic gain is slow due to low heritability, and fertility is still sub-optimal in the North American dairy industry. Phenotypic performance could evolve faster within few generations if the trait had high heritability. Therefore, identification of novel and physiologically important traits that are least-influenced by management and highly-related to reproductive performance is desirable for genetic selection (Chebel and Ribeiro 2016).

A reproductive trait that can be easily measured, less expensive, and has high variability, repeatability, heritability and association with fertility would be an ideal candidate trait for genetic selection to augment fertility in dairy cows. In addition, identification of genetic markers (single nucleotide polymorphisms; SNP) associated with phenotypic variations in the trait that are strongly associated with fertility would enable the incorporation of those SNP within genomic evaluations to accurately identify females with desired phenotypic performance to enhance fertility. In the context of novel reproductive traits, I aimed to study the aforesaid characteristics for gonadotropin releasing hormone induced luteinizing hormone (GnRH-induced LH) response, antral follicle count (AFC), circulating concentrations of anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and ano-genital distance (AGD) in dairy cows.

The primary objectives of this thesis research were to characterize the distribution and variation, determine repeatability, estimate heritability, and test the association with fertility outcomes for the aforesaid five novel reproductive traits in dairy cows. The secondary objective was to identify genetic markers (SNP) associated with variations of three of these novel reproductive phenotypes (AMH, IGF-1, and AGD) through genome-wide association analysis, and to evaluate their functional relevance to fertility in dairy cows.

#### **Chapter 2. Review of literature**

### 2.1. Overview of the dairy industry

Dairy farming plays a pivotal role in the global food system. For example, an estimated 800 million tonnes of milk was produced in 2015, of which 680 million tonnes was cow milk produced from 260 million cows across the world (International Dairy Federation, 2016). In Canada, dairy is one of the top two agricultural sectors in seven out of ten provinces, and has about 0.9 million cows mainly managed under confinement systems in 11,683 dairy farms, 444 processing plants, 221,000 jobs and contributes approximately \$ 20 billion a year to Canada's gross domestic product, with an annual milk production of 8.2 billion litres (Dairy Farmers of Canada, 2016) Whereas in Ireland, dairy is the biggest agricultural sector with 1.4 million cows, managed mainly under the pasture-based seasonal calving system in 18,000 dairy farms, and produce about 6.6 billion litres of milk per annum (Irish Farmers Association, 2016).

An increasing demand for dairy milk is currently evident as a result of rising human population. For example, annual consumption of dairy products (fresh milk equivalent basis) currently averages about 111.1 kg per person (International Dairy Federation, 2016) and is expected to increase to 119 kg per person by 2067 (Alexandratos and Bruinsma, 2012). The continued increment in milk production is attained through intense genetic selection for milk production alongside major improvements in the management of herd, nutrition, health, and reproductive practices (Lucy, 2001). The efficient way of dairy farming, however, is not only to meet the demand of growing human population by producing more milk, but also to secure both sustainability and profitability. In order to achieve these, dairy cows need to be fertile and have increased longevity.

#### 2.2. Fertility of dairy cows

High milk production and optimum fertility and are vital parameters that determine profitability of dairy farms (Pryce et al. 2004; Ribeiro et al., 2012a; Galvao et al. 2013; Gobikrushanth et al., 2014). The rate of phenotypic gain in milk production per cow per year has been 193 kg for the United States, 131 kg for the Netherlands, 35 kg for New Zealand and 46 kg for Ireland between 1985 and 2003 (Dillon et al., 2006). For example, the average milk yield has nearly doubled from 6,619 to 12,662 kg in the 50 years from 1963 to 2013 in the US, and over 56% of that increase can be attributed to genetic changes (Council on Dairy Cattle Breeding, 2016). Despite the tremendous increase in milk production potential, fertility of dairy cows was on a declining trend, at least until the mid-2000's (Macmillan et al., 1996; Butler, 1998; Jorritsma and Jorritsma 2000; Roche, 2000; Royal et al., 2000; Bousquet et al. 2004). For example, Butler (1998) reported that conception rate declined from approximately 66 to 40% between 1951 and 1996, in US Holstein dairy cows. The decrease in fertility is multifactorial and attributable to intense genetic selection for milk production, inadequate dry matter intake, poor reproductive management and increased incidence of postpartum diseases (Lucy 2001).

It has been identified that modern dairy cows are experiencing greater incidence of anestrus and abnormal estrous cycles (de Vries and Veerkamp, 2000), lower circulating concentrations of progesterone and estradiol due to increased metabolic clearance rate associated with higher dry matter intake (Wiltbank et al., 2000; Sangsritavong et al., 2002), shorter duration and lesser intensity of estrus (Lopez et al., 2004), reduced conceptions rates (Butler, 1998), increased proportion of pregnancy losses (Diskin et al., 2016), and higher incidence of multiple ovulations and twinning (Fricke and Wiltbank, 1999; Wiltbank et al., 2006; Macmillan et al., 2018), and thereby longer intervals from calving to conception, and between consecutive calvings. All of the aforementioned physiological defects contribute to an overall inefficiency of reproduction and thereby greater involuntary culling in dairy herds.

The impaired reproductive efficiency has hampered the profitability of dairy farms because reproductive inefficiency is the number one reason to cull dairy cows in Canada. Approximately, 25% of dairy cows are culled annually in Western Canada due to reproductive problems that is followed by 17, 14, and 11 % of culling due to mastitis, low milk production, and feet and leg problems, respectively (CanWest Dairy Herd Improvement, 2017). The total loss due to reproductive failure equates to about 2% of the gross production value or 10% of an average dairy farmer's income (Dijkhuizen et al., 1984). Based on information collected from United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) National Animal Health Reporting System, Bellows et al. (2002) reported the estimated costs of infertility to be \$ 137 million per year for the US dairy industry, attributable to culling, replacement, labour, drugs, and veterinary costs. Consequently, one of the greatest challenges of reproductive biologists, nutritionists and geneticists is to gain an understanding of the underlying biology of the dairy cow that contributes to low fertility and develop strategies to improve fertility (Walsh et al., 2011).

### 2.3. Strategies to enhance fertility of dairy cows

#### 2.3.1. Nutrition

Nutrition plays a key role in regulation of reproduction in dairy cows as well in other domestic animals. The effect of inadequate nutrition has shown to delay puberty (Kinder et al., 1987), prolong postpartum anovulatory period (Rhodes et al., 2003), reduce body condition score (Roche et al., 2009), and finally result in poor overall fertility outcomes (Buckley et al., 2013). In

the recent past, multiple reports have summarized the importance of different metabolites during early postpartum on subsequent fertility of dairy cows (Santos et al., 2008; Butler, 2014; Crowe et al., 2018; Salo, 2018).

The blood concentration of glucose is one of the key metabolites that controls reproductive function through its capacity to orchestrate changes in endocrine hormones such as insulin and insulin like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (Lucy, 2008). Glucose causes release of insulin from pancreas and insulin partitions nutrients towards muscle and adipose tissue. Insulin stimulates the liver to release IGF-1 into circulation through upregulation of growth hormone (GH) receptors in liver (Butler et al., 2003). Insulin stimulates mitosis of cultured bovine granulosa and luteal cells, and thereby production of steroid hormones in-vitro (Gutierrez et al., 1997; Mamluk et al., 1999, respectively). In addition, insulin has been shown to increase steroidogenesis in response to gonadotropins in both in-vitro and in-vivo studies (Stewart et al., 1995; Butler et al., 2003). Cows with lower circulating insulin concentrations during early postpartum period reportedly suffer from delayed resumption of postpartum ovarian activity and normal ovarian cyclicity, and are at higher risk for cystic ovarian disease compared to cows with higher circulating insulin concentration (Vanholder et al., 2005). Later studies by Garnsworthy et al. (2008) demonstrated that maintaining adequate insulin-to-glucagon ratio in dairy cows at the start of the breeding period with a dietary starch concentration above 160 g/kg of dry matter and dietary fat below 44 g/kg of dry matter, had positive effects on ovarian function.

Acting synergistically with gonadotropins (Lucy et al., 1992; Spicer et al., 1993; Beam and Butler 1999) IGF-1exerts its endocrine effects on follicular growth, granulosa cell mitogenesis, granulosa and theca cell steroid production, and reproductive tract and endometrial gland secretions to support embryonic growth (Wathes et al., 1997; Robinson et al. 2000; Zulu et al. 2002; Pushpakumara et al., 2002; Fenwick et al., 2008). During the early postpartum period, cows are in a state of negative energy balance (NEB) due to high milk yield and low dry matter intake (Butler and Smith 1989), when the GH-IGF-1 axis is uncoupled due to down regulation of GHreceptors in liver (McGuire et al., 1995; Kobayashi et al., 1999). This in turn is associated with decreased IGF-1 and increased GH concentrations to promote the action of GH on lipolysis and gluconeogenesis to favor milk production (Lucy et al., 2001). As a result, reproductive functions were shown to be reduced in cows having low circulating IGF-1 than those having high circulating IGF-1 at early postpartum (Taylor et al., 2004; Patton et al., 2007; Green et al., 2012; Cummins et al., 2012a; Cardoso et al., 2013; Moore et al., 2014a; Macmillan et al., 2018). Therefore, feeding glucogenic diets to cows during the early postpartum period, to counteract the mechanisms related to NEB, were proposed (Gong et al., 2002) for greater fertility through increased glucose concentration in blood and thereby greater circulating insulin and IGF-1. It is noteworthy, however, high concentration of circulating insulin has detrimental effects on oocyte and embryo competence (Fouladi-Nashta et al., 2005), and stimulate enzymatic catabolism of progesterone in the liver (Lemley et al., 2008). Therefore, glucogenic diets may be of advantage when offered in the immediate postpartum period, while they should be avoided when cows are inseminated.

Since inadequate energy intake during early postpartum period results in NEB in dairy cows, feeding fat supplemented diets has become a strategy, to mitigate NEB during the transition to lactation (Curtis et al., 1985). Staples et al. (1998), however, suggested that positive effects of dietary fat on fertility of dairy cows are probably not only a result of improved energy status but also because dietary fats could affect the pituitary, ovarian and uterine function to enhance fertility. For example, cows fed diets supplemented with fat shown improved follicular growth, increased total number of follicles and the size of preovulatory follicle (Lucy et al., 1991; Lucy et al., 1993; Beam and Butler 1997) probably through greater concentration of circulating LH (Palmquist and Weiss. 1994) compared to cows that fed a controlled diet. However, recent studies indicated that the type of fat has more selective effect on fertility than fat supplementation *per se* (Leroy et al., 2005; Ambrose et al., 2006; Petit and Twagiramungu 2006; Thangavelu et al., 2007; Santos et al., 2008; Colazo et al., 2009a; Hutchinson et al., 2012). In this regard, omega-6 fatty acids are believed to have pro-inflammatory, thus PGF-stimulating properties, rendering them of extra value during early postpartum. Whereas, omega-3 fatty acids can weaken this inflammatory potency, leading to a higher chance of survival of the embryo when supplemented during the breeding period through increasing CL lifespan and thereby maintenance of greater circulating progesterone concentration (Silvestre et al., 2011). A recent meta-analysis reported that including fats in the transition diet increases the pregnancy to first service by 27% in dairy cattle (Rodney et al., 2015). However, research results rarely provide a consensus on this topic, making fat-feeding strategies on oocyte and embryo quality an intriguing issue for debate (Crowe et al., 2018).

High protein diets are frequently fed to dairy cows to increase milk production. Several studies, however, have reported that increasing the percentage of crude protein in the diet could result in reduced fertility (Canfield et al., 1990; Elrod and Butler 1993; Rajala-Schultz et al., 2001; Thatcher et al., 2001; Tamminga, 2006). For example, feeding excess rumen degradable protein **(RDP)** has shown to delay the first ovulation or estrus, reduce the conception rate to first insemination, increase the number of days open and lower the overall conception rate in dairy cows (Tamminga, 2006). This decrease in fertility may result from (1) exacerbated NEB as the urea detoxification process in liver consumes additional energy (Westwood et al., 2000; Leroy et al., 2008), and (2) the deleterious effects of both ammonia and urea on both oocyte and embryo development (Chapa et al., 2001; Ocon and Hansen 2003; Rhoads et al., 2006). On the other hand,

feeding higher level of rumen undegradable protein (**RUP**) have shown to shorten the days to first estrus and calving-to-postpartum mating interval, and reduce services per conception in beef and dairy cows (Waterman et al., 2006; Aboozar et al., 2012; Rochijan et al., 2016). An increase in RUP may increase the supply of amino acid for intestinal absorption, which may improve the glucogenic potential of the supplement (Waterman et al., 2006) or contribute an essential AA such as methionine, which can improve ovarian function (Alonso et al., 2008). In this regard, others also reported that supplementation of rumen bypass methionine can improve reproductive performance of dairy cows (Ardalan et al., 2010; Titi et al., 2013). Furthermore, excess RUP has shown to stimulate the pancreas to increase insulin production (Sletmoen-Olson et al., 2000). Insulin affects ovarian tissues by enhancing LH receptor synthesis and actions of the pituitary through these receptors, and Kane et al. (2002) suggested that undegraded protein improves reproduction by mediating the synthesis of both LH and FSH.

Dietary protein is the one of the most important factors that determines milk nitrogen efficiency, urinary nitrogen losses, and consequently, ammonia emissions from dairy cow manure (Hristov and Giallongo 2014). Therefore, excessive supplementation of dietary protein above the requirements of cow might increase excretion of nitrogen in feces and urine (Weiss et al., 2009). This excreted nitrogen can cause environmental pollution in the forms of ammonia (Aneja et al., 2008) as the urea excreted in the urine immediately gets converted to ammonia by urease enzymes produced by the microorganisms present in feces and soil (Wright et al., 1998; Varel et al., 1999). Therefore, optimizing protein content of diets and synchronization of protein with energy is the best strategy to avoid ammonia pollution and reproductive problem in dairy cows (Salo, 2018).

#### 2.3.2. Postpartum health

A healthy postpartum period of the dairy cow determines productive and reproductive responses during lactation and is therefore, a pivotal time in the production cycle of the cow. It is well known that impaired postpartum health has a detrimental effect on subsequent fertility of dairy cows. LeBlanc et al. (2006) reported that approximately 75% of postpartum diseases occur within the first month of lactation and Ribeiro et al. (2013) reported that 30% of dairy cows have at least one type of clinical disease within the first 21 d postpartum, and they represent 60 to 80% of all clinical cases occurring in lactating dairy cows. Some of the most commonly occurring postpartum disorders in dairy cows are calving related problems (14.6%), metritis (16.1%), clinical endometritis (20.8%), fever (21.0%), mastitis (12.2%), ketosis (10.4%), lameness (6.8%), digestive problem (2.8%) and pneumonia (2.0%) based on data from 5,719 cows across seven dairy herds in the US (Santos et al., 2010a). A recent study from our research group reported that the incidence of postpartum disorders was 7, 15, 9, 18, 1, 9, and 27% for retained fetal membranes (RFM), metritis, milk fever, ketosis, displaced abomasum, fatty liver and mastitis, respectively, within 60 d postpartum based on data from 1096 cows in 11 dairy herds in Alberta (Colazo et al., 2017). Despite no impact on overall milk production (e.g. 305-d milk yield), cows diagnosed with health problems had delayed ovarian cyclicity within 60 d postpartum, reduced pregnancy to first artificial insemination (P/AI) and increased risk for pregnancy loss within first 60 d of gestation (Santos et al., 2010). Interestingly, Colazo et al. (2017) reported that cows with postpartum disorders had lowered milk yield (overall average of -290 kg) by 90 d in milk (DIM) compared to healthy cows. Thus, the effect of postpartum disorders is not only limited to fertility of dairy cows but also on milk production and thereby overall profitability of dairy farms (Liang 2013).

Retained fetal membranes, metritis and endometritis are considered uterine diseases, whereas, ketosis, milk fever, displaced abomasum, and fatty liver are considered metabolic diseases. Often, the placenta is expelled within 6h after parturition in dairy cows, but if it is not expelled up to 24h, it is considered as RFM (Sheldon et al., 2008). Even though the mechanisms behind RFM are not clear, abortion, dystocia, twin births, and immunological deficits in the expression of major histocompatibility complex molecules are considered as risk factors for RFM in dairy cows (Joosten et al., 1991). Retention of fetal membranes often leads to ascending uterine infection which in turn becomes a predisposing factor for uterine diseases such as metritis and endometritis. Uterine diseases and its physiological effects on subsequent fertility have been previously reviewed (Sheldon et al., 2006 and 2008). Several studies over the last two decades have clearly shown the negative relationship between uterine diseases and fertility in dairy cows (Opsomer et al., 2000; McDougall, 2001; LeBlanc et al., 2002; Kasimanickam et al., 2004; Gilbert et al., 2005; Galvao et al., 2009; Santos et al., 2010a; Dourey et al., 2011; Ribeiro et al., 2012b; Gobikrushanth et al., 2016). It has been reported that uterine infections during the early postpartum period perturb dominant follicle growth and normal corpus luteum (CL) function (Sheldon et al., 2002; Williams et al., 2007) despite having no effect on first postpartum follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) rise and the follicular wave emergence (Sheldon et al., 2002). Indeed, Savio et al., (1990) and Beam and Butler (1997) reported that the first postpartum dominant follicle is selected 10 to 12 d after calving in dairy cows irrespective of periparturient diseases or dietary deficiencies. Peter et al. (1989) reported that either intrauterine or intravenous infusion of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) blunted the estradiol-induced preovulatory LH surge and prevented ovulation in all treated dairy heifers. Indeed, LPS or various intermediary cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 or tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  were shown to block GnRH secretion and the pituitary responsiveness to

GnRH pulses (Rivest et al., 1993; Battaglia et al., 2000; Williams et al., 2007). In summary, (1) RFM and uterine diseases are more common following parturition in dairy cattle and have detrimental effects on fertility, (2) microbial uterine infections stimulate a robust immune response disrupting normal reproductive physiology, and (3) increasing our knowledge about the interaction between the environment, uterine infection, immunity, and reproductive physiology is expected to improve prevention and treatment strategies for uterine diseases, thereby reducing infertility in dairy cows (Sheldon et al., 2008).

One of the consequences of having infectious and metabolic disease during early postpartum is that cows have reduced appetite and frequently lose body weight. Nutrient intake is the major driver of energy balance, and energy balance is associated with fertility in dairy cows as discussed previously (Butler, 2003). In fact, cows that lost more body condition (by > 0.5 units) had lower pregnancy rate compared to those lost less ( $\leq 0.5$  units), maintain or gain body condition during early postpartum (Roche et al., 2007; Ribeiro et al., 2013; Chebel et al., 2018; Gobikrushanth et al., 2018b). Of note, we have recently reported that the optimum BCS at calving should be managed at 3.25 for primiparous cows and 3.0 for multiparous cows to promote BCS maintenance or allow only a moderate BCS loss to improve fertility without sacrificing milk yield (Gobikrushanth et al., 2018b).

In summary, events related to calving and the transition from late gestation to early lactation, such as dystocia and uterine diseases (McDougall, 2001; Sheldon et al., 2009), peripartum immune dysfunction (Kehrli et al., 1989; Hammon et al., 2006), endocrine and metabolic changes (Bauman and Currie, 1980), reductions in dry matter intake and nutrient imbalance (Drackley, 1999), and contaminated environment (LeBlanc et al., 2006), are major risk factors leading to the occurrence of health problems during early postpartum. Therefore, good
peripartum management including, but not limited to dry period, optimum BCS at calving, better calving management practices, cleanliness of the environment especially the calving pen, enhanced feed intake following calving to optimize immune function and minimize the severity of NEB, and early and accurate diagnosis and treatment of both infectious and metabolic diseases are critical factors to avoid infertility, thereby increasing the profitability of dairy farms.

## 2.3.3. Reproductive management tools and technologies

Reproductive management tools and technologies have been developed to identify cows in estrus and inseminate at optimal time, synchronize ovulation to facilitate fixed timed insemination without a need for estrus detection, and determine pregnancy at the earliest possible time to reinseminate non-pregnant cows to enhance reproductive efficiency of dairy herds.

The detection of behavioural estrus continues to play a key role in the overall management of reproduction in both confinement and pasture-based dairy herds. However, detection of estrus remains a challenge in dairy herds. For example, the duration of estrus is reduced from 15 hours about four decades ago (Esslemont and Bryant, 1976) to 7 to 10 hours in the modern dairy cows (Lopez et al., 2004; Madureira et al., 2015). In a recent review, Fricke et al. (2014) clearly laid out the challenges of estrus detection in dairy farms as: greater proportion of cows with anovular conditions (Wiltbank et al., 2002); attenuation of the estrus behavior associated with increased milk production near the time of estrus resulting in shorter periods of estrus behavior (Lopez et al., 2004); few cows expressing standing estrus at any given time (Roelofs et al., 2005; Palmer et al., 2010); silent ovulations (Palmer et al., 2010; Ranasinghe et al., 2010; Valenza et al., 2012); and reduced expression of estrus owing to confinement housing systems (Palmer et al., 2010) with concrete flooring (Britt et al., 1986).

## 2.3.3.1. Technologies to improve estrus detection efficiency

The traditional way of estrus detection is through visual observation for 20 to 30 min, three to four times per day at equal intervals; however, this method is time consuming, labour intensive and could be ineffective, especially in larger dairy herds. In addition, economic cost analysis of improving the estrus detection rate by 20 to 30%, and assuming a 50% AI conception rate, resulted in an estimated annual benefit of \$83 per cow (Pecsok et al., 1994). Thus, tools were developed to identify cows that exhibit characteristic primary estrus behaviour of standing to be mounted using pressure sensors such as scratch cards (e.g. Estrotect, USA), colour ampoules (e.g. Kamar, USA), and tail chalk or painting. However, there has been a considerable advancement in detection of estrus during the last decade including the introduction of activity monitors to measure secondary signs of estrus such as increased physical activity (Valenza et al., 2012).

Activity monitoring systems typically consist of three major components namely, (1) an activity tag containing pedometer or accelerometer attached to the leg, ear, or a collar on the cow's neck, (2) an antenna to receive data, and (3) a computer with software that allows the dairy farmer to enter information to the system and view activity data outputs. Senger (1994) suggested that the ideal electronic system to detect estrus would (1) provide for continuous surveillance and accurate identification of individual cows; (2) require minimal labour; and (3) accurately predict the timing of ovulation so that cows are inseminated at the appropriate time in relation to ovulation. Even though the activity monitoring systems clearly fulfill the first two requirements, the positive predictive values (proportion of positive that is true positive) were estimated to be 70, 84, and 90% with the use of Afitag (Afimilk, Kibbutz Afikim, Israel), Heatime-RuminAct (SCR Engineers, Netanya, Israel) or HeatPhone (Medria Solutions, Châteaubourg, France), and Heatime (SCR Engineers, Netanya, Israel), respectively, in dairy cows (Chanvallon et al., 2014; Madureira et al.,

2015). It is obvious that any estrus detection system will only detect cows that display estrus, and cows that do not display estrus (e.g. cows in anestrus) will go undetected, emphasizing the need for the refinement of existing technologies or development of new technologies.

The more recent technology of real-time in-line milk progesterone determination through a biochemical sensor, allows to identify cows in estrus and inseminate at optimal time (Herd Navigator<sup>™</sup>, DeLaval International, Tumba, Sweden). As progesterone is the key hormone that regulates reproductive cycles, frequent monitoring of in-line concentrations of progesterone in milk provides real-time physiological information of reproductive functions that not only predict the timing of AI but also cyclicity status during early postpartum and pregnancy after inseminations for each cow in the herd (Friggens et al., 2008; Saint-Dizier and Chastant-Maillard, 2012; Mottram, 2015; Yu and Maeda, 2017). Of note, recent studies from our laboratory have utilized these in-line milk progesterone data to characterize ovarian activity parameters and associated those with fertility outcomes in dairy cows (Bruinjé et al., 2017a,b). However, the acquiring of in-line milk progesterone system is expensive and is currently limited to only herds that have DeLaval milking system. It would be of more benefit if it is readily adaptable to automated milking systems such as robotic milking system in future.

#### 2.3.3.2. Ovulation synchronization and timed-AI

Timed-AI protocols that are not dependent on estrus detection have been developed concurrently to accelerate the submission rates and thereby pregnancy rates in dairy herds to overcome the issues of poor estrus expression in modern dairy cows as well as to avoid increased labour cost associated with visual estrus detection. The development and applications of timed-AI protocols have been extensively reviewed (Ambrose et al., 2010; Bisinotto et al., 2014; Colazo et al., 2014; Wiltbank and Pursley 2014).

The ovulation synchronization protocol so called Ovsynch (D0: Gonadotropin-releasing hormone [GnRH], D7: Prostaglandin F2a [PGF2a], D9: GnRH and D10: timed-AI) was first reported in 1995 by Pursley et al. The first GnRH is administered at random stage of the estrous cycle to induce ovulation in cows with functional dominant follicle and the initiation of synchronized follicular wave, PGF is to induce luteolysis, and the second GnRH at 48 h after PGF is to cause synchronized ovulation in order to inseminate all cows on a predicted time, such as at 16 h after the second GnRH of the Ovsynch. Later, it was shown that pregnancy to first AI was positively associated to ovulatory response to the first GnRH of the Ovsynch (Vasconcelos et al., 1999). Only 50 to 60% cows ovulate to the first GnRH of Ovsynch when administered during random stages of the estrous cycle (Bisinotto and Santos 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2012c) and only 68% cows were identified as fully synchronized at the end of the Ovsynch (Colazo et al., 2014); indicating the necessity of presynchronization prior to application of the Ovsynch. The most commonly used and adapted presynchronization methods are: (I) administration of two PGF injections 14 d apart with the second PGF given either 12 or 11 d prior to the initiation of Ovsynch (Presynch-Ovsynch protocol: Moreira et al., 2001; El-Zarkouny 2004; Galvao et al., 2007); (II) administration of PGF and GnRH injections 2 d apart, and the Ovsynch protocol started 6 or 7 d later (G6G protocol: Bello et al., 2006; Ribeiro et al., 2011); and (III) application of two Ovsynch protocols at 7 d interval (Double-Ovsynch: Souza et al., 2008; Herlihy et al., 2012). The major limitation of presynchronization only with PGF, is its ineffectiveness in anovular cows (Walsh et al., 2007; Santos et al., 2009); thus GnRH was included into presynchronization along with PGF injections. Overall, the application of any of the aforementioned presynchronization methods were

shown to result in greater P/AI compared to Ovsynch alone (Moreira et al., 2001; El-Zarkouny 2004; Bello et al., 2006; Ribeiro et al., 2011; Herlihy et al., 2012).

Despite presynchronization, 30% of cows lack a CL at initiation of Ovsynch and this 30% was encompassed of anovular cows and cyclic cows at proestrus, estrus or metestrus stages of their estrous cycle (Bisinotto et al., 2013). It is crucial to have an active CL at the initiation of Ovsynch to maintain a relatively high concentration of progesterone which is essential to avoid follicle aging and precocious maturation of oocyte, which may reduce P/AI and increase pregnancy losses in dairy cows (Savio et al., 1993; Revah et al., 1996; Sartori et al., 2002; Wiltbank et al., 2006). In this regard, later studies have shown that the presence of high P4 during the pre-ovulatory follicular growth is associated with lower LH pulses, greater concentration of follicular IGF-1, improved luteolytic responses, good embryo quality (Cerri et al., 2009; 2011a; 2011b) and thereby better fertility. In addition to missing a CL at initiation of Ovsynch, modern dairy cows even with a CL were known to have low circulating concentration of progesterone due to increased hepatic metabolism of steroid hormones associated with high dry matter intake and milk yield (Sangsritavong et al., 2002). As a result, protocols have been developed to supplement exogenous progesterone such as the use of controlled intravaginal drug release (CIDR) devices during the growth phase of dominant follicle between first GnRH and PGF within timed-AI programs (Lima et al., 2009; Denicol et al., 2012; Bisinotto et al., 2013; Colazo et al., 2013). For instance, in a meta-analysis, the application of CIDR within timed-AI programs increased the proportion of cows pregnant at 60 d post-AI by ~18% compared to untreated control cows (34 vs 30%, respectively; Bisinotto et al., 2014). In addition to supplementing exogenous progesterone to support the growth of dominant follicle, recent studies were undertaken to increase the length of proestrus to achieve optimum ovulatory follicle at second GnRH of Ovsynch to increase P/AI and reduce pregnancy

loss following first AI (Bridges et al., 2008; Santos et al., 2010b; Ribeiro et al., 2011, 2012c, 2012d). However, there is still substantial need for further research to improve the synchronization efficacy, simplicity, and practical application of these protocols (Wiltbank and Pursley, 2014).

#### **2.3.3.3.** Early diagnosis of non-pregnancy

Early identification of non-pregnant cows following inseminations improves reproductive efficiency and pregnancy rate by decreasing the interval between AI services and increasing AI service rate in dairy cows. In a recent review, Crowe et al. (2018) has summarized the methods of pregnancy detection in dairy cows using direct and indirect methods. Transrectal palpation (Cowie, 1948; Wisnicky and Cassida, 1948) and ultrasound scanning (Griffin and Ginther 1992) of the reproductive tract are the most widely used direct methods of pregnancy determination in the dairy industry. While transrectal palpation of the conceptus is possible from about 5 wk post-insemination, ultrasound scan facilitates the diagnosis of pregnancy at 28 d post-insemination or earlier (Curran et al., 1986; Kastelic et al., 1989). Even pregnancy diagnosis by 28 d post-insemination is considered too late to allow rebreeding of non-pregnant cows at the optimal time (e.g. 18 to 24 d post-insemination) as the normal estrous cycle is typically 18 to 24 d long in dairy cows (Forde et al., 2011).

Indirect methods for early pregnancy diagnosis use qualitative or quantitative measures of hormones or conceptus-specific substances in maternal body fluids as indirect indicators of the presence of a viable pregnancy (Crowe et al., 2018). The determination of progesterone concentration in milk (Nebel, 1988) and either circulating or milk concentrations of pregnancy associated glycoprotein (PAG) (Green et al., 2005) are indirect methods of pregnancy diagnosis in dairy cows. However, the accuracy of milk progesterone as a true pregnancy indicator is poor

due to non-pregnant cows with extended luteal phase, persisting CL, and those who have undergone early embryonic losses but continue to have greater circulating concentrations of progesterone (Crowe et al., 2018), as they will be flagged as pregnant for the test. In addition, Green et al., (2005) reported that PAG based pregnancy detection could result in a false positive diagnosis if it is measured too early after parturition as circulating PAG from the previous pregnancy can be detected in the maternal blood up to 6 wk postpartum. In this regard, Fricke et al. (2016) recently described that an ideal early pregnancy method should (1) have high diagnostic values, (2) be simple and less expensive, and (3) determine pregnancy status in real time by being a cow-side test to increase the accuracy of pregnancy detection and thereby facilitate rebreeding at the earliest possible to improve reproductive efficiency of dairy cows. Therefore, further improvements and refinements in these systems are required to increase the accuracy while keeping the cost of the test affordable.

# 2.3.4. Genetic selection for fertility traits

# 2.3.4.1. Milk production and fertility

Even though a wide variety of physiological and managerial factors contribute to poor reproductive performance, there is some evidence that the unfavorable genetic correlation with milk production (Jason and Andreasson, 1981; Macmillan et al., 1996; Dematawewa and Berger, 1998; Hansen, 2000; Roxstorm et al., 2001; Kadri et al., 2014) has led to a decline in reproduction in dairy cattle, at least in part due to reduced emphasis placed on fertility traits when selecting for higher milk production (Lucy 2001; Berglund, 2008). It is well known that Nordic countries are the only ones that have included fertility traits along with production and health related traits in their national breeding program since 1972, while the rest of the world primarily focused on

selecting for higher milk yield and conformational traits until up to mid-2000's (Berglund, 2008). As a consequence, the fertility of Nordic Red dairy cows has not been on a declining trend as observed for North American Holsteins. Interestingly, in a recent study, Kadri et al. (2014) showed that a section of bovine genome that simultaneously contributes to higher level of milk production and lower levels of fertility is missing only in few Nordic Red dairy cattle and present in a majority of animals. Consequently, genetic selection programs around the world have been broadened to include traditional fertility traits into national selection indices and focused on a multi-traits-based balanced selection over the last decade (Miglior, 2005).

It must be noted, however, that high milk production *per se* is not detrimental to fertility of dairy cows (LeBlanc, 2010). Several studies from Dr. Stephen Butler's research group (Cummins et al., 2012a, b; Moore et al., 2014a, b) have also demonstrated this by comparing Holstein Friesian cows with similar Holstein genetics (> 75%) and similar genetic merit for milk production (estimated breeding value **[EBV]** for milk yield between +200 to +900 kg), but either good (Fert+) or poor (Fert-) genetic merit for fertility (based on EBV for calving interval) managed under pasture based seasonal-calving system in Ireland. Overall, Fert+ cows had greater dry matter intake, BCS, better metabolic status, earlier resumption of cyclicity, superior uterine health during early postpartum and stronger estrus expression, less silent heats, less ovulation failure, greater luteal phase progesterone concentrations and high IGF-1 concentration at breeding period than Fert- cows, despite having similar genetic merit for milk production. These results suggest that the selection for fertility is possible without adversely affecting milk production.

# 2.3.4.2. Selection indices in North-America and Ireland

In Canada, daughter fertility sub index was introduced to the Lifetime Performance Index

(LPI) in 2007. Currently, LPI includes three sub-indexes (relative emphasis for Holstein breed are placed within parenthesis): production (40%), durability (40%) and health and fertility (20%), where the relative emphasis placed on the specific traits linked to survival and fertility are herd life (8%) and daughter fertility (13.4%), accounting for a total emphasis of 21.4% in relation to fertility in the LPI (Canadian Dairy Network, 2018). In Ireland, the Irish national breeding program introduced a multi-trait selection index called the Economic Breeding Index (EBI) in 2001. Since its introduction, the EBI has evolved to include six sub-indices: milk production (32%), fertility (35%), calving performance (10%), beef carcass (8%), maintenance (7%), management (4%), and health (4%) (Irish Cattle Breeding Federation, 2017), where the fertility sub-index is comprised of 2 traits: survival (11.6%) and calving interval (23.5%), accounting for a total emphasis of 35.1% for fertility, in the EBI. In the USA, the Net Merit Dollars (NM\$) index included 3 sub-indices: production (43%), health (41%) and type traits (16%), where the relative emphasis placed on the specific traits within health sub-index linked to survival and fertility are cow livability (7%) and daughter pregnancy rate (7%), heifer conception rate (1%) and cow conception rate (2%), accounting for a total emphasis of 17% in relation to fertility in the NM\$ (Council of Dairy Cattle Breeding, 2017). Notably, the Irish dairy industry has placed almost three time more emphasis on fertility traits even a decade ago than the Canadian dairy industry (30 vs. 12%, 2007).

#### 2.3.4.3. Traditional fertility traits

Selecting for improved fertility by addition of fertility indices into the national selection indices as described above has not only halted nearly 40 years of a continuous decline in sire and dam EBV for fertility but also started to improve EBV gradually in the US dairy industry (Norman et al., 2009; Garcia-Ruiz et al. 2016). The rate of gain in EBV for traditional fertility traits (e.g.

days open, calving interval and number of services), however, has been slow due to their low heritability (Berry et al., 2014). Therefore, a conventional method of genetic selection is limited in its ability to improve the genetic progress (Berry et al. 2014; Chebel and Ribeiro 2016). In a recent meta-analysis of genetic parameters for female reproductive performance across 55 dairy studies reported that the heritability estimates were 0.02 for first service conception rate and number of services, 0.03 for calving interval, 0.04 for days open, and 0.05 for interval from calving to first service in dairy cows and 0.13 and 0.17 for age at first service and age at first calving, respectively, for dairy heifers (Berry et al., 2014). The low heritability of traditional reproductive traits may be due to the influence of a multitude of cow and managerial factors. For example, daughter pregnancy rate (DPR; heritability of 0.04) is the speed at which animals become pregnant, assuming a 60-day voluntary waiting period. However, DPR is highly affected by the actual voluntary waiting period adopted on-farm and use of fixed-time AI or natural services (Chebel and Ribeiro 2016). Despite low heritability, traditional fertility traits are still being included into the selection indices because the effect of additive genetic variation was shown to be substantial (Janson, 1980). While the inclusion of traditional fertility traits such as DPR in the USA to genetic selection played a pivotal role in halting further fertility decline to a certain extent (Garcia-Ruiz et al. 2016), it could not completely reverse the poor reproductive efficiency. Therefore, identification of novel and physiologically relevant fertility traits that are affected less by management and highly related to reproductive performance, for genetic selection, is desirable, to supplement or replace currently available traditional fertility traits.

# 2.3.4.4. Novel reproductive phenotypes

A fertility trait that can be easily measured in a large number of cows with less cost and has high variability, repeatability, heritability and associations with fertility could be an ideal candidate trait for selection to augment fertility in dairy cows. In addition, genomic selection has revolutionized dairy cattle breeding during the last decade and has the potential to increase genetic gain considerably by reducing generation intervals and increasing selection intensity (Peñagaricano et al., 2017). Furthermore, as the cost of genotyping decreases, the number of animals with genomic evaluations is expected to increase. Therefore, if genetic markers (single nucleotide polymorphisms; **SNP**) for fertility traits are identified, molecular breeding values could be more accurately estimated for each trait, enabling efficient genomic selection throughout the dairy industry.

The evaluation of endocrine (Berry et al., 2012; Tenghe, 2017; Häggman et al., 2018) and estrus-related traits (Ismael et al., 2015) as potential fertility traits for selection is of recent interest. Berry et al. (2012) reported a heritability estimate of 0.13, and identified numerous SNP on *Bos taurus* autosomes (**BTA**) 2 and 20 for commencement of luteal activity (**C-LA**) in primiparous Holstein Friesian cows. In a series of studies, Tenghe (2017) showed that several defined endocrine fertility traits (e.g. C-LA, proportion of cows with luteal activity between 25 and 60 d in milk, and interval from commencement of luteal activity to first service) were: (1) heritable (0.12, 0.12, and 0.11, respectively) and reasonably repeatable (0.29, 0.21, 0.15, respectively), (2) poorly correlated with milk production traits (0.01 to 0.07), and (3) associated with 17 quantitative trait loci (**QTL**) on BTA 2, 3, 8, 12, 15, 17, 23, and 25, identified based on SNP using genome-wide association study (**GWAS**), in Holstein Friesian cows. More recently, Häggman et al. (2018) reported a

relatively greater heritability estimate of 0.19 and 0.33 for interval from calving to first estrus and C-LA, respectively, in Finnish Red dairy cattle. Ismael et al. (2015) studied the estrus-related traits derived from activity monitor and reported heritability estimates of 0.16 for interval from calving to first sign of high activity (i.e. somewhat similar to C-LA), 0.02 for estrus duration and 0.05 estrus strength. It is noteworthy that C-LA is generally based on frequent measuring of progesterone concentration from milk samples (Petersson et al., 2007), which is costly and logistically challenging to retrieve from a larger population of dairy cows. Nevertheless, endocrine traits such as luteinizing hormone (LH), anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), IGF-1, and other novel traits such as antral follicle count (AFC) need further investigation in dairy cows.

# 2.3.4.5. Knowledge gaps

Luteinizing hormone has an important role in reproductive function; therefore, selecting cows with greater capacity for LH secretion could be a strategy to improve fertility in dairy cows. Previous studies reported high variability and poor and non-significant repeatability estimates for GnRH-induced LH responses in ram and ewe lambs (Tyrrell et al., 1980) and beef cows (Fajersson et al., 1999). Of note, these studies (Tyrrell et al., 1980; Fajersson et al., 1999) had few animals (< 20) and the negative effect of circulating progesterone on LH responses was not accounted for prior to the evaluation of repeatability estimates. In addition, high heritability (0.44) and inconsistent associations between high LH concentrations and fecundity have been reported in ewes (Haley et al., 1989). Similar conceptual studies evaluating the variability, repeatability and association with fertility of GnRH-induced LH responses, especially under minimal influence of progesterone, have not been conducted in dairy cows.

High variability and repeatability for other novel reproductive phenotypes such as AFC and AMH have been previously reported in cattle based on samples collected on the day of follicular wave emergence in between subsequent waves of the same or consequent estrous cycles (Burns et al., 2005; Ireland et al., 2008). However, the repeatability of AFC and AMH between unknown (random stage) and known (e.g., day of follicular wave emergence) stages of follicular growth has not been established yet in dairy cows. It will be beneficial if these traits could be determined at any stage of follicular growth to facilitate a more convenient sampling without the need for synchronization of estrous cycle and measure on a specific day to test associations with reproductive outcomes.

Regardless of high variability and repeatability reported for circulating AMH concentration in dairy cows (Rico et al., 2009; Monniaux et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2014), the association with fertility outcomes remains unclear (Ribeiro et al., 2014; Baruselli et al., 2015; Jimenez-Krassel et al., 2015). If there is a positive association between circulating AMH and fertility in dairy cows, it would be beneficial to identify the optimum circulating AMH threshold predictive of P/AI in order to identify and selectively breed cows with high AMH to enhance fertility in dairy herds. In addition, genomic heritability for AMH and GWAS identifying SNP associated with phenotypic variation in circulating AMH are some novel aspects yet to be explored in dairy cows.

It has been well documented that circulating concentration of IGF-1 were highly variable, moderately heritable and positively associated with fertility in dairy cows (Velazquez et al., 2008). However, the sensitivity and specificity (diagnostic values) for optimum circulating IGF-1 threshold predictive of P/AI and SNP associated with phenotypic variation of circulating IGF-1 using GWAS remain to be explored in dairy cows. Identification of optimum circulating IGF-1 threshold predictive of P/AI may allow dairy farmers to manage low IGF-1 cows with enhanced nutritional strategies or even to delay the first service to improve P/AI. Furthermore, the identification of SNP associated with phenotypic variation in circulating IGF-1 concentration, and the subsequent incorporation of these SNP within genomic evaluations may help to accurately identify females with high circulating IGF-1 to enhance fertility in dairy cows through genomic selection.

Apart from the aforementioned four reproductive phenotypes, ano-genital distance (AGD) has never been characterized as a potential fertility trait in dairy cows. In general, AGD has been defined as the distance from the center of the anus to the clitoris in females (Sathyanarayana et al., 2010), and known to be positively related to the degree of in-utero androgen exposure (Langman, 1975; Bowman et al., 2003; Macleod et al., 2010; Dean at al., 2012). Interestingly, prenatal exposure to excess androgen in female fetuses were shown to be associated with poor postnatal fertility outcomes in both polytocous (pigs, rodents, rabbits,) and monotocous (human) species (Drickamer et al., 1997; Zehr et al., 2001; Banszegi et al., 2012; Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2017). Similar to humans, dairy cows are also a monotocous species, known for having varying maternal concentrations of testosterone and androstenedione during gestation (Gaiani et al., 1984). However, phenotypic characterization of AGD and its relationship to fertility in dairy cows has never been investigated before. In addition, estimation of heritability for AGD and identification of SNP associated with phenotypic variation of AGD would be beneficial if AGD holds potential as a fertility trait in dairy cows.

Chapter 3. Characterization of the variability and repeatability of gonadotropin releasing hormone-induced luteinizing hormone responses in dairy cows within a synchronized ovulation protocol

#### 3.1. Abstract

The primary objective was to determine the variability and repeatability of gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH)-induced luteinizing hormone (LH) responses. The secondary objective was to evaluate the associations among plasma LH, follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), estradiol (E2), and progesterone (P4) concentrations. One hundred lactating Holstein cows (35 primiparous, 65 multiparous) were initially subjected to a presynchronization protocol (d 0, PGF2a; d 3, GnRH)) followed 7 d later by Ovsynch (d 10, GnRH; d 17, PGF2a; 56 h later, GnRH)] and timed-AI 16 h after the last GnRH. Blood samples were collected immediately before the GnRH injection of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch to determine plasma concentrations of LH, FSH and P4. A second blood sample was collected 2 h after each of the above GnRH injections to determine GnRH-induced LH and FSH concentrations. Plasma concentrations of E2 were also determined in samples collected immediately before the second GnRH of Ovsynch. Cows that (1) had higher LH concentrations at 0 h than at 2 h after GnRH, (2) were indicative of an ongoing spontaneous LH surge, (3) did not respond to GnRH and (4) had P4  $\geq$  0.5 ng/mL at GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch were excluded from the analysis. The variability (coefficient of variation) and repeatability (between animal variance / [within animal variance + between animal variance]) of GnRH-induced LH response were determined from samples collected 2 h after the GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch. The associations among plasma LH, FSH, E2 and P4 were determined at the second GnRH of Ovsynch.

Mean ( $\pm$  SEM) LH concentrations (ng/mL) before GnRH were 0.5  $\pm$  0.04 and 0.6  $\pm$  0.03, while mean LH concentrations 2 h after GnRH were 9.8  $\pm$  1.0 and 12.1  $\pm$  0.8 at GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch, respectively. The variability of GnRH-induced LH was 76.1 and 52.1 % at GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch, respectively. The repeatability estimate for GnRH-induced LH concentration between GnRH of presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments was 0.10. Plasma concentrations of LH were positively associated with FSH and E2 (r = 0.61 and 0.30, respectively) and negatively associated with P4 (r = - 0.46) at the second GnRH of Ovsynch. In summary, GnRH-induced LH responses were highly variable and unrepeatable, and LH concentrations were positively associated with FSH and E2 and negatively associated with P4.

Key words: luteinizing hormone, variability, repeatability, progesterone

# 3.2. Background

A functional hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal-axis is essential for regulation of reproduction in both male and female mammals (Land, 1973). Gonadotropin releasing hormone **(GnRH)** is a decapeptide synthesized and released by GnRH neurons in the hypothalamus that induces the release of follicle stimulating hormone **(FSH)** and luteinizing hormone **(LH)** from the anterior pituitary gland through receptor-mediated mechanisms (Kaltenbach et al., 1974; Fink et al., 1988). Progesterone **(P4)** and estradiol **(E2)** regulate FSH and LH release through positive and negative feedback mechanisms that act on the hypothalamus, anterior pituitary or both (Goodman and Karsch., 1980; Karsch et al, 1987; Nett et al., 2002). While FSH is required for

follicular wave emergence (Adams et al., 1992), LH is essential for dominant follicle growth (Ginther et al., 2000), oocyte maturation (Hyttel et al., 1989), ovulation, corpus luteum development and synthesis of P4 (Tomac et al., 2011). These are critical events for establishment and maintenance of pregnancy in domestic animals (Spencer et al., 2004). Therefore, selecting cows with greater capacity for LH secretion under defined conditions could be a strategy to improve fertility in dairy cows.

A phenotype that has high variability, repeatability and heritability would be an ideal candidate for genetic selection. The variability and repeatability of other novel fertility traits such as anti-Müllerian hormone and antral follicle count (Burns et al., 2005; Ireland et al., 2008; Gobikrushanth et al., 2017a) and their association with fertility outcomes have been of recent interest to many researchers (Mossa et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2014). However, the variability, repeatability and association with fertility under minimal influence of P4 have not been examined for GnRH-induced LH responses in dairy cows. Previous studies in rams and ewes (Haley et al., 1989) and beef cows (Webb et al., 1977; Williams et al., 1982; Williams and Stanko 1996; Fajersson et al., 1999) reported that GnRH-induced LH responses were variable between animals based on simple observations. However, none of the above studies quantified the variability using statistical analysis or were specific to lactating dairy cows. Endogenous LH release is pulsatile, resulting in a low correlation between repeated measures from the same animal (Haley et al., 1989); furthermore, measuring endogenous LH surge in large populations is impractical, making it an undesirable candidate for genetic selection. However, the induced LH surge response after exogenous GnRH administration may be a more useful endocrine parameter for investigating variability and repeatability. Previous studies reported a poor and non-significant repeatability for GnRH-induced LH responses when ram and ewe lambs (Tyrrell et al., 1980; n = 15 for each sex) and beef cows (Fajersson et al., 1999; n = 18) were repeatedly challenged with exogenous GnRH treatments. However, small sample sizes and variable concentrations of P4 might have attributed to non-significant repeatability estimates. In addition, although high heritability (0.44) and associations between high LH concentrations and fecundity have been reported in ewes, the associations were inconsistent (Haley et al., 1989). Similar conceptual studies evaluating the association between GnRH-induced LH responses and fertility in lactating dairy cows are lacking.

The evaluation of the variability and repeatability of GnRH-induced LH response, and establishing its association with fertility may identify it as a fertility phenotype to be considered in future genomic selection in dairy cows. We hypothesized that cows have variable responses to GnRH injection even under low P4 environment, and those responses are repeatable. Therefore, our primary objective was to determine the variability and repeatability of GnRH-induced LH responses. The secondary objective was to evaluate the associations among plasma LH, FSH, E2, and P4 concentrations. In addition, the associations among LH response categories, FSH, E2, P4, and reproductive outcomes (i.e. ovulatory response, pregnancy to first AI [Pregnancy at 33-d post-AI] (P/AI), pregnancy at 60-d post-AI and pregnancy loss [PLOSS]) were also examined.

## 3.3. Materials and methods

## 3.3.1. Animals and housing

The study was conducted at the Dairy Research and Technology Centre of the University of Alberta between November 2014 and September 2016. All the experimental procedures were approved by the University of Alberta's Animal Care and Use Committee for Livestock, and animals were cared for in accordance with the requirements of Canadian Council on Animal Care (2009). One hundred lactating Holstein cows (35 primiparous, 65 multiparous) were initially enrolled in the study. Cows were individually fed a total mixed ration (primary ingredients were barley silage, alfalfa silage, alfalfa hay, and concentrates) and housed in tie-stalls and let out for approximately 2 h of exercise during weekdays. Diets were formulated according to **NRC** (National Research Council, 2001) to meet the requirements of a 650 kg lactating cow producing 45 kg of milk/d and cows had *ad libitum* access to water.

## 3.3.2. Reproductive management and blood sampling

Cows that were on average 52 (SD = 4.0; range = 45 to 59) DIM, were placed on a modified G6G protocol and subjected to timed-AI (Figure 1). In brief, the presynchronization protocol consisted of PGF2 $\alpha$  (d 0; Estrumate; 500 µg, i.m; Merck Intervet Corp. Kirkland, QC, Canada) and GnRH (d 3; Fertiline; 100 µg gonadorelin acetate, i.m.; Vetoquinol N. A. Inc. Lavaltrie QC, Canada) administered 3d apart. The Ovsynch protocol was initiated 7 d after the GnRH injection of the presynchronization program, and involved i.m. injections of GnRH (d 10), PGF2 $\alpha$  (d 17) and GnRH 56 h later, followed by timed-AI 16 to 20 h later (mean DIM = 72).

Transrectal ultrasonography (Aloka 500, Aloka Co Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) using a 7.5 MHz linear array transducer was first conducted at the time of the second GnRH of Ovsynch (~ 71 DIM) to confirm the presence of putative ovulatory follicle(s) ( $\geq$  10 mm in diameter). Ovulation was confirmed on 73 DIM by the absence of the follicle(s) that had been detected at the previous ultrasound examination. Ovulatory response was defined as the proportion of cows that ovulated after the second GnRH of Ovsynch. Transrectal ultrasonography of uterine contents was performed 33 d post-AI and visualization of a viable embryo confirmed the pregnancy. Cows that were determined pregnant at 33 d post-AI were examined again at 60 d post-AI using transrectal ultrasonography, to reconfirm pregnancy. Pregnancies per AI (P/AI) at 33 d and pregnancy at 60

d post-AI were determined based on the proportion of cows pregnant at 33 and 60 d post-AI, respectively. When embryonic death occurred between 33 and 60 d post-AI, it was considered as a pregnancy loss.

Blood samples were collected from coccygeal blood vessel using evacuated Vacutainer® tubes containing sodium heparin as an anticoagulant (Becton Dickinson and Company, New Jersey, USA) immediately before (0 h) the GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch to determine plasma concentrations of LH, FSH and P4 (ng/mL), and 2 h after each of the above GnRH treatments to determine plasma LH and FSH (ng/mL). The 2 h interval for collecting blood samples after GnRH administration to determine maximum pituitary responsiveness to GnRH was based on LH profiles in previous studies (Ambrose et al., 2005; Colazo et al., 2009b; Dias et al., 2010; Pulley et al., 2015). Plasma concentrations of E2 were determined from blood samples collected immediately before the second GnRH of Ovsynch. Samples were placed on ice upon collection and centrifuged at 1500 x g for 20 min at 4°C, plasma harvested and frozen at -20 °C until assayed for plasma LH, FSH, E2 and P4.

# 3.3.3. Determination of plasma concentration of LH, FSH, E2 and P4

Plasma concentrations of LH, FSH, E2 and P4 were determined at Endocrine Lab Services, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada.

Plasma LH concentrations were determined in duplicate using a double-antibody radioimmunoassay (NIDDK-bLH4) as described by Evans et al. (1994). All samples were analyzed in a single assay; the intra-assay coefficient of variation was 12.3 % for low reference samples (mean, 0.98 ng/mL) and 9.2% for high reference samples (mean, 1.70 ng/mL).

Plasma FSH concentrations were determined in duplicate using a double-antibody radioimmunoassay using NIDDK-anti-oFSH-1 primary antibody and expressed as USDA bovine

32

FSH-Il units as described by Evans et al., (1994). All samples were analyzed in a single assay; the intra-assay coefficient of variation was 10.1 % for low reference samples (mean, 0.27 ng/mL) and 4.5 % for high reference samples (mean, 3.17 ng/mL)

Plasma concentrations of E2 were determined after ether extraction using a radioimmunoassay procedure as originally described by Rawlings et al (1984). All samples were analyzed in a single assay; the intra-assay coefficient of variation was 13.7 % for low reference samples (mean, 2.8 pg/mL) and 12.1 % for high reference samples (mean, 9.1 pg/mL).

Plasma P4 concentrations were determined in duplicate using a commercial solid-phase radioimmunoassay kit (ImmuChem<sup>TM</sup>; MP Biomedicals, LLC, Orangeburg, NY). All samples were analyzed in a single assay. The intra-assay coefficients of variations were 18.6 % for low-(mean, 1.2 ng/mL) and 11.6 % for high-reference samples (mean, 10.8 ng/mL), respectively.

# 3.3.4. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Cows were excluded from the analysis that fell within the following criteria: (1) LH concentrations were greater at 0 h than at 2 h after GnRH [n = 0 at GnRH of presynchronization; n = 2 at the second GnRH of Ovsynch]; (2) LH concentrations were indicative of an ongoing spontaneous LH surge at 0 h ( $\geq$  1.0 ng/mL) even if LH concentration increased further at 2 h after GnRH injection [n = 7 at GnRH of presynchronization; n = 3 at the second GnRH of Ovsynch]; and (3) did not exhibit an increase in plasma LH in response to GnRH administration [n = 4 at GnRH of presynchronization; n = 4 at the second GnRH of Ovsynch]. A GnRH-induced LH response was considered to have occurred when the LH concentration at 2 h after GnRH exceeded the mean of the baseline by 2 standard deviations (Pulley et al., 2015).

The mean, standard error of mean ( $\pm$  SEM), range and coefficient of variation for GnRHinduced LH was first determined in 89 cows at GnRH of presynchronization and 91 cows at the second GnRH of Ovsynch using MEANS procedure of SAS and later determined in cows that had plasma P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at GnRH of presynchronization (n = 60) and the second GnRH of Ovsynch (n = 70). The cutoff of < 0.5 ng/mL was chosen to simulate concentrations of P4 during estrus as suggested by Stevenson and Pulley (2016), and, in addition, this was the optimum P4 concentration to predict the probability of pregnancy using receiver operating characteristic (**ROC**) analysis in the current study (sensitivity 94.4 and specificity 27.4 %) and in previous studies (Colazo et al., 2017; Wilsdorf et al., 2016).

The repeatability (range 0 to 1, with 1 being the highest) was defined as the proportion of the total variance that attributed to between-animal variance, which was calculated as  $\sigma^2$  between-animal /  $\sigma^2$  between-animal +  $\sigma^2$  within-animal. Variance components were estimated using ANOVA in Microsoft Excel 2016 and the repeatability for GnRH-induced LH responses between GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch was calculated. Furthermore, the association between GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch assessments for GnRH-induced LH response was determined by estimating the Pearson correlation of coefficient (r; ranges from - 1 to + 1 [where value 0, < 0 and > 0 indicates no association, negative association and a positive association, respectively]) using CORR procedure of SAS. These were conducted first in all 81 cows and later in a subset of cows (n = 45) that had plasma P4 concentrations < 0.5 ng/mL at both assessments.

The associations among plasma LH, FSH, E2 and P4 were determined first in all 91 cows and later in a subset of 70 cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch by estimating the Pearson correlation of coefficient using CORR procedure of SAS. Moreover, the linear regression among the aforementioned continuous variables was also tested using REG procedure of SAS and the regression line and equation were plotted using Microsoft Excel 2016.

Cows that had P4 concentration < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch (n = 70) were ranked based on plasma LH, from highest to lowest, and those in the top (n = 24) and bottom (n = 24) thirds were classified into HIGH- and LOW-LH categories. The associations among LH categories, parity and plasma concentrations of FSH, E2 and P4 were determined using MIXED procedure SAS. The associations among LH response categories, parity, ovulatory response to the second GnRH of Ovsynch, P/AI at 33 d post-AI, pregnancy at 60 d post-AI and PLOSS were tested using GLIMMIX procedure of SAS. The aforementioned continuous and binomial variables were initially modelled against LH category, parity and their interactions. As none of the interactions was significant, the final model only included LH category and parity. Significant differences were reported if  $P \le 0.05$  and considered to be a tendency if P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

#### 3.4. Results

# 3.4.1. Variability and repeatability of GnRH-induced release of LH

Mean ( $\pm$  SEM) plasma concentrations of LH (ng/mL) before the GnRH of presynchronization (0.4  $\pm$  0.03) did not differ (P > 0.05) from those preceding the second GnRH of Ovsynch (0.6  $\pm$  0.03). Likewise, LH concentrations 2 h after GnRH of presynchronization (8.7  $\pm$  0.7; range = 1.2 to 27.4 ng/mL) and Ovsynch (10.4  $\pm$  0.7; range = 1.2 to 28.4 ng/mL) did not differ (P > 0.05). The variability of the GnRH-induced LH response was 78.7 and 63.1 % at GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch assessments, respectively. When evaluated in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL, the variability values were 76.1 and 52.1 % at GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch assessments and the mean ( $\pm$  SEM) LH

2 h after GnRH did not differ (P > 0.05) between presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments and were  $9.8 \pm 1.0$  (range, 1.4 to 27.4 ng/mL) and  $12.1 \pm 0.8$  (range, 1.2 to 28.4 ng/mL) at GnRH of presynchronization (n = 60) and the second GnRH of Ovsynch (n = 70; Figure 2a, b). The repeatability of GnRH-induced LH concentrations between presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments was low (0.16) yet significant when determined in all cows (n = 81; P = 0.02) and repeatability (0.10) was non-significant when determined only in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL (n = 45; P = 0.25). The estimated correlation coefficient for GnRH-induced LH between presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments was 0.24 (P = 0.03) when evaluated in all cows (n = 81; Figure 3a) and 0.15 (P = 0.33) when evaluated only in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL (n = 45; Figure 3b).

## 3.4.2. Associations among plasma LH concentration and FSH, E2 and P4

Plasma concentrations of LH were positively associated with FSH (r = 0.65; P<0.01; Figure 4a) and E2 (r = 0.35; P < 0.01; Figure 5a) in all 91 cows as well as in the 70 cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch (r = 0.61 and 0.30; P < 0.01; Figure 4b and 5b, respectively). On the other hand, LH concentrations had a negative association with P4 when evaluated in all 91 cows (r = -0.45; P < 0.01; Figure 6a) as well as in cows that had P4  $\ge 0.5$ ng/mL (r = -0.46; P = 0.03; Figure 6b). However, the association was very poor and nonsignificant in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL (r = -0.07; P = 0.54; Figure 6c).

# 3.4.3. Associations among LH categories, parity, plasma LH, FSH, E2, P4, and reproductive outcomes

Cows that were categorized as HIGH-LH had greater (P < 0.01) mean plasma concentrations of FSH and a tendency (P = 0.09) for higher E2 than those categorized as LOW-

LH, but plasma P4 and the reproductive outcomes evaluated did not differ between HIGH-LH and LOW-LH categories (Table 1).

Primiparous cows had a tendency for lower P4 (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 0.001  $\pm$  0.01 vs. 0.03  $\pm$  0.01 ng/mL; P = 0.06) and greater P/AI at 33 d post-AI (60.0 vs. 32.1 %; P = 0.06) than multiparous cows. However, mean plasma concentrations of LH, FSH and E2, and other reproductive outcomes (i.e., pregnancy at 60 d post-AI, ovulatory response and pregnancy loss) did not differ between primiparous and multiparous cows (Table 1).

# **3.5. Discussion**

The variability for GnRH-induced LH responses was high at both presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report variability of GnRH-induced LH responses under minimal influences of P4 in lactating dairy cows. Progesterone had a negative association with LH response in the current study (Figure 6a and b), which has also been reported in previous studies (Colazo et al., 2008, Giordano et al., 2012, Stevenson and Pulley 2016). Elevated circulating P4 affects LH through a number of mechanisms: direct inhibition of LH release from the anterior pituitary gland (Schoenemann et al., 1985), downregulation of GnRH receptors in the pituitary gland thereby reducing pituitary responsiveness to GnRH and through inhibition of GnRH pulses from the hypothalamus (Nett et al., 2002). Therefore, we inferred that the high variability values observed for GnRH-induced LH responses (78.7 and 63.1 % at presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments, respectively) were negatively influenced by peripheral P4 concentrations at the time of GnRH administration. Notably, the between-animal-variability values were decreased, yet remained high (76.1 and 52.1 % at presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments, respectively) despite adjusting for the

possible suppressive influence of P4 on LH, by removing cows with  $P4 \ge 0.5$  ng/mL, indicating that a wide phenotypic variation exists for GnRH-induced LH responses in dairy cows, even after accounting for the possible effects of P4.

The repeatability of GnRH-induced LH concentration between presynchronization and Ovsynch assessments was low (0.16) when evaluated in all cows (P = 0.02). Our finding is in agreement with previous reports in small (Tyrrell et al., 1980) and large ruminants (Fajersson et al. 1999). Tyrrell et al. (1980) reported poor and non-significant repeatability estimates (0.10 to 0.20) for LH release when pre-pubertal ram and ewe lambs (n = 15 per sex) were repeatedly challenged with exogenous GnRH treatments for seven consecutive months starting from approximately 9 wk of age. Similarly, Fajersson et al. (1999) reported a non-significant range of correlation (r = -0.21 to 0.50; P > 0.10) when beef cattle (n = 18) exhibiting phenotypically extreme LH responses (high and low; selected based on > 1 SD above the mean and > 1 SD below the mean, respectively) were subjected to exogenous GnRH injections (100 µg i.v.) at d 5 to 8 postpartum (after 2 consecutive calving events) and at 170 d of gestation. At these two distinct time points, cows would have had extreme differences in both energy status and circulating P4 concentrations. In the present study, we expected a greater repeatability for GnRH-induced LH responses by assessing cows at 8 and 10 weeks postpartum (assuming relatively similar energy states) and by eliminating the negative effect of circulating P4, but repeatability was further reduced (0.10). The GnRH-induced LH response and its repeatability could be negatively influenced by other factors such as low energy intake (Beal at al., 1978) and dietary long chain fatty acids (Salehi et al., 2015) in addition to negative energy balance during the early postpartum period (Leers-Sucheta at al., 1994). In the current study, possible influences of energy status, high P4 concentrations, and dietary fats on GnRH-induced LH responses were controlled and/or

avoided by evaluating GnRH-induced LH responses twice within a short interval (8 and 10 weeks), by eliminating cows that had  $P4 \ge 0.5$  ng/mL at GnRH, and by feeding similar diets. Indeed, the overall mean concentrations of GnRH-induced LH did not differ between GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch assessments in the present study. Together, these results suggest that GnRH-induced LH responses have poor repeatability, even under conditions that have been standardized as much as practically possible.

The association between GnRH-induced LH response categories, reproductive hormones, and fertility, under controlled influences of P4 (< 0.5 ng/mL), has not been previously studied in dairy cows. Cows in the HIGH-LH category had greater concentrations of FSH and a tendency for higher E2 than cows in the LOW-LH category and this is evident from the positive associations among LH, FSH and E2 reported in the current study (Figures 4 and 5) as well as in previous studies (Foster et al., 1980, Nett et al., 2002, Stevenson and Pulley 2016). We expected that cows with a high LH response to GnRH treatment would have increased likelihood of ovulation and consequently improved reproductive outcomes compared to cows with a low LH response. However, the reproductive outcomes, such as P/AI and pregnancy at 60-d post-AI and PLOSS were similar between HIGH- and LOW-LH categories. Given that this experiment was not adequately powered to evaluate the association between GnRH-induced LH response and fertility outcomes, the results presented herein should be interpreted cautiously. A posteriori power analysis based on the actual difference of 12.5 % in ovulation response called for 93 animals per LH category. With only 24 animals per LH category in the current study, a difference of at least 45 % in ovulatory response was required to attain statistical significance.

In a study conceptually similar to ours, Haley et al., (1989) reported associations between GnRH-induced LH responsiveness and fertility in sheep. They classified ram lambs into highand low-responsive lines on the basis of mean concentration of LH determined at 10 wks of age following an i.v. injection of 5  $\mu$ g GnRH. Thereafter, rams that were classified into high- and low- responsive lines were mated to ewes from the same lines, and progressively bred in a similar manner for several generations. After 8 male generations, the mean LH response for rams in the high-responsive line was 5 times greater than that of the low-responsive line (Haley et al., 1989). However, the associations between LH responsive lines and fertility were inconsistent. Ewes bred to high responder rams had higher ovulation rates in general than the low-responsive line during the first breeding season but not during the second breeding season. However, increases in the number of lambs born per ewe were not significant except during one generation.

In conclusion, despite high variability, the use of GnRH-induced LH response as a fertility phenotype for genetic selection remains questionable due to its poor repeatability. The association between GnRH-induced LH responses and fertility outcomes under minimal influences of P4 warrants further investigation in a larger population of dairy cows.

## 3.6. Acknowledgments

This project was financially supported in part by Growing Forward 2, a federalprovincial-territorial initiative (*Research Opportunities and Innovation - Internal Initiatives Project # DA7642064*). M. Gobikrushanth is a recipient of the Teagasc-University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship sponsored by Alberta Innovates Biosolutions. The authors thank Courtney Felton, Ana Ruiz-Sanchez, Rohanna Wang and Ashley L'Hirondelle of the University of Alberta for their assistance during the study and the staff of the Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta, for their cooperation and animal care.

	LH Category <sup>1</sup>			Parity		
	HIGH- LH (n = 24)	LOW- LH (n = 24)	P- Value	Primiparous $(n = 16)$	Multiparous $(n = 32)$	P- Value
Plasma concentration (mean $[\pm SEM]^2$ )						
LH (ng/mL)	$\begin{array}{c} 18.9 \pm \\ 0.8^a \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.6 \pm \\ 0.8^{\text{b}} \end{array}$	< 0.01	$12.3\pm0.9$	$12.2\pm0.6$	0.90
FSH (ng/mL)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.9 \pm \\ 0.05^a \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5 \pm \\ 0.05^{\mathrm{b}} \end{array}$	< 0.01	$0.8\pm0.06$	$0.7\pm0.04$	0.39
Estradiol (pg/mL)	$\begin{array}{c} 2.6 \pm \\ 0.3^x \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.8 \pm \\ 0.3^{y} \end{array}$	0.09	$2.0\pm0.4$	$2.4\pm0.3$	0.49
Progesterone(ng/mL)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	0.24	${\begin{array}{c} 0.001 \pm \\ 0.01^{x} \end{array}}$	$0.03\pm0.01^{\text{y}}$	0.06
Ovulatory response $(\%)^{*3}$	95.8 (23/24)	83.3 (20/24)	0.17	93.7 (15/16)	87.5 (28/32)	0.44
Pregnancy at 33 d post-AI (%)*	43.5 (10/23)	40.0 (8/20)	0.43	60.0 (9/15) <sup>x</sup>	32.1 (9/28) <sup>y</sup>	0.06
Pregnancy at 60 d post-AI (%)*	34.8 (8/23)	30.0 (6/20)	0.43	46.7 (7/15)	25.0 (7/28)	0.11
Pregnancy losses between 33 and 60 d post-AI (%)*	20.0 (2/10)	25.0 (2/8)	0.80	22.2 (2/9)	22.2 (2/9)	1.00

**Table 3. 1.** Associations among LH categories, parity, plasma LH, FSH, estradiol, progesterone and reproductive outcomes in lactating dairy cows

<sup>a,b</sup> Different superscripts within the same row and category differ (P < 0.05); <sup>x,y</sup> tendency (P > 0.05  $\leq$  0.10) <sup>1</sup>LH categories: cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch (n = 70) were ranked by LH concentration, from highest to lowest, and those in the top and bottom thirds were designated as HIGH- and LOW-LH categories (n = 24 each)

<sup>2</sup>SEM: standard error of mean

<sup>3</sup>\*Percentages reported for pregnancy at 33 and 60 d post-AI and pregnancy losses between 33 and 60 d post-AI were based on cows that ovulated



**Figure 3. 1.** Hundread lactating Holstein cows (35 primiparous, 65 multiparous) were subjected to a modified presynchronization-Ovsynch protocol [presynchronization (d 0, PGF2α; d 3, GnRH) followed 7 d later by Ovsynch-56 (d 0, GnRH; d 7, PGF2α; GnRH, 56 h later)] to receive first timed-AI (~ 72 DIM) 16 h after the last GnRH treatment.

All injections and timed-AI were performed in the morning (0800 h) except for the second GnRH of Ovsynch which was given in the afternoon (1600 h). Blood samples (BS) were collected immediately before (0 h) the GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch to determine plasma concentrations of LH, FSH and P4 (ng/mL), and 2 h after each of the above GnRH injections to determine plasma LH and FSH (ng/mL). Plasma concentrations of E2 were determined from BS collected immediately before the second GnRH of Ovsynch. Transrectal ultrasonography (US) was first conducted at the time of the second GnRH of Ovsynch (~ 71 DIM) to confirm presence of putative ovulatory follicle(s). Ovulation was confirmed on 73 DIM by the absence of follicle(s) ( $\geq$  10 mm in diameter) that had been detected at the previous US examination (not illustrated). Pregnancy was diagnosed at 33 d post-AI (P/AI) by US and cows diagnosed pregnant were reconfirmed at 60 d post-AI by US.



**Figure 3. 2.** The distribution of plasma LH concentrations (ng/mL) determined at 2 h after the GnRH of presynchronization (a) and the second GnRH of Ovsynch (b) in all cows (filled bars; n = 89 for presynchronization and 91 for Ovsynch assessments) and in cows that had plasma P4 < 0.5 ng/mL (hatched bars; n = 60 for presynchronization and 70 for Ovsynch assessments).



**Figure 3. 3.** Association between plasma LH (ng/mL) determined at 2 h after GnRH of presynchronization and the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows (a; n = 81; P = 0.03) and in cows that had P4 concentrations < 0.5 ng/mL at both GnRH of presynchronization and at the second GnRH of Ovsynch (b; n = 45; P = 0.33).



**Figure 3. 4.** Association between plasma FSH and LH (ng/mL) determined at 2 h after the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows (a; n = 91; P < 0.01) and in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch (b; n = 70; P < 0.01).



**Figure 3. 5.** Association between plasma estradiol (pg/mL) determined at 0 h before the second GnRH of Ovsynch and plasma LH (ng/mL) determined at 2 h after the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows (a; n = 91; P < 0.01) and in cows that had P4 < 0.5 ng/mL at the second GnRH of Ovsynch (b; n = 70; P < 0.01).



**Figure 3. 6.** Association between plasma progesterone (ng/mL) determined before (0 h) the second GnRH of Ovsynch and plasma LH (ng/mL) determined at 2 h after the second GnRH of Ovsynch in all cows (a; n = 91; P < 0.01), in cows that had P4  $\ge$  0.5 ng/mL (b; n = 21; P = 0.03) and P4 < 0.5 ng/mL (c; n = 70; P = 0.54).

Chapter 4. Repeatability of antral follicle counts and anti-Müllerian hormone and their associations determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth and an expected day of follicular wave emergence in dairy cows

# 4.1. Abstract

The objectives were to determine (1) the repeatability of antral follicle counts (AFC) and anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) concentrations at an unknown stage of follicular growth (FG) and at an expected day of follicular wave emergence (FWE) in dairy cows, and (2) the association between AFC and AMH at the above two stages. Transrectal ultrasound imaging of the ovaries and blood sample collection were performed on 91 lactating Holstein cows (33 primiparous, 58 multiparous) to determine AFC and serum concentrations of AMH at an unknown stage of FG (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 14  $\pm$  0.5 d postpartum) and an expected day of FWE (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 73  $\pm$  0.5 d postpartum, approximately 36 h after the 2<sup>nd</sup> GnRH of Ovsynch protocol). The AFC ranged from 10 to 53 (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 26.1  $\pm$  1.0) and 6 to 45 (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 23.4  $\pm$  1.0) at an unknown stage of FG and expected day of FWE, respectively (P = 0.02). Serum concentrations (pg/mL) of AMH ranged from 13.9 to 528.8 (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 187.3  $\pm$  13.1) and 38.2 to 774.1 (mean  $\pm$  SEM; 218.7  $\pm$ 14.5) at an unknown stage of FG and expected day of FWE, respectively (P < 0.01). The repeatability estimates for AFC and serum AMH concentrations between an unknown stage of FG and the expected day of FWE were 0.37 and 0.73 (P < 0.01), respectively. The correlation between AFC and AMH was moderate at an unknown stage of FG (r =0.54; P < 0.01) and at an expected day of FWE (r = 0.59; P < 0.01). In summary, both AFC and AMH were repeatable when measured at an unknown stage of FG and an expected day of FWE, but the repeatability was
greater for AMH. Thus, if cows are tested at an unknown stage of FG, serum AMH may be a more reliable phenotype than AFC to test association with reproductive outcomes. Furthermore, AFC and AMH were moderately correlated at the two stages examined.

Key words: antral follicle count; anti-Müllerian hormone; repeatability; dairy cows

### 4.2. Background

Antral follicle count (AFC), the total number of ultrasonically visible antral follicles, is a predictor of the number of morphologically healthy oocytes and follicles present in the ovaries (Ireland et al., 2008). Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), a dimeric glycoprotein produced by granulosa cells of preantral and antral follicles (Monniaux et al., 2013), is a marker of the ovarian follicular reserve in cattle (Ireland et al., 2008; Rico et al., 2009). Several studies have reported that great variability exists among cattle for both AFC and AMH (Burns et al., 2005; Ireland et al., 2007; Ireland et al., 2008; Jimenez-Krassel et al., 2009; Rico et al., 2009; Mossa et al., 2010; Monniaux et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2014). In addition, Burns et al. (2005) reported that the maximal number of antral follicles determined approximately at follicular wave emergence within the same estrous cycle or during consecutive estrous cycles had high repeatability (0.96 or 0.86, respectively) in a mixed population of nulliparous dairy heifers, non-lactating and lactating dairy cows. Similarly, Ireland et al. (2007) reported a repeatability of 0.84 for maximal number of antral follicles in beef heifers. The repeatability of plasma AMH concentrations in lactating dairy cows between d 7 and 15 following timed-AI was 0.90 (Ribeiro et al., 2014).

The associations among AFC, AMH and reproductive outcomes have been of recent interest to many researchers (Ribeiro et al., 2014; Mossa et al., 2012). In these studies, dairy cows were classified into categories (e.g. low and high) based on AFC or AMH determined on a

specific day of the estrous cycle, and their association with reproductive outcomes examined. Mossa et al. (2012) reported that cows with high AFC ( $\geq 25$ ) at 4.6 d after estrus had 3.34 times greater odds of being pregnant at the end of breeding season compared to cows with low AFC ( $\leq$ 15). Ribeiro et al. (2014) reported that cows with high mean plasma AMH (631.0 pg/mL) at the initiation of Ovsynch/TAI program had lower pregnancy losses between 30 and 65 d of gestation (8.0 vs 16.7 %; P=0.03) than those that had low mean plasma AMH (85 pg/mL). From the perspective of using AFC and AMH as fertility markers for potential genetic selection, it is important to know whether these phenotypes should be determined at a specific day of follicular growth or could be determined at any random stage. It will be most advantageous if these phenotypes could be determined at any stage of follicular growth (FG), even during the early postpartum period. Previous studies (Burns et al., 2005; Ireland et al., 2007; Ribeiro et al., 2014) were designed to test repeatability only between known stages of FG. Thus, the repeatability of AFC and AMH between unknown and known stages of FG in cattle remains to be established. If high repeatability estimates are established, it would enable the use of AFC and/or AMH determinations made at even unknown stages of FG to classify cows into different phenotypic groups and test associations with reproductive outcomes.

In addition to high variability (between-animal) and repeatability (within-animal) for both AFC and AMH, the correlation between AFC and AMH was high (Ireland et al., 2008; Rico et al., 2009) when small numbers of animals were evaluated. Whereas Ireland et al. (2008) reported a correlation of 0.88 between AMH and AFC in 16 crossbred beef heifers, Rico et al. (2009) used an even smaller population of only nine dairy cows and reported a correlation of 0.79. It is documented that correlation estimates would only stabilize with increasing sample size (Schonbrodt and Perugini 2013). In this regard, studies (Nardo et al., 2007; Goksedef et al., 2010;

Barbakadze et al., 2015)) using larger samples sizes (range, n = 112 to 141) in women reported a moderate correlation between AFC and AMH (range, r = 0.46 to 0.57). Therefore, determining the correlation between AMH and AFC in a larger population of lactating dairy cows is important.

The objectives of the present study were to determine (1) the repeatability of AFC and AMH between an unknown stage of FG and an expected day of follicular wave emergence (FWE), and (2) the association between AFC (considering all follicles  $\geq 2$  mm diameter) and serum AMH at the above stages in lactating dairy cows.

## 4.3. Materials and methods

## 4.3.1. Animals and housing

The study was conducted at the Dairy Research and Technology Centre of the University of Alberta between November 2014 and February 2016. All the experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee for Livestock at the University of Alberta, and animals were cared for in accordance with the requirements of Canadian Council on Animal Care (2009). One hundred lactating Holstein cows (35 primiparous, 65 multiparous) were initially enrolled in the study. Cows were individually housed and fed in tie-stalls and let out for approximately 2 h of exercise during weekdays. Diets were formulated according to National Research Council guidelines (2001) to meet the requirements of a 650 kg lactating cow producing 45.0 kg of milk/d and cows had *ad libitum* access to water.

## 4.3.2. Reproductive management

At approximately 52 d postpartum, all cows were placed on a modified G6G ovulation synchronization protocol and subjected to timed-AI at approximately 72 d postpartum. In brief, presynchronization consisted of PGF2α (Estrumate; 500 µg, i.m; Merck Intervet Corp. Kirkland,

QC, Canada) and GnRH (Fertiline; 100  $\mu$ g, i.m.; Vetoquinol N. A. Inc. Lavaltrie QC, Canada) administered 3d apart, at approximately at 52 and 55 d postpartum, respectively. The Ovsynch/TAI protocol was initiated 7 d after the GnRH injection of the presynchronization program, and involved i.m. injections of GnRH (62 d postpartum), PGF2a (69 d postpartum) and GnRH 56 h later (71 d postpartum), followed by timed-AI 16 to 20 h later (72 d postpartum).

## 4.3.3. Transrectal ultrasonography and determination of AFC

To examine the repeatability of AFC, ovaries were subjected to transrectal ultrasonography (Aloka 500, Aloka Co Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) by the same individual using a 7.5 MHz linear array transducer on a fixed day postpartum but at an unknown stage of FG ( $14 \pm 0.5$  d postpartum) and again on the day after timed-AI ( $73 \pm 0.5$  d postpartum) coincident with the expected day of FWE. To determine AFC, both ovaries of each cow were scanned and the total number of antral follicles ( $\geq 2$  mm in diameter) recorded. An additional ultrasound examination was conducted at the time of the last GnRH of Ovsynch (~ 71 d postpartum) to confirm presence of dominant follicle(s). Ovulation was confirmed on 73 d postpartum by the absence of the dominant ( $\geq 10$  mm in diameter) follicle(s) that had been detected at the ultrasound exam on 71 d postpartum. Antral follicle count was determined only in 91 cows (33 primiparous and 58 multiparous) that were confirmed to have ovulated in response to the synchronization protocol.

## 4.3.4. Blood sampling and determination of AMH

Blood samples were collected at an unknown stage of FG and expected day of FWE from a coccygeal blood vessel using evacuated Vacutainer® glass serum tubes (Becton Dickinson and Company, New Jersey, USA). After collection, samples were left undisturbed for about 2 h to allow clot formation. Samples were then centrifuged at 1500 x g for 20 min at 4°C, serum harvested and frozen at -20 °C until assayed for AMH. Serum concentrations of AMH were analyzed using a commercial chemiluminescence immunoassay (AnshLite Bovine AMH CLIA, Ansh Labs, Webster, TX) according to manufacturer instructions, as previously reported by Ribeiro et al. (2014). The intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation were 2.25 and 5.23 %, respectively.

## 4.3.5. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). The MEANS procedure of SAS was used for descriptive statistics such as range, mean, standard error of mean (SEM) and coefficient of variation (CV) for AFC and serum AMH concentrations. The differences for mean AFC and AMH between an unknown stage of FG and the expected day of FWE were tested using the TTEST procedure of SAS. The repeatability (range 0 to 1, with 1 being the highest) was defined as the proportion of the total variance that could be attributed to between-animal variance, which was determined as  $\sigma^2$  between animal /  $\sigma^2$  between animal +  $\sigma^2$  within animal. Variance components were estimated using the MIXED procedure of SAS. The associations between AFC and AMH at an unknown stage of FG and expected day of FWE were determined using CORR procedure of SAS. Significant differences were reported if  $P \le 0.05$  and considered to be a tendency if P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

## 4.4. Results and discussion

The ranges (Table 1) for AFC determined at an unknown stage of FG and the expected day of FWE in the current study were similar to the ranges for maximal number of antral follicles reported in previous studies (11 to 54 [Burns et al., 2005], 9 to 45 [Ireland 2007], 7 to 50 [Ireland et al., 2008]). Likewise, the ranges for serum AMH concentrations reported in the current study (Table 1) were similar to those previously reported for serum AMH of ~ 40 to 400 pg/mL in

crossbred beef heifers (Ireland et al., 2008) and plasma AMH of 25 to 359 pg/mL in dairy cows (Rico et al., 2009). Although Ribeiro et al. (2014) reported that plasma AMH concentrations varied from 10 to 3198 pg/mL in lactating dairy cattle (n = 1237), very few cows (< 3%) had AMH concentrations exceeding 700 pg/mL. The aforementioned findings, along with the moderate and high variability reported for AFC and AMH in the current study (Figures 1 and 2), illustrate the wide phenotypic variation for these two traits in dairy cattle.

The mean AFC was greater when determined at an unknown stage of FG than at the expected day of FWE; conversely, mean serum AMH was lower at an unknown stage of FG than at the expected day of FWE (Table 1). Previous studies have shown that neither negative energy balance (Beam and Butler 1997) nor postpartum uterine infections (Williams et al., 2007; Broomfield et al., 2013; Gobikrushanth et al., 2016) affect ovarian follicular development during the early postpartum period in dairy cows. Beam and Butler (1997) reported that a wave of follicular development occurred in all cows within the first two weeks postpartum in association with elevated FSH, and the numbers of follicles determined were unrelated to energy balance or metabolic hormones. Moreover, high uterine pathogen growth density at 7 d postpartum did not affect the number of first wave follicles in cows (Williams et al., 2007), and development of preantral and antral follicles was not negatively affected in bovine ovarian cortical tissues treated with lipopolysaccharides (10µg/mL) ex vivo (Broomfield et al., 2013). In addition, in a recent study, we (Gobikrushanth et al., 2016) concluded that postpartum ovarian follicular dynamics were not affected by different categories of endometritis. Monniaux et al. (2013) reported that the mean AMH concentrations did not differ and remained at ~ 100 pg/mL when measured at 8, 18, 28, 38 and 48 d postpartum despite dramatic changes in blood non-esterified fatty acid concentrations (~ 1000 to 500  $\mu$ mol/L) indicating that neither days postpartum nor negative

energy balance (as indicated by high non-esterified fatty acid concentrations) influenced AMH production. Therefore, while a mixed population of both growing and atretic follicles of varying sizes (small, medium and large) was likely present at an unknown stage of FG contributing to the high mean AFC at that time, a more functionally-homogenous population of growing (small and medium) follicles may have been present at the expected day of FWE. Such a scenario would explain the lower mean AMH concentration at the unknown stage of FG vs. higher AMH at the expected day of FWE despite having incongruent AFC. Rico et al. (2009) reported that both plasma and follicular fluid AMH concentrations were greater in cows with more small- and medium-sized antral follicles (3-7 mm diameter) than in those with large follicles (> 7 mm in diameter). Based on the above finding, we speculate that the high AMH concentrations determined at the expected day of FWE was due to AMH produced by a relatively larger number of small and medium sized antral follicles that were active at the time of follicular wave emergence than at unknown stage of FG.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report on the repeatability of AFC or serum AMH concentrations between an unknown stage of FG and the expected day of FWE in dairy cattle. The repeatability of AFC reported in the current study (0.37) was lower than previously reported. Higher repeatability of 0.95 and 0.84 was reported when AFC was determined approximately at wave emergence within the same estrous cycle or during consecutive estrous cycles (Burns et al., 2005; Ireland et al., 2007). The lower repeatability for AFC in the current study was likely due to determination of AFC at random stages of follicular growth during early postpartum (14  $\pm$  0.5 d postpartum). Conversely, Burns et al. (2005) and Ireland et al. (2007) selected time points for repeatability estimates when they could measure maximal numbers of antral follicles (approximately at follicular wave emergence). In contrast to AFC, serum AMH

concentrations had higher repeatability (0.73). Although repeatability for serum AMH concentrations was greater than for AFC, the repeatability for serum AMH in the current study was lower than in previous reports. For example, the repeatability for plasma AMH was 0.87 between 4 and 5 d before estrus (day of first FSH treatment) and the day of estrus in superovulated cows (Rico et al., 2009), and was 0.90 when determined between d 7 and 15 of a controlled estrous cycle (d 0: day of last GnRH of Ovsynch/timed-AI; [Ribeiro et al., 2014]). Furthermore, Martinez et al. (2016) recently reported that AFC classification based on single transrectal ultrasonography at random stages of the estrous cycle during first 4 weeks of breeding season had no association with fertility measurements in grazing dairy cows. Therefore, based on the poor repeatability estimate obtained in the current study for AFC, and the above finding (Martinez et al., 2016), we conclude that AFC determined at an unknown stage of FG is less reliable to classify cows into categories of AFC and test associations with reproductive outcomes.

The associations between AFC and serum AMH concentrations determined either at an unknown stage of FG or expected day of FWE were moderate (r = 0.54 and 0.59, respectively; Figure 3) and comparable to reports in women (r = 0.54 [Nardo et al., 2007], 0.47 [Goksedef et al., 2010], 0.57 [Barbakadze et al., 2015]). However, the correlation reported in the present study is lower than previously reported (Ireland et al., 2008; Rico et al., 2009) in cattle (r = 0.88 and 0.79, respectively). Ireland et al. (2008) determined the correlation between AFC ( $\geq$  3 mm in diameter) and serum AMH concentrations in 16 crossbred beef heifers, whereas Rico et al. (2009) reported the correlation between follicles of 3 to 7 mm and plasma AMH in nine Prim'Holstein cows (a French Friesian breed). On the other hand, we have reported the correlation between AFC ( $\geq$  2 mm) and serum AMH in a relatively larger population of 91 cows. The correlation between AFC and AMH was 0.71 when evaluated in 54 women (de Vet et al., 2002) compared

to a lower average correlation of 0.52 when evaluated in a larger sample size (~ 130 women) in each of three studies (Nardo et al., 2007; Goksedef et al., 2010; Barbakadze et al., 2015) supporting the need for larger sample sizes to obtain a reliable correlation estimate (Schonbrodt and Perugini 2013). Therefore, in addition to possible influences of breed differences, the smaller sample sizes used in the previous studies (Ireland et al., 2008; Rico et al., 2009) likely contributed to higher correlations between AFC and AMH than in the current study.

In summary, both AFC and AMH were repeatable when determined at an unknown stage of FG and expected day of FWE, but repeatability was greater for AMH than for AFC. Therefore, if dairy cows are screened at an unknown stage of FG, peripheral concentrations of AMH may be a more reliable phenotype than AFC to test association with reproductive outcomes. Furthermore, AFC and AMH were moderately correlated regardless of follicular stages.

## 4.5. Acknowledgments

This project was financially supported in part by Growing Forward 2, a federalprovincial-territorial initiative (*Research Opportunities and Innovation - Internal Initiatives Project # DA7642064*). M. Gobikrushanth is a recipient of the Teagasc-University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship sponsored by Alberta Innovates Biosolutions. The authors thank Courtney Felton, Ana Ruiz-Sanchez, Rohanna Wang and Ashley L'Hirondelle for their assistance during the study and the staff of the Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta, for their cooperation and animal care.

**Table 4. 1.** The descriptive statistics of AFC ( $\geq 2$  mm in diameter) and serum AMH concentrations (pg/mL) determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth (FG) and expected day of follicular emergence (FWE) in 91 dairy cows

	AFC (n) at an	AFC (n) at expected	AMH (pg/mL) at an unknown	AMH (pg/mL) at expected day	
	stage of FG	of FWE	stage of FG	of FWE	
Range	10 - 53	6-45	13.9 - 528.8	38.2 - 774.1	
$Mean \pm SEM$	$26\pm1^{a}$	$23\pm1^{\text{b}}$	$187.3 \pm 13.1$ <sup>a</sup>	$218.7\pm14.5^{\text{b}}$	
Variability (CV %)	37.4	42.5	66.9	63.4	

<sup>a,b</sup> Different superscripts within the same row and category differ (P < 0.05)

AFC: antral follicle count

AMH: anti- Müllerian hormone

SEM: standard error of mean

CV: coefficient of variation



**Figure 4. 1.** The distribution of AFC ( $\geq 2$  mm in diameter) determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth (FG; filled bars) and on the expected day of follicular wave emergence (FWE; hatched bars) in lactating dairy cows.



**Figure 4. 2.** The distribution of serum AMH (pg/mL) determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth (FG; filled bars) and on the expected day of follicular wave emergence (FWE; hatched bars) in lactating dairy cows.



**Figure 4. 3.** The association between AFC ( $\geq 2 \text{ mm}$  in diameter) and AMH determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth (FG; a) and on the expected day of follicular emergence (FWE; b) in 91 lactating dairy cows (r = 0.54 and 0.59, respectively; P < 0.01).

# Chapter 5. The relationship between serum anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) concentrations and fertility, and genome wide associations for AMH in Holstein cows

## 5.1. Abstract

The objectives of this study were to (1) evaluate factors associated with variation in circulating anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) concentrations, (2) establish an optimum AMH threshold predictive of pregnancy to first artificial insemination (P/AI), (3) examine the relationship between AMH and fertility (P/AI, pregnancy loss between 30 and 60 d post-AI [PLOSS] and pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum), and (4) identify quantitative trait loci (QTL) associated with phenotypic variation of AMH concentrations in dairy cows. Serum AMH concentrations (pg/mL) were determined at  $7 \pm 2.4$  d postpartum in 647 lactating Holstein cows (213 primiparous, 434 multiparous) from one research and six commercial dairy herds in Alberta, Canada. Of these, 589 cows were genotyped on the 26 K Bovine Bead Chip and subsequently imputed to the Illumina Bovine High Density Bead Chip for genome wide association analysis for variation in serum AMH concentrations. Factors associated with variation in serum AMH concentrations and the relationship between categories of AMH and aforementioned fertility outcomes were evaluated only in a subset of 460 cows that had a complete data set available.

The overall mean ( $\pm$  standard error of the mean), median, minimum and maximum AMH concentrations were 191.1  $\pm$  6.3, 151.7, 13.9 and 1,879.0 pg/mL, respectively. The AMH concentrations were not associated with herd, pre-calving BCS, postpartum week and season of sampling; the lactation number, however, had a quadratic relationship with serum AMH concentrations (116.2, 204.9 204.5 and 157.9 pg/mL for first, second, third and  $\geq$ fourth lactation, respectively). The optimum AMH threshold predictive of P/AI could not be established, as the

receiver operating characteristic curve analysis model was non-significant. Categories of AMH (low [<83.0 pg/mL; n=92], intermediate [ $\geq$ 83.0 to  $\leq$ 285.0 pg/mL; n=276] and high [>285.0 pg/mL; n=92] based on lowest 20%, intermediate 60%, and highest 20% serum AMH) had no associations with P/AI (34, 43 and 40%), PLOSS (20, 12 and 8%) or pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum. One candidate gene associated with AMH production (*AMH* gene on *Bos taurus* autosome [BTA] 7) and four candidate genes related to embryo development (*SCAI* and *PPP6C* genes on BTA 11 and *FGF18* and *EEF2K* genes on BTA 20 and 25, respectively) were in linkage disequilibrium with single nucleotide polymorphisms associated with phenotypic variation in serum AMH in dairy cows.

Key words: fertility traits, genomic heritability, pregnancy loss, superovulation

## 5.2. Background

A trait that has high variability, repeatability, heritability and associations with fertility would be an ideal candidate for genetic selection to augment reproductive performance in dairy cows. The use of circulating anti-Müllerian hormone (**AMH**) concentrations as a potential fertility trait in cattle has been of recent interest to many researchers (Ribeiro et al., 2014; Baruselli et al., 2015; Jimenez-Krassel et al., 2015; Gobikrushanth et al., 2017). Anti-Müllerian hormone, a dimeric glycoprotein produced by granulosa cells of growing preantral and antral follicles (La Marca and Volpe. 2006), is a marker of ovarian follicular reserve in cattle (Rico et al., 2009; Monniaux et al., 2013). A positive correlation between circulating AMH and antral follicle counts (**AFC**) in cattle has also been reported (Ireland et al., 2008; Rico et al., 2009; Gobikrushanth et al., 2017).

In cattle, AMH concentrations were highly variable among animals but were quite

repeatable within an animal (Rico et al., 2009; Monniaux et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2014; Gobikrushanth et al., 2017). In cattle, maternal nutritional status, species, breed, and lactation number were all identified as potential factors associated with phenotypic variation in AMH concentrations (Mossa et al., 2013; Batista et al., 2014; Ribeiro et al., 2014). Interestingly, however, the associations between circulating AMH concentrations and reproductive outcomes remain unclear (Ribeiro et al., 2014; Baruselli et al., 2015; Jimenez-Krassel et al., 2015). Hence, additional studies are warranted to further elucidate the factors that affect circulating AMH concentrations, and the relationship between circulating AMH and phenotypic fertility performance.

An optimum circulating AMH threshold predictive of pregnancy to first AI (P/AI), heritability of AMH, and genome wide association studies (GWAS) identifying single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) associated with phenotypic variation in AMH concentrations are novel aspects yet to be explored in dairy cows. If a positive association exists between AMH and reproductive outcomes and an optimum AMH threshold could be established, it will assist dairy producers to make economically beneficial decisions by selectively breeding cows with high AMH to improve reproductive efficiency of dairy herds. In addition, identification of genetic makers (SNP) associated with variation in circulating AMH concentrations would potentially help to identify, and preselect at birth, future elite genetic merit donors with greater embryo production potential for use in multiple ovulation embryo transfer programs in dairy cattle.

Therefore, the primary objectives of the current study were to (1) evaluate the factors associated with variation in circulating AMH concentrations, (2) establish an optimum AMH threshold that has predictive value for P/AI, (3) examine the relationship among categories of AMH and fertility (P/AI, pregnancy loss between 30 and 60-d post-AI [**PLOSS**] and pregnancy

risk up to 250 d postpartum), and (4) identify Quantitative trait loci (QTL) associated with phenotypic variation in AMH concentrations in dairy cows.

### 5.3. Materials and methods

## 5.3.1. Animals and management

This study was conducted in one research herd (Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta) and six commercial dairy herds located in Alberta, between November 2014 and 2015. Animals were housed and cared for in accordance with the requirements of Canadian Council on Animal Care (2009). Cows were fed once daily a total mixed ration (primary ingredients were barley or corn silage, alfalfa silage, alfalfa hay, and concentrates) and had *ad libitum* access to potable water. Cows from four herds were subjected to GnRH-based synchronization protocols and inseminated without estrus detection for first and subsequent AIs (timed-AI; **TAI**), whereas, cows from three other herds were inseminated at detected estrus (**IDE**).

## 5.3.2. Blood sampling and determination of serum concentrations of AMH

Blood samples were collected at (mean±SD)  $7 \pm 2.4$  d postpartum from 647 lactating Holstein cows (213 primiparous, 434 multiparous) from a coccygeal blood vessel using evacuated Vacutainer® (Becton Dickinson and Company, New Jersey, USA) into clot-activator tubes (serum tubes) for AMH determination and anti-coagulant K<sub>2</sub> EDTA coated tubes (EDTA tubes) for genotyping. After collection, serum tubes were left undisturbed for about 2 h to allow clot formation and were then centrifuged at 1500 x g for 20 min at 4°C, serum harvested and frozen at -20 °C until assayed for AMH. The EDTA tubes were frozen at -20 °C until processed for genotyping. Serum concentrations (pg/mL) of AMH were analyzed at Ansh Labs (Webster, TX, USA) using the Ansh Labs Bovine AMH enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. The assay has an analytical measurable range of 13.5 to 2240 pg/mL. The AMH assay limit of detection is 11 pg/mL, and the both intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation (**CV**) were <5%.

## 5.3.3. Determination of body condition score (BCS), reproductive measurements and milk yield for the current lactation

The BCS were determined between one and two weeks before the estimated calving date (hereafter referred to as pre-calving BCS) and again between four and six weeks after calving (hereafter referred to as post-calving BCS) on a 1-5 scale system measured in increments of 0.25 units (1 = thin, 5 = fat) as previously described (Edmonson et al., 1989). The reproductive data and 305-d mature-equivalent (**ME**) milk yield were retrieved using DairyComp 305 herd management software (CanWest DHI, Guelph, Ontario, Canada).

## 5.3.4. Genotyping, quality control and imputation

DNA extraction was performed on blood samples drawn from a subset of 589 lactating Holstein cows using the Qiagen BioSprint 96 DNA (3840) Kit blood and tissue protocol (Qiagen, Toronto, ON). DNA samples were normalized and genotyped according to the Illumina Infinium Ultra protocol (Illumina, San Diego, CA) and markers were scored on the Bovine Geneseek Genomic Profiler 26K Beadchip (Neogen Inc, Lincoln, NE) at Delta Genomics (Edmonton, AB, Canada). The beadchips were scanned using the Illumina HiScan (Illumina) and the raw data was processed and exported using Genome Studio 2.0 software according to the Genome Studio Framework User Guide (Illumina) based on selection criteria of at least 95% animal call rate.

Genotype quality control was performed using PLINK v1.09 (Purcell et al., 2007). All single nucleotide polymorphisms (**SNP**) with an unknown, Y chromosomal or mitochondrial position were excluded. In addition, SNPs with a call rate <90%, minor allele frequency (**MAF**)

<0.01 and that deviated significantly from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $P \le 10^{-6}$ ) were removed. All animals had a genotype call rate >90% and 19,896 SNP remaining after edits. To increase the density of the SNP panel for GWAS, imputation to the Illumina Bovine high density (**HD**) beadchip was undertaken using FImpute2 (Sargolzaei et al., 2014). Imputation was completed using a two-step approach whereby the 589 animals were first imputed to the Illumina BovineSNP50 chip using a reference population of 3,532 Irish Holstein-Friesian BovineSNP50 genotyped animals, and subsequently imputed to HD density using a reference population of 974 Irish Holstein-Friesian HD genotyped animals. After imputation, all 589 cows had 636,471 SNP with a MAF >0.01 for analysis.

## 5.3.5. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). The descriptive statistics and normality for serum AMH concentrations (pg/mL) were first determined in all 647 cows using the UNIVARIATE procedure.

To identify factors associated with serum AMH concentrations (dependent continuous variable), a multivariable model including herd (A, B, C, D, E, F and G), lactation number (first, second, third and  $\geq$ fourth lactations), pre-calving BCS (categorized as high and low-BCS; >3.00 and  $\leq$ 3.00, respectively), week postpartum (first and second week) and season of blood sampling (fall, spring, summer and winter) were used to explain the variability observed in serum AMH concentration by analysis of variance (ANOVA) method using the MIXED procedure in a subset of 460 cows that had a complete data available on the aforesaid explanatory variables studied. In addition, contrast statements were constructed to test linear, quadratic and cubic effects of lactation number on serum AMH concentrations. Data pertaining to serum AMH concentrations were first transformed by Box-Cox data transformation to meet the assumptions for a Gaussian

distribution. The serum concentrations of AMH (transformed values) were initially modelled against all of the aforementioned categorical variables and their interactions. As none of the interactions was significant, the final model only had the categorical variables modelled against serum AMH concentrations, and the differences in means were tested using the Tukey-Kramer multiple means comparison test. The reported results are back transformed for ease of interpretation.

The optimum AMH threshold predictable of P/AI, including sensitivity and specificity, was first determined in 563 cows that had P/AI data available using the receiver operating characteristic (**ROC**) curve analysis. A priori power analysis based on type I error of 0.05, power of 0.80 and an allocation ratio of 1:2 (assuming only 1/3 of cows become pregnant to the first AI) to obtain an area under the curve of 0.60 called for only 219 cows in total to attain statistical significance. The ROC curves analyze sensitivity and 1 – specificity. Sensitivity is the proportion of cows above the optimum AMH threshold diagnosed as pregnant to first AI, and specificity is the proportion of cows below the optimum AMH threshold diagnosed as not pregnant to first AI. The optimum AMH threshold was chosen based on the highest Youden's J statistic index. The significance of the optimum AMH threshold was determined based on the area under the curve (**AUC**), where the AUC ranged from 0.50 to 1.00, with AUC of 0.50 considered non-informative and the AUC of 1.00 considered perfect as previously described (Swets, 1988).

A subset of 460 cows that had a complete data set available for both reproductive outcomes and all explanatory variables were ranked across herds in an ascending order by serum AMH concentrations and grouped into low-AMH (lowest 20% values; n=92; mean=56.6; range=13.9 to 81.7 pg/mL), intermediate-AMH (intermediate 60% values; n=276; mean=164.6; range=83.8 to 284.9 pg/mL), or high-AMH (highest 20% values; n=92; mean=420.1;

range=287.4 to 1879.0 pg/mL) categories. Cows were ranked across herds as there was no overall effect of herd on variation in serum AMH concentrations, and one of the objectives of the study was to establish a common cutoff across herds. In addition, the categories were chosen to mimic the proposed importance of ovarian reserve for fertility (Ireland et al., 2011) and to take an approach similar to that of Ribeiro et al. (2014).

The associations among categories of serum AMH (low-AMH, intermediate-AMH and high-AMH), type of AI (IDE and TAI), herd (A, B, C, D, E, F and G), parity (primiparous and multiparous), pre-calving BCS (categorized as high and low-BCS; >3.00 and  $\leq$ 3.00, respectively), post-calving BCS (categorized as high and low-BCS; >2.75 and  $\leq$ 2.75, respectively) and 305-d ME milk yield (categorized as high and low-ME milk yield based on mean 305-d ME milk yield within each herd) and P/AI or PLOSS were analyzed using the GLIMMIX procedure, while the model specifications included a binomial distribution and logit function, and an option to retrieve odds ratios and their confidence intervals. The P/AI or PLOSS was initially modelled against all of the aforementioned categorical variables and their interactions. As none of the interactions was significant, the final model included only the categorical variables and tested against P/AI or PLOSS. The mean 305-d ME milk yield was 12,197, 11,349, 13,686, 9,858, 11,031, 11,502 and 12,387 kg for herds A to G, respectively, and the overall mean milk production for all cows was 11,092 kg.

The differences in intervals from calving to pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum between categories of serum AMH were evaluated using the Kaplan-Meier Survival analysis (LIFETEST procedure). The results from Kaplan-Meier survival analysis were confirmed by a Cox proportional hazard model (PHREG procedure). Significant differences were reported if  $P \le 0.05$  and considered to be a tendency if P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

## 5.3.6. Genome-wide association study and estimation of genomic heritability for AMH

Whole genome association analysis was performed in genome-wide complex trait analysis (GCTA) (Yang et al., 2011) using a mixed linear model based association analysis based on the leave-one-chromosome-out method (Yang et al., 2014), across all 589 genotyped animals. This approach accounts for population substructure and relatedness through the construction of genomic relationship matrixes. The following model was used for analysis;  $y = \mu + bx + g^{-} +$ e, where y is the box-cox transformed AMH dependent variable,  $\mu$  is the overall mean, b is a vector of fixed effects including herd and the additive effect of the candidate SNP tested for association, x is the incidence matrix for the parameters  $b, g^-$  is the accumulated polygenic effect of all SNP except those on the chromosome where the candidate SNP is located and e is the residual. False discovery rate (FDR) control was performed using the Benjamini-Hochberg method using a FDR of 0.05. Gene search was done using Ensembl (http://ensembl.org/) and NCBI map viewer (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mapview/) on the UMD 3.1 genome build. The relative roles of nearest candidate genes were searched using both Bovine Genome Database (http://bovinegenome.org/) and Human Genome Database (http://www.genecards.org/). In addition, the proportion of phenotypic variance accounted for by all SNP (SNP-based heritability / genomic heritability) was estimated using the genomic restricted maximum likelihood approach in GCTA (Yang et al., 2010). To ensure the genomic heritability estimate was not inflated due to close familial relationships, all animals with an estimated coefficient of relatedness of >0.125were removed (n=391) prior to estimation.

## 5.4. Results and discussion

The overall mean (±SEM), median, minimum and maximum serum AMH concentrations were  $191.1 \pm 6.3$ , 151.7, 13.9 and 1,879.0 pg/mL, respectively. The circulating concentrations of AMH were highly variable among cows in the current study (Figure 1) as reported in previous studies (Monniaux et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2014; Gobikrushanth et al., 2017). The variation in circulating AMH were reported to be associated with maternal nutritional status, species, breed and lactation number in cattle (Mossa et al., 2013; Batista et al., 2014; Ribeiro et al., 2014). In this regard, Mossa et al. (2013) showed that female calves of dams that had been nutritionallyrestricted from 11 d before AI up to day 110 of gestation had lower circulating AMH concentrations from 4 mo to 1.8 yr of age compared to control calves born to mothers that had no nutritional restriction imposed during gestation (~180 vs. 280 pg/mL). Batista et al. (2014) reported that Bos indicus heifers had greater circulating AMH than Bos taurus heifers (930 vs. 300 pg/mL). Moreover, Ribeiro et al. (2014) found that Jersey and Holstein x Jersey crossbred cows had greater plasma AMH concentrations than Holstein cows (337 and 298 vs. 264 pg/mL) and that 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> lactation cows (irrespective of breed) had higher plasma AMH than those of 1<sup>st</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> lactation (342 and 328 vs. 257 and 273 pg/mL, respectively).

In the present study, none of the non-genetic factors evaluated were associated with serum concentrations of AMH in dairy cows (Figure 2). Although there was no overall herd effect on the variation in serum AMH concentrations (Figure 2a; P=0.25), it was greater for herd F compared to herd B (P=0.03), but the exact reason underpinning this difference is unknown. It is plausible, however, that genetic variation among cows both within and between herds for circulating AMH might have been a contributory factor. A quadratic relationship between serum AMH concentrations and lactation number was observed in the current study (P<0.01; Figure

2b). This is consistent with previous observations of circulating AMH and lactation number in dairy cows (Ribeiro et al., 2014) or between AFC and age in beef heifers and dairy cows (Cushman et al., 2009 and Mossa et al., 2012, respectively). Collectively, these results support the hypothesis that circulating concentrations of AMH increase with greater ovarian follicular recruitment up to 5 yr of age (or third parity) and then decline following gradual depletion of the ovarian reserve. In addition, we found that pre-calving BCS, postpartum week or season of blood sampling did not influence serum AMH concentrations in dairy cows (Figure 2 c, d and e). Monniaux et al. (2013) reported that AMH concentrations were quite stable when repeatedly measured in a same set of cows at 8, 18, 28, 38 and 48 d postpartum, despite marked changes in energy balance status. Therefore, for a given species, breed or lactation number, circulating AMH concentrations do not appear to be influenced by some of the common explanatory variables used in reproductive studies such as BCS, week postpartum and season.

As mentioned elsewhere, if a positive association exists between AMH and reproductive outcomes and an optimum AMH threshold could be established, it will assist dairy producers to make economically beneficial decisions by selectively breeding cows with high AMH to improve reproductive efficiency of dairy herds. Therefore, we proposed to identify the optimum circulating AMH threshold that was predictive of P/AI. Using ROC curve analysis, however, the association between serum AMH and P/AI was not significant (P=0.72; n=563); consequently, the optimum circulating AMH threshold, including its sensitivity and specificity that could predict P/AI was not established. A previous report by Baruselli et al. (2015) also failed to detect any association between circulating AMH and age at conception in 528 nulliparous heifers or the interval from calving to conception in 223 Nelore cows (*Bos indicus*). Collectively, these findings suggest that the use of circulating AMH as a predictor of fertility outcomes in cattle seems

unrealistic.

The role of AMH on reproductive function is poorly understood, and therefore the exact mechanisms linking AMH to fertility, if any, are unknown. A recent review by Dewaily et al. (2014) suggested that AMH plays two major functions in women: (a) inhibition of follicular growth from the primordial follicle reserve, averting premature exhaustion of the ovarian follicular reserve; and (b) reduction in the responsiveness to FSH of preantral and small antral follicles, restricting ovarian follicular growth. Nevertheless, the relative importance of these specific functions of AMH on fertility is not clear. Ribeiro et al. (2014) was the first to report that cows (a combination of Holstein, Jersey, and Holstein x Jersey crossbreds) with low ( $\leq$ 140.0), intermediate (>140.0 to  $\leq$ 450.0) and high (>451.0) plasma AMH concentrations (pg/mL) did not differ in P/AI following a timed-AI event; however, there was some evidence that cows in the low AMH category had greater embryo mortality after timed-AI, and had lower likelihood of pregnancy establishment after subsequent spontaneous estrus (AI and natural service). Moreover, Jimenez-Krassel et al. (2015) found no association between serum AMH concentrations (categorized into quartiles) in 11 to 15 month old Holstein heifers and subsequent measures of reproductive success as heifers and as lactating cows (conception rate at first AI, days open, calving interval, and services per conception). Of note, however, Jimenez-Krassel et al. (2015) reported that the total percentage of lactating cows that became pregnant across parities one to three combined was significantly lower for cows in the first quartile compared to those in the second or third quartiles, but was not different from cows in the fourth quartile. In the present study, P/AI (34, 43 and 40%; P=0.37) and pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum were similar among low-, intermediate- and high-AMH cows subjected either timed-AI or IDE (Table 1 and Figure 3, respectively). Although no statistical significance was detected, cows IDE that had low

serum AMH concentrations had P/AI that was 8-10% lower than cows with intermediate or high serum AMH concentrations (24, 32 and 34%; P=0.57). Therefore, future studies should focus on the evaluation of circulating AMH and fertility in a larger population of dairy cows inseminated at detected estrus to further test the favorable relationship between circulating AMH concentrations and fertility reported herein and by others (Ribeiro et al., 2014; Jimenez-Krassel et al., 2015).

Similar to the lack of associations reported between serum AMH categories and pregnancy establishment (i.e. P/AI or pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum), PLOSS also not differ between low-, intermediate- and high-AMH categories (20 vs. 12 and 8 %, respectively, P=0.38). This was likely because only a small proportion of cows that became pregnant to first AI contributed towards PLOSS data under each AMH categories (low-AMH = [6/30], intermediate-AMH = [14/113] and high-AMH = [3/36]). In this regard, Ribeiro et al. (2014) found significantly greater pregnancy losses in cows with low plasma AMH concentrations compared with cows with intermediate or high plasma AMH concentrations (17 vs. 9 and 8 %, respectively) and suggested that the greater pregnancy losses observed for cows with low circulating AMH concentration may be at least in part explained by the low-AFC (presumed to have low AMH) - low-progesterone model initially proposed by Jimenez-Krassel et al. (2009). Therefore, the preliminary results on the association between AMH and embryo survival in the current and previous (Ribeiro et al., 2014) studies, and the molecular mechanisms underlying this association warrants further investigation in dairy cows.

The genomic heritability of AMH, and a GWAS identifying potential QTL associated with phenotypic variation in AMH concentrations are novel aspects yet to be explored in dairy cows. A preliminary study by Nawaz et al. (2017) recently estimated a genomic heritability of 0.36 for circulating AMH concentrations using 2,914 Holstein dairy heifers. A slightly greater genomic heritability of 0.46 (SE=0.31) was estimated in the present study; however, caution should be taken when interpreting such a result due to large standard error and small sample size (n=198) used in the heritability estimation after excluding 391 cows that had close familial relationships out of 589 cows genotyped. Interestingly, the moderate heritability estimate reported for circulating AMH in the current study and that of Nawaz et al. (2017) were quite comparable to the heritability estimate of 0.31 reported for AFC in dairy cows (Walsh et al., 2014). In total 670 SNPs across twelve Bos taurus autosomes (BTA) were significantly associated with variation in serum AMH concentration after adjustment for multiple testing (Figure 5). The list of nearest candidate genes identified for each significant lead SNP from their respective chromosomes and the major proteins encoded by those candidate genes are listed in Table 2. Only candidate genes that were related to AMH and fertility are discussed below. The strongest association (p=1.58x10<sup>-8</sup>; q=6.92x10<sup>-5</sup>) on BTA 7 (rs43505499) was located 15.51kb up-stream of the AMH gene, suggesting that variants within AMH or perhaps regulatory regions of this gene are associated with the variability in circulating AMH concentrations. This is further substantiated by the significant association of the up-stream AMH variant rs43505519  $(p=1.49x10^{-7}; q=4.27x10^{-4})$ . Further fine mapping of this genomic region is required to identify the causal variants impacting AMH production. In the interim, however, this QTL could be potentially used to identify heifers and cows as potential donors for future superovulation programs.

The strongest associations with AMH variation were located on BTA 11, where 513 SNPs within a 14Mb region remained significantly associated after adjustment for multiple testing. Several putative candidate genes were identified within close proximity (<200kb) of the strongest

association (rs109286956) including *SCAI* and *PPP6C*. Indeed, three of the five strongest associations on BTA11 (rs109629605, rs109469337, and rs109162401) were located within regulatory regions of *PPP6C*, which has been recently described as indispensable for mouse embryogenesis after implantation; mice lacking the Ppp6c phosphatase domain showed clear developmental defects after implantation and no viable pups were born (Ogah et al., 2016). In addition, *SCAI* deficiency has also been associated with subfertility in mice, whereby *SCAI* deficient mice were found to contain few or no developing primary follicles, and showed a seven-fold reduction in fertility rates in comparison to controls (Hansen et al., 2016).

Furthermore, the candidate genes *FGF18* and *EEF2K* identified on BTA 20 and 25, respectively, have also been related to embryonic development in mice (Ohbayashi et al., 2002; Chu et al., 2014). The strongest association on BTA 20, rs110249317 (at 3.1 Mb) was an intronic variant within the candidate gene FGF18. This gene encodes the member of the fibroblast growth factor family that is known to be involved in a variety of biological processes, including embryonic development, cell growth, morphogenesis, tissue repair, tumor growth, and invasion (Ornitz and Itoh. 2015). Obbayashi et al. (2002) reported that deletion of the FGF18 gene affected skeletal development in mice embryos by reducing the proliferation of osteogenic mesenchymal cells and terminal differentiation of osteoblasts in the calvarial bone. Similarly, the lead SNP rs137098518 (at 20.1 Mb) on BTA 25 is an intronic variant within the candidate gene *EEF2K*, and encodes a highly conserved protein kinase enzyme, which plays a key role in the calmodulinmediated signaling pathway that links activation of cell surface receptors to cell division (Berchtold and Villalobo. 2014). Deletion of the gene *EEF2K* in mice has been shown to result in reduced ovarian apoptosis, with consequent accumulation of aberrant follicles and defective oocytes at advanced reproductive age (Chu et al., 2014). Perhaps, numerically fewer pregnancy

losses observed in cows with high circulating AMH in the present study could be at least partially explained by the functions of above four candidate genes that are in linkage disequilibrium with genetic markers identified for variation in circulating AMH concentration. However, these genomic associations would require validation in dairy cows. In addition, it is important we recognize that fertility is a highly polygenic trait under the control of thousands of SNP effects (Minozzi et al., 2013) and these candidate genes are some of many that contribute marginally to the phenotypic variance.

In summary, we identified four main results: (1) serum AMH concentrations were not associated with herd, pre-calving BCS, postpartum week and season of sampling, but lactation number had a quadratic relationship with serum AMH concentrations; (2) an optimum circulating AMH threshold predictive of P/AI could not be established; (3) categories of serum AMH had no associations with P/AI, PLOSS or pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum, and (4) one candidate gene associated with AMH production (*AMH* gene on BTA 7) and four candidate genes related to embryo development (*SCAI* and *PPP6C* genes on BTA 11 and *FGF18* and *EEF2K* genes on BTA 20 and 25, respectively) were in linkage disequilibrium with SNPs associated with phenotypic variation in serum AMH in dairy cows.

## 5.5. Acknowledgments

This project was financially supported in part by Growing Forward 2, a federalprovincial-territorial initiative (*Research Opportunities and Innovation - Internal Initiatives Projects* # *DA7642064 and MC4234670*). We thank Alberta Livestock and Meat Agency (Grant #2016F056R) and Alberta Milk for supporting parts of this research. M. Gobikrushanth is a recipient of the Teagasc-University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship sponsored by Alberta Innovates Biosolutions. We acknowledge Ansh Labs (Webster, Texas) for their in-kind contribution of discounted pricing on AMH assays. The authors thank Amir Behrouzi and Courtney Felton of Livestock Research and Extension Branch, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, Irene Lopez-Helguera, visiting scientist from University of Lleida, Spain, and Tianfu Yang, Tony Bruinje, Patricia Dutra, Rohanna Wang and Ashley L'Hirondelle of University of Alberta for their assistance during the study. The authors thank the staff of the Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta, the owners of the commercial dairy farms (Breevliet Ltd, Wetaskiwin; Enterprises Lavoie Inc., St. Isidore; Five Star Cattle Company, Lacombe; Tuxedo Farms, Westlock; Vanden Dool Farms, Picture Butte; Yoke Farm Ltd, Westlock) and the herd veterinarians for their cooperation and participation.

Variable	Least square means for Pregnancy to first AI, % (no./no.)	Odds ratio estimates	95% CI	<i>P</i> -value	
<sup>1</sup> AMH category					
High-AMH	40.2 (36/92)	1.29	0.67-2.47	0.37	
Intermediate-AMH	43.2 (113/276)	1.46	0.86-2.49		
Low-AMH	34.2 (30/92)	Reference			
<sup>2</sup> Type of AI					
IDE	38.4 (63/164)	0.97	0.65-1.43	0.87	
TAI	39.2 (116/296)	Reference			
Herd					
Α	48.0 (40/80)	0.72	0.20-2.61	0.16	
В	39.4 (37/99)	0.51	0.14-1.82		
С	20.0 (3/15)	0.19	0.03-1.12		
D	37.0 (54/146)	0.51	0.14-1.84		
Е	29.0 (20/69)	0.33	0.09-1.20		
F	48.7 (19/39)	0.70	0.18-2.70		
G	50.0 (6/12)	Reference			
Parity					
Multiparous	33.4 (106/308)	0.61	0.39-0.95	0.03	
Primiparous	45.2 (73/152)	Reference			
<sup>3</sup> Pre-calving BCS					
High (>3.00)	40.2 (78/194)	0.93	0.55-1.56	0.79	
Low (≤3.00)	38.0 (101/266)	Reference			
<sup>4</sup> Post-calving BCS					
High (>2.75)	46.7 (85/185)	1.54	0.93-2.56	0.09	
Low (≤2.75)	34.2 (94/275)	Reference			
<sup>5</sup> 305-d ME milk yield					
(kg)					
High (>11,092)	33.3 (79/237)	0.77	0.50-1.17	0.21	
Low (≤11,092)	44.8 (100/223)	Reference			

**Table 5. 1.** Associations among categories of serum anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), type of AI, herd, parity, pre- and post-calving body condition score, 305-d mature-equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first AI (P/AI) in a subset of 460 Holstein cows

<sup>1</sup>AMH category: The mean and range of serum AMH concentrations (pg/mL) for cows grouped into low- (mean=56.6; range=13.9 to 81.7), intermediate- (mean=164.6; range=83.8 to 284.9), and high-AMH (mean=421.4; range=287.4 to 1879.0) categories.

<sup>2</sup>Type of AI; Cows were inseminated at detected estrus (IDE) or timed-AI (TAI) following synchronization of ovulation.

<sup>3</sup> and <sup>4</sup>: Categories of pre-calving BCS (determined between one and two weeks before calving) and post-calving BCS (determined between four and six weeks after calving) were based on pre-calving BCS of 3.00 and post-calving BCS of 2.75. <sup>5</sup>Cows were categorized as High or Low if 305-d ME milk yield was > or ≤ the mean within each herd, respectively. Overall mean across herds was 11,092 kg

<sup>1</sup> BTA	Position ( <sup>2</sup> Mb)	<sup>3</sup> Number of SNP/s	Lead SNP	Lead SNP ( <sup>4</sup> bp)	<sup>5</sup> P	<sup>6</sup> Q	Minor allele frequency	Number of genes within <sup>7</sup> QTL	Name of the nearest candidate gene	Major protein encoded by candidate gene
3	121.191- 121.238	4	rs41723399	121192377	4.18 x 10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.04	0.28	2	ING5	Tumor suppressor protein
5	112.865- 112.865	1	rs110707003	112864693	4.43x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.05	0.45	1	EP300	E1A Binding Protein P300
7	22.489-23.190	44	rs43505499	22681472	1.58 x 10 <sup>-8</sup>	6.92 x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.26	21	AMH	АМН
9	16.548-16.548	1	rs42748550	16547693	3.77X10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.04	0.17	-	-	-
11	88.859- 102.944	513	rs109286956	95849270	1.33 x 10 <sup>-15</sup>	8.14x 10 <sup>-</sup>	0.14	213	РРР6С	Catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase
12	23.363-23.375	2	rs133561787	23363138	2.65x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.03	0.05	1	FREM2	FRAS1 Related Extracellular Matrix Protein 2
18	6.331-6.338	3	rs109461605	6334071	3.65 x 10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.04	0.24	-	-	-
20	2.947-3.188	6	rs110249317	3188231	5.96x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.01	0.38	5	FGF18	Member of the fibroblast growth factor
20	61.871-67.981	80	rs109765164	65483549	8.30x10 <sup>-7</sup>	0.002	0.36	21	MTRR	Member of the ferredoxin-NADP(+) reductase family of electron transferases
21	42.438-45.293	6	rs133903040	42443958	4.97x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.009	0.34	5	NUBPL	Member of the Mrp/NBP35 ATP- binding proteins family
22	53.203-54.030	6	rs43364068	53203469	7.70x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.01	0.11	22	PTHIR	Member of the G-protein coupled receptor family 2
24	26.493-26.985	2	rs135359222	26493099	7.88x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.01	0.31	-	DSC3	Calcium-dependent glycoprotein
25	20.147-20.147	1	rs137098518	20146996	2.74x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.03	0.41	1	EEF2K	Highly conserved protein kinase

Table 5. 2. Genomic regions associated with anti-Müllerian hormone production after adjustment for multiple testing. The strongest association within each region is identified as well as the nearest putative candidate gene

<sup>1</sup>BTA: *Bos taurus* autosome

<sup>3</sup>Number of SNP/s: Number of significant single nucleotide polymorphisms within the region after adjusting for multiple testing (false discovery rate < 0.05) <sup>4</sup>bp: Base pairs

<sup>6</sup>P: unadjusted *P*-value of the most strongly associated SNP within the region <sup>6</sup>Q: adjusted *P*-value of the most strongly associated SNP within the region

<sup>7</sup>QTL: Quantitative trait loci

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mb: Mega base



**Figure 5. 1.** The distribution of serum AMH concentrations at 7 ( $\pm$ 2.4) d postpartum in all 647 lactating Holstein cows. The lowest and highest serum AMH concentrations were 13.9 and 1879.0 pg/mL, respectively.



**Figure 5. 2.** The associations among herd, lactation number, pre-calving BCS, week postpartum, season and serum AMH concentrations at 7 ( $\pm$ 2.4) d postpartum in a subset of 460 lactating Holstein cows (A, B, C, D, and E, respectively). The serum concentrations of AMH (transformed values) were back transformed for ease of interpretation.



**Figure 5. 3.** Kaplan-Meier survival curve illustrating the probability of pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum based on anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) concentrations (pg/mL) in serum categorized as low- (mean=56.6; range=13.9 to 81.7; n=92), intermediate- (mean=164.6; range=83.8 to 284.9; n=276), or high-AMH categories (mean=421.4; range=287.4 to 1879.0; n=92) in a subset of 460 lactating Holstein cows. The overall likelihood of pregnancy by 250 d postpartum did not differ between categories of AMH (P=0.44). The hazard of pregnancy risk up to 250 d postpartum was 1.18 [confidence interval; 0.85-1.65; P=0.33]) for cows in the high-AMH category than for those in low-AMH category and 1.19 [confidence interval; 0.91-1.56; P=0.0.21]) for cows in the intermediate-AMH category than for those in low-AMH category.



**Figure 5. 4.** Manhattan plot of the genome-wide association P-values for transformed serum AMH concentrations across 589 genotyped lactating Holstein cows. The red horizontal line indicates significant single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) identified across twelve Bos taurus autosomes (BTA 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 12, 18, 20, 21, 22, 24 and 25) after adjusting for false discovery rate of <0.05.
Chapter 6. The relationship between serum insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) concentration and reproductive performance, and genome-wide associations for serum IGF-1 in Holstein cows

#### 6.1. Abstract

The objectives of this study were to determine (1) factors associated with serum concentration of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), (2) the relationship between serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum and ovarian cyclicity status by 35 d postpartum (DPP), (3) an optimum serum IGF-1 concentration threshold predictive of pregnancy to first artificial insemination (P/AI) including its diagnostic values, (4) the associations among categories of serum IGF-1 concentration and reproductive outcomes (P/AI and pregnancy risk up to 150 and 250 DPP), and (5) single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) associated with phenotypic variation in serum IGF-1 concentration in dairy cows. Serum IGF-1 concentration was determined at 7 ( $\pm$ 2.4) DPP in 647 lactating Holstein cows (213 primiparous, 434 multiparous) from seven herds in Alberta, Canada.

The overall mean (±standard error of the mean), median, minimum and maximum serum IGF-1 concentrations during the first week postpartum were 37.8 (±1.23), 31.0, 20.0 and 225.0 ng/mL, respectively. Herd, age, parity, pre-calving body condition score and season of blood sampling were all identified as factors associated with serum IGF-1 concentrations. Although serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum had no association with ovarian cyclicity status by 35 DPP in primiparous cows, it was greater in cyclic than in acyclic multiparous cows (32.2 vs. 27.4 ng/mL, respectively). The optimum serum IGF-1 thresholds predictive of P/AI were 85.0 ng/mL (sensitivity: 31.9; specificity: 89.1%) and 31.0 ng/mL

(sensitivity: 45.5; specificity 66.9%) for primiparous and multiparous cows, respectively. When cows were grouped into either high or low IGF-1 categories (> or  $\leq$ 85.0 ng/mL for primiparous cows and > or  $\leq$ 31.0 ng/mL for multiparous cows, respectively) primiparous cows with high IGF-1 had 4.43 times greater odds of P/AI and a tendency for higher pregnancy risk up to 150 DPP than those with low IGF-1, but not up to 250 DPP. Likewise, multiparous cows with high IGF-1 had 1.61 times greater odds of P/AI than those with low IGF-1. Pregnancy risk up to 150 and 250 DPP, however, did not differ between IGF-1 categories in multiparous cows. Moreover, 37 SNPs across ten *Bos taurus* autosomes were associated with variation in serum IGF-1 concentration, and four previously identified candidate genes related to fertility that were in linkage disequilibrium with some of these SNP were also identified.

Key words: fertility traits, genome-wide association study, reproductive efficiency

#### 6.2. Background

The insulin-like growth factor-1 (**IGF-1**) is a low molecular weight peptide mainly produced by liver (Lund et al., 1986), and controls the growth and differentiation of different cell types in the body through activation of cell cycle (Rechler and Nissley 1990). Hence, it plays a key role in the control of postnatal growth, mammary gland development, lactation and reproduction in dairy cows (Lammers et al., 1999; Jiang and Lucy, 2001; Renaville et al., 2002; Butler 2003).

During the early postpartum period, cows are in a state of negative energy balance (NEB) due to high milk yield and low dry matter intake (Butler and Smith 1989), where the growth hormone (GH)-IGF-1 axis is uncoupled due to down regulation of GH-receptors in liver (McGuire et al., 1995; Kobayashi et al., 1999). This in turn is associated with decreased IGF-1

and increased GH concentrations to promote the action of GH on lipolysis and gluconeogenesis to favor the milk production (Lucy et al., 2001). Insulin-like growth factor-1 is also essential for reproduction by acting synergistically with gonadotropins (Lucy et al., 1992; Spicer et al., 1993; Beam and Butler 1999). Therefore, partitioning of nutrients mainly towards milk production, indicated by high NEB /low IGF-1 concentration jeopardizes the fertility of dairy cows (Butler 2000).

As a potential fertility trait, circulating concentration of IGF-1 has been identified as having high variability, moderate heritability and positive associations with fertility (see review by Velazquez et al., 2008). Zulu et al. (2002) and Moyes (2004) reported that postpartum concentrations of circulating IGF-1 were highly variable among dairy cows. While 18 to 48% of this variation was attributable to genetic variation (Grochowska et al., 2001; Stirling et al., 2008; Hayhurst et al., 2009), the remaining variation was influenced by other factors such as postpartum nutrient intake, body weight and body condition score (**BCS**) at calving, and parity in cattle (Ciccioli et al., 2003; Pushpakumara et al., 2003; Wathes et al., 2003, respectively). Previous studies also reported that cows with high circulating IGF-1 concentrations postpartum had greater pregnancy to first AI (**P/AI**) than those with low circulating IGF-1 (Pushpakumara et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2004; Kawashima et al., 2007; Patton et al., 2007; Falkenberg et al., 2008).

Although previous studies reported a positive association between circulating IGF-1 concentration and fertility, most of them were primarily based on multiparous cows only (Lucy et al., 1992; Beam and Butler 1997; Pushpakumara et al., 2003; Kawashima et al., 2007; Patton et al., 2007; Falkenberg et al., 2008). Taylor et al. (2004) used a combination of 177 primiparous and 142 multiparous cows to evaluate the association between circulating IGF-1 concentration and P/AI; however, the sensitivity and specificity (diagnostic values) for optimum IGF-1

threshold predictive of P/AI were not reported. Falkenberg et al. (2008) reported that determining circulating IGF-1 concentration at early postpartum (1, 4, 10, 20 or 40 d postpartum [**DPP**]) had a very limited diagnostic value in predicting P/AI in multiparous cows but such evaluations are unknown in primiparous cows.

Recent evidence suggest that despite similar milk yield, cows with high genetic merit for fertility were able to maintain better body condition and had greater circulating IGF-1 concentration than cows with poor genetic merit for fertility (Cummins et al., 2012; Moore et al., 2014). This finding suggests the existence of potential genetic differences for circulating IGF-1 among cows that are genetically divergent in fertility. Consequently, the identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms **(SNP)** associated with phenotypic variation in circulating IGF-1 concentrations and the subsequent incorporation of these SNP within genomic evaluations may help to accurately identify females with high circulating IGF-1 to enhance fertility in dairy cows. The main hypotheses of the present study were that the threshold serum IGF-1 concentration predictive of P/AI will differ between primiparous and multiparous cows, and SNPs associated with phenotypic variation in serum IGF-1 will be identified.

Our objectives were to determine (1) the factors associated with serum concentration of IGF-1, (2) the association between serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum and ovarian cyclicity status by 35 DPP, (3) an optimum serum IGF-1 threshold predictive of P/AI and its diagnostic values for primiparous and multiparous cows, (4) the associations among categories of serum IGF-1 concentration and reproductive outcomes (P/AI and pregnancy risk up to 150 and 250 DPP) for primiparous and multiparous cows, and (5) SNP associated with phenotypic variation in serum IGF-1 concentrations through a genome-wide association study (GWAS).

#### 6.3. Materials and methods

#### 6.3.1. Animals and management

This study was conducted in the Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta and six commercial dairy herds located in Alberta, between November 2014 and November 2015. Animals were housed and cared for in accordance with the requirements of Canadian Council on Animal Care (2009). Cows were fed a total mixed ration (primary ingredients were barley or corn silage, alfalfa silage, alfalfa hay, and concentrates) formulated according to NRC (2001) and had *ad libitum* access to potable water. Cows from four herds were subjected to GnRH-based synchronization protocols and inseminated without estrus detection for the first and subsequent AIs (timed-AI; **TAI**), whereas, cows from three herds were inseminated at detected estrus (**IDE**).

#### 6.3.2. Blood sampling and determination of serum concentration of IGF-1

Blood samples were collected at (mean±SD)  $7 \pm 2.4$  DPP (hereafter referred to as during the first week postpartum) from 647 lactating Holstein cows (213 primiparous, 434 multiparous) from a coccygeal blood vessel using evacuated Vacutainer® (Becton Dickinson and Company, New Jersey, USA) clot-activator tubes (serum tubes) for serum IGF-1 determination and anticoagulant K<sub>2</sub> EDTA coated tubes (EDTA tubes) for genotyping. Blood samples were collected after morning milking when cows had just been offered fresh feed. After collection, serum tubes were left undisturbed for about 2 h to allow clot formation, centrifuged at 1500 *x* g for 20 min at 4°C and the serum was harvested and frozen at -20 °C until assayed for IGF-1. The EDTA tubes containing whole blood were frozen at -20 °C until processed for genotyping. Serum concentrations (ng/mL) of IGF-1 were determined at Endocrine Lab Services, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada using a solid phase, enzyme-labelled chemi-luminescent immunometric assay (IMMULITE, Siemens, Tarrytown, NY, USA) in singlicate, with every fifth sample run in duplicate, as previously described (Elmlinger et al., 2005). The samples were diluted 1:10 with the pre-treatment solution provided with the kit. The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 7.8% for low reference samples (mean, 75.0 ng/mL) and 7.2% for high reference samples (mean, 236.5 ng/mL) and the sensitivity of the assay was 20 ng/ml. When an IGF-1 concentration fell below the assay sensitivity (<20.0 ng/mL), it was considered as 10.0 ng/mL.

# 6.3.3. Determination of age, body condition score (BCS), ovarian cyclicity status, reproductive measurements and 305-d mature-equivalent milk yield

The age (yr) of the cow was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of serum IGF-1 determination. The BCS was determined between one and two weeks before to the estimated calving date (hereafter referred to as pre-calving BCS) and again between four and six weeks after calving (hereafter referred to as post-calving BCS) on a 1-5 scale system measured in increments of 0.25 units (1 = thin, 5 = fat) as previously described (Edmonson et al., 1989). The ovarian cyclicity status (cyclic; presence of at least one corpus luteum and acyclic: absence of a corpus luteum) was determined between 28 and 35 DPP (hereafter referred to as by 35 DPP) using transrectal ultrasonography. The data on reproductive outcomes and 305-d mature-equivalent (**ME**) milk yield were retrieved at the end of the production cycle using DairyComp 305 herd management software (Valley Agricultural Software, Tulare, CA, USA).

#### 6.3.4. Genotyping, quality control and imputation

DNA extraction was performed on blood samples drawn from a subset of 589 lactating Holstein cows using the Qiagen BioSprint 96 DNA (3840) Kit blood and tissue protocol (Qiagen, Toronto, ON). DNA samples were normalized and genotyped according to the Illumina Infinium Ultra protocol (Illumina, San Diego, CA) and markers were scored on the Bovine Geneseek Genomic Profiler 26K Beadchip (Neogen Inc, Lincoln, NE) at Delta Genomics (Edmonton, AB, Canada). The beadchips were scanned using the Illumina HiScan (Illumina) and the raw data was processed and exported using Genome Studio 2.0 software according to the Genome Studio Framework User Guide (Illumina) based on selection criteria of at least 95% animal call rate.

Genotype quality control was performed using PLINK v1.09 (Purcell et al., 2007). After excluding SNP with an unknown, Y chromosomal or mitochondrial position, SNP with a call rate <90%, minor allele frequency (**MAF**) <0.01 and those that deviated significantly from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium ( $P \le 10^{-6}$ ) were also removed. All animals had a genotype call rate >90% and 19,896 SNP remained after edits. To increase the density of SNP panel for GWAS, imputation to the Illumina Bovine High Density (**HD**) beadchip was performed using FImpute2 (Sargolzaei et al., 2014). Imputation was completed using a two-step approach whereby the 589 animals were first imputed to the Illumina BovineSNP50 chip using a reference population of 3,532 Irish Holstein-Friesian BovineSNP50 genotyped animals, and subsequently imputed to HD density using a reference population of 974 Irish Holstein-Friesian HD genotyped animals. After imputation, all 589 cows had 636,471 SNP with a MAF >0.01 for analysis.

### 6.3.5. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). The descriptive statistics and normality for serum IGF-1 concentration were first determined in all 647 cows (213 primiparous, 434 multiparous) using the UNIVARIATE procedure.

The differences in serum IGF-1 concentration (dependent continuous variable) among herd (A, B, C, D, E, F and G), age (2, 3, 4 and  $\geq$ 5 yr), parity (primiparous and multiparous), precalving BCS (categorized as high and low BCS; >3.00 and  $\leq$ 3.00, respectively) and season of blood sampling (fall [September, October and November], spring [March, April and May], summer [June, July and August] and winter [December, January and February]) were determined in a subset of 460 cows (152 primiparous cows and 308 multiparous cows) that had complete data available on all explanatory variables studied. The non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was employed because of the non-normal distribution for serum IGF-1 concentration. Pairwise comparisons for levels within each significant factor were performed using the Dunn-Bonferroni post-hoc test.

The proportion of cows cyclic by 35 DPP for primiparous (n = 152) and multiparous (n = 308) cows was compared using chi-squared analysis using the FREQ procedure in the subset of 460 cows. The differences in serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum in cows stratified by ovarian cyclicity status (cyclic vs. acyclic) by 35 DPP determined within primiparous (n = 152) and multiparous (n = 308) cows by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test. The results from the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test were based on Wilcoxon scores (rank sums) estimated for the variable serum IGF-1; however, the mean values for serum IGF-1 concentration were reported in the related figures (Figure 1 and 2) for ease of interpretation.

Out of 647 cows enrolled, the relationship between P/AI (binomial outcome) and serum IGF-1 concentration (predictor continuous variable) during the first week postpartum was first evaluated, separately for primiparous (n = 186) and multiparous (n = 377) cows that had P/AI data (n = 573) available, by logistic regression analysis using the LOGISTIC procedure. The serum IGF-1 concentration predictive of P/AI, including specificity and sensitivity, was determined using receiver operating characteristic (**ROC**) curve analysis separately for primiparous and multiparous cows. The ROC curves analyze sensitivity and 1 – specificity. Sensitivity is the proportion of cows above the optimum IGF-1 threshold diagnosed pregnant to first AI, and specificity is the proportion of cows below the optimum IGF-1 threshold diagnosed

as not pregnant to first AI. The optimum serum IGF-1 concentration threshold was chosen based on the highest Youden's J statistic index. The significance of the optimum serum IGF-1 concentration threshold was determined based on the area under the curve (AUC), where the AUC ranged from 0.50 to 1.00, with AUC of 0.50 considered non-informative and the AUC of 1.00 considered perfect as previously described (Swets, 1988). Thereafter, cows were classified into either high or low IGF-1 categories ( $>or\leq$ ), separately for primiparous and multiparous cows, based on the optimum serum IGF-1 concentration threshold determined by the ROC curve analysis.

The association among categories of serum IGF-1 (high and low IGF-1), herd (A, B, C, D, E, F and G), type of AI (IDE and TAI), ovarian cyclicity status by 35 DPP (cyclic and acyclic), pre-calving BCS (categorized as high and low BCS; >3.00 and  $\leq$ 3.00, respectively), post-calving BCS (categorized as high and low BCS; >2.75 and  $\leq$ 2.75, respectively), season of IGF-1 blood sampling (fall [September, October and November], spring [March, April and May], summer [June, July and August] and winter [December, January and February]), 305-d ME milk yield (categorized as high and low 305-d ME milk yield; based on the mean 305-d ME milk yield within each herd) and P/AI was analyzed, separately for primiparous (n = 152) and multiparous (n = 308) cows, using the GLIMMIX procedure in the subset of 460 cows that had complete data available on the explanatory variables studied. The model specifications included a binomial distribution and logit function, and an option to retrieve odds ratios and their confidence limits. The P/AI was initially modelled against all of the aforementioned categorical variables and their interactions. As none of the interactions were significant, they were removed from the final model.

The differences in intervals from calving to pregnancy risk up to 150 and 250 DPP between categories of serum IGF-1, separately for primiparous (n = 152) and multiparous (n = 308) cows, were evaluated using the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis (LIFETEST procedure). The results from Kaplan-Meier survival analysis were confirmed by a cox proportional hazard model (PHREG procedure). Significant differences were reported if  $P \le 0.05$  and considered to be a tendency if P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

#### 6.3.6. Genome-wide association study for circulating IGF-1 concentration

Whole genome association analysis was performed in genome-wide complex trait analysis (Yang et al., 2011) using a mixed linear model based association based on the leave-onechromosome-out method (Yang et al., 2014). The following model was used;  $y = \mu + bx +$  $g^- + e$ , where y is the IGF-1 category classified separately for primiparous and multiparous cows as previously described,  $\mu$  is the overall mean, b is a vector of fixed effects including herd, parity, pre-calving BCS, season of blood sampling and the additive effect of the candidate **SNP** tested for association, x is the incidence matrix for the parameters b,  $g^-$  is the accumulated polygenic effect of all SNP except those on the chromosome where the candidate SNP is located and e is the residual. False discovery rate (FDR) control was performed using the Benjamini-Hochberg method using a FDR of 0.05. Gene search was completed using Ensembl (<u>http://ensembl.org/</u>) and NCBI map viewer (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/gdv/</u>) on the University of Maryland assembly of *Bos taurus* 3.1 genome build (UMD 3.1, College Park, MD). The relative roles of nearest candidate genes were searched using Bovine Genome Database (<u>http://bovinegenome.org/</u>).

#### 6.4. Results and discussion

The overall mean ( $\pm$ SEM), median, minimum and maximum serum IGF-1 concentrations during the first week postpartum were 37.8 ( $\pm$ 1.23), 31.0, 20.0 and 225.0 ng/mL. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the relationship between several risk factors (e.g. herd, age, parity, BCS and season of blood sampling for IGF-1) and serum IGF-1 concentration in a single large experiment comprising both primiparous and multiparous cows (Figure 1). It has been previously reported that circulating IGF-1 concentrations were significantly greater in primiparous than multiparous cows (Wathes et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2004; Grimard et al., 2013). Similarly, the results from the current study indicated that circulating concentration of IGF-1 gradually declined with age (Figure 1b), and was approximately two-fold greater in primiparous cows than in multiparous cows (Figure 1c). The above findings collectively indicate the requirement for high circulating IGF-1 in young cows to support their body growth until they reach physical maturity (Kerr et al., 1991).

In the current study, serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum was greater in cows with high pre-calving BCS than in cows with low pre-calving BCS (Figure 1d), which is in agreement with previous reports (Pushpakumara et al., 2003; Meikle et al., 2004; Cummins et al., 2012). Interestingly, serum concentration of IGF-1 was greater in samples collected during winter than in the other seasons (Figure 1e). High serum IGF-1 concentration reported during winter in the current study supports the initial observation of Spicer et al. (1990) who reported an inverse relationship between ambient temperature and circulating IGF-1 in 11 lactating multiparous cows. It is plausible that high energy requirements in winter to meet increased metabolic rate (Young 1981) stimulated greater dry matter intake and thereby resulted in greater secretion of IGF-1 during winter than rest of the seasons. The serum concentration of

IGF-1 was quite similar among herds except for herd B (Figure 1a). The greater IGF-1 concentration observed for herd B compared with other herds was likely due to approximately 50% of cows from this herd being sampled during winter months. In addition to the risk factors studied (e.g. herd, age, parity, BCS and season of blood sampling), the differences among cows in their feed intake and energy status on the day of blood sampling for serum IGF-1 may also have contributed to the variation observed in serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum in the current study.

Overall, 57% of the cows were cyclic by 35 DPP, which agrees with a recent report from our lab (Bruinjé et al., 2017) wherein 53% of dairy cows had commenced their ovarian cyclicity by 35 DPP based on progesterone concentrations determined through an automated in-line milk analysis system. A higher proportion of multiparous cows tended to be cyclic by 35 DPP than primiparous cows (60 vs. 52%; P = 0.07), despite primiparous cows having two-fold greater concentrations of serum IGF-1 than multiparous cows. Insulin-like growth factor-1 acts synergistically with gonadotropins to promote early postpartum ovarian follicular growth and ovulation in dairy cows (Lucy et al., 1992; Spicer et al., 1993; Beam and Butler 1997). For example, circulating IGF-1 concentrations were reported to be 40 to 50% greater during first two weeks postpartum in multiparous cows having an ovulatory dominant follicle compared with cows that had a non-ovulatory dominant follicle (Beam and Butler 1997). Similarly, Patton et al. (2007) showed that circulating concentrations of IGF-1 during first two weeks postpartum were negatively associated with commencement of luteal activity in multiparous cows. Although serum IGF-1 concentration determined during the first week postpartum was not associated with ovarian cyclicity status by 35 DPP in primiparous cows (cyclic vs. acyclic; 62.1 vs. 60.8 ng/mL), it was greater in cyclic than acyclic multiparous cows (32.2 vs. 27.4 ng/mL; Figure 2). The lack of association reported herein between circulating IGF-1 concentration and ovarian cyclicity status in primiparous cows might be attributable to partitioning of nutrients mainly towards growth and milk production than supporting other biological functions (Wathes et al., 2007).

Taylor et al. (2004) suggested that multiparous cows with circulating IGF-1 concentration < 25.0 ng/mL were less likely to conceive to first AI, and therefore it is cost-effective to delay the first service in those cows until the circulating IGF-1 has increased to a concentration  $\geq 50$ ng/mL. Those authors did not, however, report the sensitivity and specificity of using 25.0 ng/mL as an optimum threshold predictive of P/AI. In contrast, Falkenberg et al. (2008) concluded that determining circulating IGF-1 concentration either at 1, 4, 10, 20 or 40 d postpartum has very limited diagnostic value to predict P/AI in multiparous cows. Hence, the optimum IGF-1 concentration threshold that is predictive of P/AI, including its diagnostic values, is unknown in primiparous cows. In the current study, the optimum serum IGF-1 threshold predictive of P/AI was 85.0 ng/mL for primiparous cows (Figure 3a) and 31.0 ng/mL for multiparous cows (Figure 3b). The optimum serum IGF-1 threshold established for multiparous cows in the present study (31.0 ng/mL) was comparable to 25.0 ng/mL threshold reported by Taylor et al. (2004). Primiparous cows, however, required greater serum IGF-1 threshold concentration (~50.0 ng/mL more) for optimal prediction of P/AI than multiparous cows. Nevertheless, the sensitivities of these optimum serum IGF-1 concentration thresholds were moderate in both primiparous and multiparous cows (31.9 and 45.5 %, respectively) despite relatively higher specificities (89.1 and 66.9%, respectively). Therefore, the routine measurement of early postpartum circulating IGF-1 concentrations to predict P/AI and thereby to manage low IGF-1 cows with enhanced nutritional strategies or even to delay the first service to improve P/AI seems neither practical nor economically justifiable in either primiparous or multiparous cows.

Positive associations between circulating IGF-1 concentrations and P/AI have been reported in lactating dairy cows (Pushpakumara et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2004; Patton et al., 2007; Falkenberg et al., 2008). In a recent study, Grimard et al. (2013) reported that the likelihood of fertility (proportion of cows pregnant to first and second AI; n = 32) tended to increase with increasing circulating IGF-1 concentration in dairy cows. However, that report did not statistically quantify the magnitude of increment, and did not account for parity. In the current study, for every one-unit (ng/mL) increase in serum IGF-1 concentration, the odds of estimated probability of P/AI increased by 1.1 and 0.9% for primiparous and multiparous cows, respectively (Figure 4a and b). Moreover, primiparous and multiparous cows in the high IGF-1 category had 4.43 and 1.61 times greater odds of P/AI than cows in the low IGF-1 category (Table 1 and 2). These findings collectively indicate a positive association between high circulating IGF-1 concentration and increased P/AI in dairy cows. The effect of IGF-1 on early pregnancy outcomes may be mediated by its endocrine effects on follicular growth, granulosa cell mitogenesis, granulosa and thecal cell steroid production and reproductive tract and endometrial gland secretions to support embryonic growth (Wathes et al., 1997; Robinson et al. 2000; Zulu et al. 2002; Pushpakumara et al., 2002; Fenwick et al., 2008).

Even though the likelihood of pregnancy by 150 DPP was greater in the high IGF-1 category than in low IGF-1 category within primiparous cows, it did not differ between IGF-1 categories within multiparous (Figure 5). The likelihood of pregnancy by 250 DPP did not differ between high and low IGF-1 categories within both primiparous (hazard ratio: 1.40 [confidence interval; 0.93-2.10; P = 0.11]) and multiparous cows (hazard ratio: 0.98 [confidence interval; 0.75-1.27; P = 0.87]). Although, Falkenberg et al. (2008) found no association between circulating concentration of IGF-1 at 1, 4 or 10 DPP and proportion of multiparous cows pregnant

within 200 DPP, they reported that the proportion of multiparous cows pregnant within 200 DPP was smaller for those with low circulating IGF-1 concentration than those with high circulating IGF-1 concentration at 40 DPP. These results collectively indicate that IGF-1 concentration based on a single blood sample collected during the first week postpartum has no predictive value on reproductive performance beyond first service in dairy cows.

Although GWAS evaluating the relationship between SNP in the IGF-1 gene and fertility is recent interest (Mullen et al., 2011; Nicolini et al., 2013), studies unravelling SNP associated with phenotypic variation in circulating IGF-1 concentrations are lacking in dairy cows. In the current study, no SNP remained significantly associated with serum IGF-1 concentration after adjustment for multiple testing. However, 37 SNP of suggestive significance in this study (P<0.0001) were identified across ten *Bos taurus* autosomes (BTA; 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 9, 16, 23 and 26; Figure 6). Genomic regions associated with serum IGF-1 concentration and putative candidate genes within 250 kb up and downstream of the strongest association were listed in Table 3. Of these 37 SNP, those that were in linkage disequilibrium with previously identified candidate genes related to fertility were discussed below. It is noteworthy, however, that no SNP were identified to be in linkage disequilibrium with the candidate gene IGF-1 from BTA 5, and this was likely because the regulation of circulating IGF-1 concentrations may not be primarily controlled by the IGF-1 gene. For example, Schneider et al., (2013) studied the effects of GH receptor (GHR) AluI polymorphism on the reproductive performance of Holstein cows and reported that cows with two (-/-) GHR AluI alleles had the highest serum IGF-1 concentration and shortest calving to conception interval compared to those cows with either one (-/+) or zero (+/+) allele for GHR AluI polymorphism.

We identified four candidate genes (ARHGEF26, HGF, GC and PTPRK) that were in linkage disequilibrium with SNP related to phenotypic variation in serum IGF-1 which have also been previously reported to influence fertility in mice (Uehara et al., 1995) or cattle (Huang et al., 2010; Minten et al., 2013; Killeen et al., 2014). None of these genes, however, is known to regulate serum IGF-1 concentrations in dairy cows. Thus, the results presented herein should be interpreted with caution. The candidate gene ARHGEF26 is located within 215 kb up-stream of the lead SNP rs110526526 (at 114.2 Mb) on BTA 1 and encodes the member of the rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor family. In a recent study, Killeen et al. (2014) reported ARHGEF as one amongst several differentially expressed endometrial genes during the mid-luteal phase of the estrous cycle between beef heifers ranked as either high or low fertility, and identified as functionally related to cell morphology, inflammatory response and lipid metabolism using the ingenuity pathway analysis. The candidate gene HGF (hepatic growth factor) is located 105 kb down-stream of the lead SNP rs42716293 (at 39.1 Mb) on BTA 4, and is involved in cell growth, cell motility and morphogenesis in numerous cell and tissue types. In this regard, Uehara et al. (1995) showed that homozygous mutant mice embryos for HGF gene had severely impaired placentas with markedly reduced numbers of labyrinthine trophoblast cells, and died before birth.

Moreover, the candidate gene GC (Group specific component) is located 217 kb upstream of the lead SNP rs108983037 (at 88.6 Mb) on BTA 6. The protein encoded by this gene belongs to albumin gene family and binds to vitamin D and its plasma metabolites to transport them to target tissues (Cooke and Haddad 1989), where vitamin D has been shown to be essential for endometrial functions and pregnancy success in humans and animal models (Luk et al., 2012). In a recent study, Minten et al. (2013) demonstrated that the gene GC was differentially expressed in the endometrium of infertile, sub-fertile and highly fertile beef heifers at d 14 of the estrous cycle. Finally, the lead SNP rs109274083 on BTA 9 is an intronic variant within the candidate gene *PTPRK*, which encodes the member of the protein tyrosine phosphatase family and is known to regulate a variety of cellular processes including cell growth and differentiation. Huang et al. (2010) showed that *PTPRK* was down regulated by at least four-fold in in-vitro derived degenerative embryos compared to blastocysts in cattle. Perhaps, greater P/AI reported for cows with high circulating IGF-1could at least partially supported by the roles of aforementioned candidate genes that are in genomic regions identified for variation in circulating IGF-1 concentrations in addition to the direct effect of circulating IGF-1 on fertility. Moreover, it is important to recognize that fertility is a highly polygenic trait under the control of thousands of SNP effects (Minozzi et al., 2013) and these candidate genes are some of many that contribute marginally to the phenotypic variance.

In summary, (1) serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum was associated with herd, age, parity, BCS at pre-calving and season of blood sampling, (2) cyclic multiparous cows had greater serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum compared with acyclic multiparous cows, (3) optimum serum IGF-1 thresholds predictive of P/AI, separately for primiparous and multiparous cows, were identified; however, the reliability of IGF-1 as a predictor of P/AI is low due to its moderate sensitivity, (4) primiparous and multiparous cows with high circulating IGF-1 concentration had greater P/AI than those with low circulating IGF-1, and (5) 37 SNP associated with phenotypic variation in serum IGF-1 concentrations across ten chromosomes (BTA; 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 9, 16, 23, 25 and 26), and four previously identified candidate genes related to fertility that were in linkage disequilibrium with some of these SNP were identified. Despite identification of SNP, the collective findings suggest that a single measurement of serum IGF-1 concentration during the first week postpartum might

not be an accurate predictor of fertility given the many factors that influence reproductive success in dairy cows.

#### 6.5. Acknowledgments

This project was financially supported in part by Growing Forward 2, a federalprovincial-territorial initiative (Research Opportunities and Innovation - Internal Initiatives Projects # DA7642064 and MC4234670, Livestock Research and Extension Branch, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, Edmonton, Canada). We thank Alberta Livestock and Meat Agency (Grant #2016F056R) and Alberta Milk, Edmonton, Canada for supporting parts of this research. M. Gobikrushanth is a recipient of the Teagasc-University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship sponsored by Alberta Innovates Biosolutions, Edmonton, Canada. The authors thank Amir Behrouzi and Courtney Felton of Livestock Research and Extension Branch, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, Edmonton, Canada, Irene Lopez-Helguera, visiting scientist from University of Lleida, Spain, and Tianfu Yang, Tony Bruinje, Patricia Dutra, Rohanna Wang and Ashley L'Hirondelle of University of Alberta for their assistance during the study. The authors thank the staff of the Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta, the owners of the commercial dairy farms (Breevliet Ltd, Wetaskiwin; Enterprises Lavoie Inc., St. Isidore; Five Star Cattle Company, Lacombe; Tuxedo Farms, Westlock; Vanden Dool Farms, Picture Butte; Yoke Farm Ltd, Westlock) and the herd veterinarians for their cooperation and participation.

Variable	Pregnancy to first AL %	Odds ratio	95 % CI	<i>P</i> -value
	(no./no.)	estimates		1
<sup>1</sup> IGF-1 category (ng/mL)		••••••••		
High-IGF-1 (>85.0)	74.3 (28/38)	4.43	(1.51-12.96)	< 0.01
Low-IGF-1(≤85.0)	44.2 (45/114)	Reference	· · · · · ·	
Herd				
Α	60.9 (14/23)	-	-	0.10
В	45.7 (16/35)	-	-	
С	0.0 (0/5)	-	-	
D	56.6 (30/53)	-	-	
Ε	26.3 (5/19)	-	-	
F	44.4 (8/15)	-	-	
G	0.0 (0/2)	Reference		
<sup>2</sup> Type of AI				
IDE	40.4 (19/47)	0.64	(0.32 - 1.29)	0.21
TAI	51.4 (54/105)	Reference		
<sup>3</sup> Ovarian cyclicity status				
Cyclic	46.8 (37/79)	1.22	(0.48 - 3.11)	0.67
Acyclic	49.3 (36/73)	Reference		
<sup>4</sup> Pre-calving BCS				
High (>3.00)	42.4 (28/66)	0.59	(0.19-1.83)	0.35
Low (≤3.00)	52.3 (45/86)	Reference		
<sup>5</sup> Post-calving BCS				
High (>2.75)	52.1 (37/71)	2.27	(0.74-6.97)	0.15
Low (≤2.75)	44.4 (36/81)	Reference		
<sup>6</sup> Season				
Fall	53.8 (7/13)	1.91	(0.18-19.9)	0.78
Spring	52.6 (20/38)	0.73	(0.13 - 4.24)	
Summer	45.1 (37/82)	0.92	(0.17 - 5.03)	
Winter	47.3 (9/19)	Reference		
<sup>7</sup> 305-d ME milk yield (kg)				
High (>10,179)	31.6 (24/76)	0.21	(0.09-0.51)	< 0.01
Low (≤10,179)	64.5 (49/76)	Reference		

**Table 6. 1.** The associations among categories of insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), herd, type of AI, ovarian cyclicity status, pre- and post-calving body condition score (BCS), season, 305-d mature-equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first insemination in 152 primiparous cows

<sup>1</sup>IGF-1 categories were based on the optimum serum IGF-1 threshold (85.0 ng/mL) predictive of pregnancy to first AI (P/AI) in primiparous cows determined using receiver operating characteristic curve analysis (Figure 8.4a) <sup>2</sup>Type of AI; cows were inseminated at detected estrus (IDE) or timed-AI (TAI) following synchronization of ovulation

<sup>3</sup>Ovarian cyclicity status by 35 DPP; cows were determined as cyclic; presence of at least one corpus luteum and acyclic: absence of a corpus luteum by 35 DPP using transrectal ultrasonography

<sup>4,5</sup>Categories of pre-calving BCS (determined between one and two weeks before calving) and post-calving BCS (determined between four and six weeks after calving) were based on pre-calving BCS of 3.00 and post-calving BCS of 2.75

<sup>6</sup>Season of IGF-1 blood sampling; categorized as (fall [September, October and November], spring [March, April and May], summer [June, July and August] and winter [December, January and February])

<sup>7</sup>Cows were categorized as high or low if 305-d ME milk yield was > or  $\leq$  the mean within each herd, respectively. Overall mean across herds was 10,179 kg.

Variable	Pregnancy to $1^{st}$ AI, % (no./no.)	Odds ratio estimates	95 % CI	P-value
<sup>1</sup> IGF-1 category (ng/mL)	(100,100)			
High-IGF-1 (>31.0)	40.9 (52/127)	1.61	(`0.95-2.73)	0.08
Low-IGF-1( $\leq 31.0$ )	29.8 (54/181)	Reference	( )	
Herd				
А	45.6 (26/57)	0.50	(0.12 - 2.15)	0.25
В	32.8 (21/64)	0.20	(0.04-1.08)	
С	30.0 (3/10)	0.30	(0.04-2.19)	
D	25.8 (24/93)	0.27	(0.06-1.28)	
E	30.0 (15/50)	0.26	(0.06-1.09)	
F	45.8 (11/24)	0.58	(0.12-2.85)	
G	60.0 (6/10)	Reference		
<sup>2</sup> Type of AI				
IDE	37.6 (44/117)	1.25	(0.77 - 2.03)	0.36
TAI	32.5 (62/191)	Reference		
<sup>3</sup> Ovarian cyclicity status				
Cyclic	37.5 (69/184)	1.13	1.13 (0.63-2.02)	
Acyclic	29.8 (37/124)	Reference		
<sup>4</sup> Pre-calving BCS				
High (>3.00)	39.1 (50/128)	0.97	(0.51-1.86)	0.93
Low (≤3.00)	31.1 (56/180)	31.1 (56/180) Reference		
<sup>5</sup> Post-calving BCS				
High (>2.75)	42.1 (48/114)	1.28	(0.67-2.43)	0.46
Low (≤2.75)	29.9 (58/194)	Reference		
<sup>6</sup> Season				
Fall	40.0 (18/45)	0.55	(0.13-2.33)	0.55
Spring	27.5 (19/69)	0.42	(0.13 - 1.40)	
Summer	34.1 (54/158)	0.53	(0.16 - 1.77)	
Winter	41.6 (15/36)	Reference	× ,	
<sup>6</sup> 305-d ME milk yield (kg)	()			
High (>11.542)	36.9 (55/149)	1.09	(0.63 - 1.87)	0.76
Low (≤11,542)	32.1 (51/159)	Reference		

**Table 6. 2.** The associations among categories of insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), herd, type of AI, ovarian cyclicity status, pre- and post-calving body condition score (BCS), 305-d mature-equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first insemination (P/AI) in 308 multiparous cows

<sup>1</sup>IGF-1 categories were based on the optimum serum IGF-1 threshold (31.0 ng/mL) that tended to predict pregnancy to first AI (P/AI) in multiparous cows using receiver operating characteristic curve analysis (Figure 8.4b)

<sup>2</sup>Type of AI; cows were inseminated at detected estrus (IDE) or timed-AI (TAI) following synchronization of ovulation

<sup>3</sup>Ovarian cyclicity status by 35 DPP; cows were determined as cyclic; presence of at least one corpus luteum and acyclic: absence of a corpus luteum by 35 DPP using transrectal ultrasonography

<sup>4,5</sup>Categories of pre-calving BCS (determined between one and two weeks before calving) and post-calving BCS (determined between four and six weeks after calving) were based on pre-calving BCS of 3.00 and post-calving BCS of 2.75

<sup>6</sup>Season of IGF-1 blood sampling; categorized as (fall [September, October and November], spring [March, April and May], summer [June, July and August] and winter [December, January and February])

<sup>7</sup>Cows were categorized as high or low if 305-d ME milk yield was > or  $\le$  the mean within each herd, respectively. Overall mean across herds was 11,542 kg.

<sup>1</sup> BTA	Position ( <sup>2</sup> Mb)	<sup>3</sup> Number of SNP/s	Lead SNP	Lead SNP ( <sup>4</sup> bp)	<sup>5</sup> P	Minor allele frequency	Genes within 250kb of the strongest association
1	114.647-118.703	2	rs110526526	114,646,540	5.28x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.20	ARHGEF26, ENSBTAG00000011631
2	59.488-59.596	7	rs42530109	59,591,867	6.38 x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.02	HNMT, ENSBTAG00000039437. THSD7B
4	39.011-39.011	1	rs42716293	39,011,023	6.78 x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.41	CACNA2D1, HGF
6	88.865-89.036	5	rs108983037	88,913,092	6.89x 10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.41	GC,NPFFR2, ADAMTS3
8	77.827-78.202	9	rs134959907	78,183,232	2.83 x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.24	FRMD3, IDNK, UBQLN1, GKAP1, KIF27
9	56.349-56.349	1	rs132755904	56,349,339	7.28x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.48	ENSBTAG00000033083
9	67.365-67.397	6	rs109274083	67,377,964	8.38x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.44	PTPRK
16	2.611-2.611	1	rs109145522	2,610,719	8.18x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.40	NFASC, CNTN2, TMEM81, RBBP5DSTYK. TMCC2
23	27.219-27.219	1	rs135963713	27,219,241	9.60x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.23	AGPAT1, PRRT1, FKBPL, TNXB, ENSBTAG0000006864, NELFE, STX19, DXO, SKIV2L, C2, EHMT2, ZBTB12, NEU1, HSPA1L, LSM2, MSH5, VWA7, VARS, CLIC1, LY6G6D
25	25.740-25.740	1	rs41574560	25,740,992	2.84x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.45	KIAA0556, GSG1L, XPO6
26	29.082-29.208	2	rs42718552	29,082,643	2.67x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.09	-
26	50.522-50.522	1	rs137415315	50,522,157	2.71x10 <sup>-5</sup>	0.05	SYCE1, CYP2E1, ENSBTAG0000005267, ENSBTAG00000026185, ENSBTAG00000010461, ENSBTAG00000007248

**Table 6.3.** Genomic regions associated with serum insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) concentration in dairy cows. The strongest association within each region is identified as well as the nearest putative candidate genes

<sup>1</sup>BTA: *Bos taurus* autosome

<sup>2</sup>Mb: Mega base

<sup>3</sup>Number of SNP/s: Number of significant single nucleotide polymorphisms within the region after adjusting for multiple testing <sup>4</sup>bp: Base pairs

 ${}^{5}P$ : Unadjusted *P*-value of the most strongly associated SNP within the region.



**Figure 6. 1.** Mean concentrations of serum IGF-1 (ng/mL) at 7 ( $\pm$ 2.4) d postpartum among herd (a), age (b), parity (c), pre-calving body condition score [BCS] (d), and season of IGF-1 blood sampling (e) in a subset of 460 lactating Holstein cows. Different superscripts within the same category differ (a,b,c; P<0.05).



**Figure 6. 2.** Mean serum concentrations of IGF-1 (ng/mL) at 7 ( $\pm$ 2.4) d postpartum stratified by cyclicity status (black bar = cyclic and grey bar = acyclic) determined by ultrasonography (based on presence of a CL) at 35 d postpartum in primiparous (n = 152) and multiparous (n = 308) cows. Different superscripts within the same category differed (a,b; P<0.05).



**Figure 6. 3.** The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis for serum IGF-1 concentration at 7 ( $\pm 2.4$ ) d postpartum predictive of P/AI in primiparous (a; n = 186) and multiparous (b; n = 377) cows. The optimum serum IGF-1 concentration threshold predictive of P/AI was 85.0 ng/mL for primiparous cows (sensitivity: 31.9 and specificity of 89.1%; P = 0.04) and 31.0 ng/mL for multiparous cows (sensitivity: 45.5 and specificity of 66.9 %; P = 0.09).



**Figure 6. 4.** The odds of estimated probability of pregnancy to first AI (P/AI) plotted against serum IGF-1 concentrations at 7 ( $\pm$ 2.4) d postpartum in primiparous (a; n = 186) and multiparous (b; n = 377) cows. For every one-unit (ng/mL) increase in serum IGF-1 concentration, the odds of estimated probability of P/AI increased by 1.1% in primiparous cows (P<0.01) and 0.9% in multiparous cows (P = 0.05), respectively.



**Figure 6. 5.** Kaplan-Meier survival curve that illustrates the proportion of primiparous (a) and multiparous (b) cows (by IGF-1 category) pregnant by 150 DPP. In primiparous, the hazard of pregnancy by 150 DPP was greater (hazard ratio: 1.69 [confidence interval; 1.10-2.61; P = 0.02]) for high IGF-1 category cows (>85.0 ng/mL; n = 38; solid line) than those in low IGF-1 category ( $\leq$ 85.0 ng/mL; n = 114; broken line). In multiparous, however, the hazard of pregnancy by 150 DPP did not differ (hazard ratio: 1.02 [confidence interval; 0.75-1.39; P = 0.88]) between cows in the high IGF-1 (>31.0 ng/mL; n = 52; solid line) and low IGF-1 categories ( $\leq$ 31.0 ng/mL; n = 54; broken line).



**Figure 6. 6.** Manhattan plot of the genome-wide association study for serum IGF-1 concentration in Holstein cows. The red horizontal line represents all single nucleotide polymorphisms with a P-value <0.0001 identified across ten *Bos taurus* autosomes BTA: 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 9, 16, 23, 25 and 26).

# Chapter 7. Characterization of ano-genital distance and its relationship to fertility in Canadian Holsteins

# 7.1. Abstract

Ano-genital distance (AGD) serves as a marker for genital development and fertility in humans and rodents. The primary objectives of this observational study in lactating dairy cows were to (1) characterize the distribution and variability of AGD, (2) determine the relationship among AGD and potential postnatal AGD determinants of age and height, and (3) evaluate the associations between AGD and pregnancy to first artificial insemination (P/AI) and cumulative pregnancy by 250 d in milk (DIM) within parity groups (1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup>, and 3<sup>rd+</sup> parities). The secondary objective was to evaluate the association between AGD and testosterone concentrations. The AGD (mm), age (yr) and height at hip (cm) at the time of AGD determination, and aforesaid reproductive outcomes were determined in 921 Holstein cows (1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd+</sup> parity; n = 360, 256 and 305, respectively). Plasma concentrations of testosterone were determined in a subset of 93 cows.

Overall, AGD had a normal distribution and high variability (mean [ $\pm$  SD]; 131.0  $\pm$  12.2 mm), was weakly associated with cow age and height ( $R^2 = 0.09$  and 0.04, respectively), and had an inverse relationship with P/AI in 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows, but not in 3<sup>rd+</sup> parity cows. For every one mm increase in AGD, the odds of P/AI decreased by 3.4 and 2.4 % for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows, respectively. The optimal AGD threshold to predict probability of P/AI was 127.1 mm for both 1<sup>st</sup> (Sensitivity: 66.4; Specificity: 56.6 %) and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows (Sensitivity: 46.0; Specificity: 70.4 %). Accordingly, 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows were categorized into either SHORT- or LONG-AGD

( $\leq$  or > 127.1 mm), and associations with reproductive outcomes evaluated. First parity cows with LONG-AGD had lower P/AI (30.9 vs. 53.6 %) and decreased likelihood (hazard ratio: 0.68) of pregnancy by 250 DIM than those with SHORT-AGD. Similarly, 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows with LONG-AGD had reduced P/AI (28.3 vs. 44.4 %) and a tendency for decreased likelihood (hazard ratio: 0.76) of pregnancy by 250 DIM than in cows with SHORT-AGD. The association between AGD and testosterone was weak and non-significant. In summary, AGD in Holstein cows was normally distributed, highly variable, and weakly associated with age and height. Besides, AGD had a strong inverse relationship with P/AI and cumulative pregnancy by 250 DIM in 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows; however, such a relationship was not evident in older (3<sup>rd +</sup>parity) cows.

Key words: ano-genital distance, age, height, fertility

# 7.2. Background

Ano-genital distance (AGD) is the distance from the center of the anus to the anterior fourchette or to the base of the clitoris in female mammals (Salazar-Martinez et al., 2004; Sathyanarayana et al., 2010). The in-utero development of the perineum and caudal migration of genital tubercle, relative to the anus, are androgen-dependent in humans and rodents (Langman, 1975; Bowman et al., 2003). Therefore, the variation in AGD is a reflection of fetal androgen exposure during its reproductive programming window in those species (Macleod et al., 2010; Dean at al., 2012). In this regard, Mendiola et al. (2012) reported that AGD was normally distributed in a population of young women with high variability. Several other studies demonstrated that the AGD was approximately twice as long in males as in females (Salazar-Martinez et al., 2004; Swan, 2008; Thankamony et al., 2009; Macleod et al., 2010; Sathyanarayana et al., 2010). Hence, AGD is not only a biological indicator of prenatal androgenization, but also a sexually dimorphic trait that may be used to determine fetal gender during early pregnancy.

Prenatal exposure to excess androgen in female fetuses leads to poor reproductive system development in-utero, subsequently resulting in long AGD and poor postnatal fertility outcomes in rodents, rabbits and humans (Zehr et al., 2001; Banszegi et al., 2012; Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2017, respectively). The onset of puberty was delayed in female mice with long AGD (Zehr et al., 2001). Rabbit does with long AGD delivered fewer and lighter offspring, and had male-biased litters (Banszegi et al., 2012). Women with long AGD, presumably exposed prenatally to high androgen concentrations in-utero, had increased numbers of ovarian follicles (Mendiola et al., 2012) and greater testosterone concentrations during the early follicular phase (Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a) compared to women with short AGD. Recently, Wu et al., (2017) reported that women with longer AGD were approximately 18 times more likely to develop polycystic ovarian syndrome, which is characterized by hyperandrogenism and anovulation, than those with shorter AGD. The placenta is the primary source of androgens in dams bearing female fetuses in dairy cows (Mongkonpunya et al., 1975). Maternal concentrations of testosterone (110 to 166 pg/mL) and androstenedione (936 to 1400 pg/mL) during gestation were highly variable among individual cows bearing female fetuses (Gaiani et al., 1984). Thus, it is plausible that the high variability in in-utero exposure of female bovine fetuses to androgens affect AGD and postnatal reproductive functions as reported in humans and rodents. In women, AGD was not associated with the postnatal determinants of age, height and weight, but it was associated with body mass index (Mira-Escolano et al., 2014b; Wu et al., 2017). Moreover, in one study (Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a) for each mm increase in AGD in women, testosterone concentration increased by 0.006 ng/mL. Similar studies characterizing AGD and its associations with age, height, reproductive outcomes and testosterone concentrations have not been conducted in dairy cows.

If an association exists between the simple morphologic measure of AGD and reproductive performance in dairy cows, AGD could become a new reproductive phenotype with potential for use in future genetic selection to augment fertility. Therefore, the primary objectives of this observational study were to (1) characterize the distribution and variability of AGD, (2) determine the relationship among AGD and potential postnatal AGD determinants of age and height, and (3) evaluate the associations between AGD and pregnancy to first AI (**P**/AI) and cumulative pregnancy by 250 d in milk (**DIM**) within parity groups (1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup>, and 3<sup>rd +</sup>). The secondary objective was to evaluate the association between AGD and testosterone concentrations.

#### 7.3. Materials and methods

#### 7.3.1. Animals and management

This study was conducted at the Dairy Research and Technology Centre of the University of Alberta and three commercial dairy herds located in Alberta, Canada. Animals were housed and cared for in accordance with the requirements of Canadian Council on Animal Care (2009). Cows were fed a total mixed ration (primary ingredients were barley or corn silage, alfalfa silage, alfalfa hay, and concentrates) formulated according to NRC (2001) to meet the requirements of a 650 kg lactating cow producing 45.0 kg of milk/d, and had *ad libitum* access to water. While cows were subjected to presynchronization followed by Ovsynch (1<sup>st</sup> AI) and Ovsynch only (2<sup>nd</sup> + AI) in the university research herd and one of the commercial herds (timed-AI; **TAI**; herds A and B, respectively), cows were predominantly inseminated based on estrus detection in two of

the commercial herds (insemination on detected estrus; IDE; herds C and D, respectively).

#### 7.3.2. Determination of AGD, age, height, milk yield and reproductive measures

Ano-genital distance was defined as the distance from the center of the anus to the base of the clitoris (Figure 1a), and was measured using a stainless steel digital calipers (Procise, The Innovak Group, Montreal, QC, Canada). The age of the cow (yr) at the time of AGD measurement was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of AGD determination. The height at hip (hereafter referred to as "height") was determined using a livestock measuring stick (Jeffers®, Dothan, AL) from the ground to the top of the cow's back (above hook bones). The AGD and height were measured by two individuals, with one person always measuring AGD and the other person measuring height. Data on AGD were collected during a single visit to each herd. Ano-genital distance and height measurements were obtained from 921 cows (mean  $\pm$  SD: 171  $\pm$  93 DIM) that had no apparent perineal abnormalities such as inflamed or lacerated vulva as indicators of trauma at parturition, and that were later than 14 DIM at the time of AGD determination. Data on 305-d mature-equivalent (**ME**) milk yield and reproductive measures (P/AI and pregnancy by 250 DIM) were retrieved for all cows using DairyComp 305 herd management software (CanWest DHI, Guelph, ON, Canada).

# 7.3.3. Blood sampling and determination of plasma concentrations of testosterone

Blood samples were collected in a subset of 93 cows (research herd only) from coccygeal blood vessel using evacuated Vacutainer® tubes (Becton Dickinson and Company, New Jersey, USA) containing sodium heparin immediately before the second GnRH of Ovsynch during a presynchronization/Ovsynch timed-AI protocol described elsewhere (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017). Samples were placed on ice upon collection, centrifuged at 1500 x *g* for 20 min at 4°C, plasma harvested and frozen at -20 °C until assayed. Plasma concentrations of testosterone were

determined at Endocrine Lab Services, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada using a commercial solid-phase radioimmunoassay kit (ImmuChem<sup>TM</sup>; MP Biomedicals, LLC, Orangeburg, NY). Procedures were carried out according to manufacturer's instructions except that standards were prepared by adding known quantities of testosterone to charcoal-stripped bovine serum, as the standards supplied with the kit were optimized for human samples. All samples were analyzed in a single assay; the intra-assay coefficient of variation was 1.4 % for low reference samples (mean, 4.2 pg/mL) and 5.1 % for high reference samples (mean, 8.8 pg/mL).

#### 7.3.4. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Initially, AGD was determined by the same individual three times in 93 dairy cows from the university research herd, allowing sufficient time interval between measurements so that the subsequent readings were not influenced by the reader's memory (Salar-Martinez et al., 2004). Later, the reliability and variability of AGD measurements were determined by evaluating the Pearson correlation of coefficient (r) using CORR procedure and by evaluating coefficient of variation (CV) using Excel 2016 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA) an approach similar to that of Salar-Martinez et al. (2004). The correlation between the three AGD measurements was high (r = 0.98) and the CV was low 1.1 %, allowing AGD to be determined only once by the same examiner in the rest of the animals. In addition, in the same subset of 93 cows from the university research herd, the association between AGD and plasma concentrations of testosterone was evaluated by linear regression analysis using REG procedure of SAS.

The descriptive statistics such as minimum, maximum, mean, and standard deviation (amount of dispersion indicative of variability) for AGD were determined using MEANS procedure of SAS for all cows (n =921) and separately for cows from  $1^{st}$ ,  $2^{nd}$ , and  $3^{rd+}$  parity groups (n = 360, 256 and 305, respectively). The differences in mean AGD between  $1^{st}$ ,  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd+}$  parity cows were tested using GLIMMIX procedure of SAS, where AGD was modeled against parity and the effect of herd was treated as random. The associations among age, height and AGD was assessed by linear regression analysis using REG procedure of SAS.

The relationship between P/AI (binomial outcome) and AGD (predictor continuous variable) was first evaluated for each parity by logistic regression analysis using LOGISTIC procedure of SAS, and the estimated probabilities of P/AI were plotted against AGD using Excel 2016. As the logistic regression model was non-significant for  $3^{rd+}$  parity, the rest of the analyses only focused on  $1^{st}$  and  $2^{nd}$  parity cows.

The optimum threshold AGD that predicted the probability of P/AI, including specificity and sensitivity, was determined using receiver operating characteristic (**ROC**) curve analysis separately for  $1^{st}$  and  $2^{nd}$  parity cows. The ROC curves analyze sensitivity and 1 - specificity. Sensitivity is the proportion of cows above the threshold that was diagnosed as pregnant to  $1^{st}$ AI, and specificity is the proportion of cows below the threshold and diagnosed as not pregnant to 1stAI. The threshold AGD was chosen based on the highest Youden's J statistic index. The significance of the threshold AGD was determined based on the area under the curve (**AUC**), where the AUC ranged from 0.50 to 1.00, with AUC of 0.50 considered non-informative and the AUC of 1.00 considered perfect as previously described (Swets, 1988).

Thereafter, cows were categorized as either SHORT- or LONG-AGD ( $\leq$  or > threshold) based on the threshold AGD. The associations among categories of AGD (SHORT- and LONG-AGD), herds (A, B, C and D), type of AI (IDE and TAI), 305-d ME milk yield (Low;  $\leq$  average and High; > average) and P/AI were analyzed using the GLIMMIX procedure of SAS separately

for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows, while the model specifications included a binomial distribution and logit function, and an option to retrieve odds ratios. The P/AI was initially modelled against all of the aforementioned categorical variables and their interactions. As none of the interactions was significant, the final model only had the categorical variables modelled against P/AI.

The differences in intervals from calving to pregnancy between categories of AGD up to 250 DIM were evaluated using the Kaplan-Meier Survival analysis (LIFETEST procedure), separately for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows, and the results from Kaplan-Meier survival analysis were confirmed by a Cox proportional hazard model (PHREG procedure). Significant differences were reported if  $P \le 0.05$  and considered to be a tendency if P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

# 7.4. Results and discussion

Ano-genital distance has been identified as a marker of prenatal androgenization (Macleod et al., 2010; Dean at al., 2012) and associated with postnatal reproductive outcomes in female rats (Zehr et al., 2001), rabbits (Banszegi et al., 2012) and humans (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2017). To our knowledge, this is the first report to characterize the distribution and variation in AGD and evaluate its association with reproductive outcomes in lactating dairy cows. In the current study, AGD was normally distributed (Figure 1b) and highly variable (mean [ $\pm$  SD]; 131.0 $\pm$ 12.2 mm). The patterns of distributions and ranges reported (Table 1) remained approximately the same within parities even though the mean AGD differed (P < 0.01) between 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd +</sup> parity cows (126.9, 132.5 and 134.5 mm). The distribution and variability of AGD found in dairy cows was comparable to the pattern of distribution and variability reported for AGD in women (Mendiola et al., 2012). In this regard, Mendiola et al. (2012) showed that AGD was normally distributed in a population of young

women with a mean ( $\pm$  SD) of 80.4  $\pm$  10.5 mm. The normal distribution and the degree of dispersion for AGD in dairy cows and in women indicate that large phenotypic variation in AGD exists in different species.

The current study determined the phenotypic variation in AGD that was attributable to postnatal factors such as cow age and height. The overall correlations between age and AGD ( $R^2$ = 0.09; P < 0.01; Figure 2a) and between height and AGD ( $R^2 = 0.04$ ; P < 0.01; Figure 2b) were very weak when evaluated across all cows, and remained weak when height and AGD were evaluated separately for 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd +</sup> parity cows (mean  $R^2 = 0.02$ ; P < 0.10). In this regard, either weak or non-significant associations were reported between AGD and other anthropometric measures such as length and body weight in female infants (Thankamony et al., 2009) and age, height and weight in young women (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014b; Wu et al., 2017). While Thankamony et al. (2009) reported weak associations between AGD and length ( $R^2 = 0.09$ ), and between AGD and body weight ( $R^2 = 0.03$ ) in female infants at 24 months of age, others (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014b; Wu et al., 2017) have shown that age, height and weight were non-significant factors associated with AGD in women. However, Mira-Escolano et al. (2014b) and Wu et al. (2017) reported a positive association between body mass index and AGD. Collectively, the findings in human studies and the current results in dairy cows suggest that AGD measures are largely independent of postnatal factors, and perhaps primarily influenced by the prenatal in-utero concentrations of androgens as shown in rodents (Wolf et al., 2002; Hotchkiss et al., 2007; Dean et al., 2012).

Ano-genital distance and P/AI had a significant negative relationship in  $1^{st}$  and  $2^{nd}$  parity cows (Figure 3a and b, respectively); however, AGD was not associated with P/AI in older cows (P = 0.30). In confinement dairy management systems such as those in Canada, the average
longevity of a dairy cow is 2.5 lactations (about 5 years of age), and only cows that excel in both fertility and milk production are likely to remain in the herd longer, which would at least partially explain the absence of association reported between AGD and fertility in 3<sup>rd +</sup> parity cows. Interestingly, the variation in AGD observed in 3<sup>rd +</sup> parity cows was quite comparable to the variations in AGD for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows. Hence, the lack of association between AGD and P/AI in 3<sup>rd +</sup> parity cows was not attributable to a more homogenous AGD, but could be due to other potential factors that affect pregnancy establishment to first AI such as incidence of early postpartum diseases, negative energy balance, and higher milk production that are more common in older cows (Lee and Kim., 2006). Since the optimal AGD threshold to predict the probability of P/AI was 127.1 mm for both 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows, only 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows were categorized into SHORT- or LONG-AGD ( $\leq$  or > 127.1 mm) groups and the associations with reproductive outcomes evaluated. The sensitivity and specificity of the optimal AGD threshold that predicted P/AI were moderate in both 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows (Figure 4a and b, respectively). We compared AGD groups separately for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows because, in general, fertility declines as parity increases (Norman et al., 2009). Therefore, analyzing parity groups separately would provide an insight into the true association between AGD and fertility within each parity.

Overall reproductive performance (P/AI and pregnancy by 250 DIM) was poorer in cows with LONG-AGD than those with SHORT-AGD (Table 2 and Figure 5). The results of the present study were broadly comparable to the outcomes reported for different AGD categories and fecundity/fertility in other species (Zehr et al., 2001; Banszegi et al., 2012; Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2017). Specifically, the onset of puberty was delayed in female mice with long AGD (Zehr et al., 2001). Rabbit does with long AGD had smaller, lighter and male-biased litters (Banszegi et al., 2012). Women with longer AGD had increased follicular recruitment and higher testosterone concentrations (Mendiola et al.,2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a) during the early follicular phase, and were 18 times more prone for polycystic ovarian syndrome (Wu et al., 2017) than those with shorter AGD. Likewise, Steckler et al. (2005) showed that pregnant ewes treated twice weekly with testosterone propionate from 30 to 90 days of pregnancy had increased ovarian follicular recruitment in fetal ovaries. The authors (Steckler et al., 2005) suggested that this observation was due to activation of large number of primordial follicles into primary follicles by increasing the androgen receptor expression in primordial follicles as reported previously (Vendola et al., 1999).

We evaluated the association between AGD and testosterone in a subset of 93 cows, using an approach similar to that used by Mira-Escolano et al. (2014a) in women to determine whether cows with long AGD, presumably exposed to high androgens during fetal life, also had higher testosterone concentrations during postnatal life. In the current study, the association between AGD and testosterone was weak and non-significant ( $R^2 = 0.02$ ; P = 0.19), perhaps due to the relatively small sample size. In this regard, Mira-Escolano et al. (2014a) reported that in women, testosterone concentration increased by 0.006 ng/mL for each mm increase in AGD. Interestingly, a recent study (Mossa et al., 2010) that evaluated antral follicle counts (AFC) in dairy cattle have shown that cows with high AFC ( $\geq 25$ ) had almost double the concentrations of circulating testosterone (~ 60 vs. 30 pg/mL) throughout the estrous cycle than cows with low AFC ( $\leq$  15). In addition, dairy heifers with high AFC had poorer fertility and reduced longevity (Jimenez-Krassel et al., 2017). It is plausible that exposure of the female fetus to high levels of maternal androgens results in alterations in the development of female reproductive tissues including the external manifestation of long AGD, and these animals subsequently have increased follicular recruitment and androgen concentrations during estrous cycles that consequently lead to poor fertility outcomes and reduced longevity in dairy cattle. The proposed associations between maternal concentrations of androgens during the first trimester of pregnancy (under natural [endogenous] and experimental [exogenous] scenarios) and AGD at birth, puberty and adulthood, and subsequent associations with fertility outcomes in dairy cows warrant further in depth investigations. The heritability of AGD and whether AGD could be used as a reproductive phenotype in genetic selection of dairy cattle to improve fertility also remain to be determined.

In conclusion, the present study has demonstrated for the first time that AGD is normally distributed and has high variability in lactating dairy cows. The variation identified for AGD was weakly associated with postnatal factors such as cow age and height. Furthermore, our results indicate an inverse relationship between AGD and pregnancy to the first AI and cumulative pregnancy by 250 DIM in 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows.

## 7.5. Acknowledgments

This project was financially supported in part by Growing Forward 2, a federalprovincial-territorial initiative (*Research Opportunities and Innovation - Internal Initiatives Project # DA7642064*). M. Gobikrushanth is a recipient of the Teagasc-University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship sponsored by Alberta Innovates Biosolutions. The authors thank the staff of the Dairy Research and Technology Centre, University of Alberta, and the owners of the commercial dairy herds (Five Star Cattle Company, Lacombe, Sunalta Farms Inc., Ponoka, and Tuxedo Farms, Westlock) for their assistance and cooperation.

···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	8	( )	
	Minimum (mm)	Maximum (mm)	Mean $[\pm {}^{1}SD]$ (mm)
	()	()	()
Overall <sup>2</sup> AGD, all parities $(n = 921)$	96.0	170.0	$131.0 \pm 12.2$
AGD in $1^{st}$ parity cows (n = 360)	96.0	169.0	$126.9\pm11.9$
AGD in $2^{nd}$ parity cows (n = 256)	100.0	170.0	$132.5 \pm 11.7$
AGD in $3^{rd+}$ parity cows (n = 305)	103.0	164.0	$134.5 \pm 11.4$

**Table 7. 1.** Descriptive statistics for ano-genital distance (AGD) in Canadian Holsteins

<sup>1</sup> SD: standard deviation

<sup>2</sup>AGD: ano-genital distance: is the distance from the center of the anus to the base of the clitoris

Variable	Pregnancy	Odds ratio	95 %	<i>P</i> -value
	to 1 <sup>st</sup> AI, %	estimates	confidence	
			interval	
First parity cows				
<sup>1</sup> AGD category (mean $\pm$ SEM)				
$^{2}$ LONG-AGD (135.6 ± 1.5 mm)	30.9	0.41	(0.22 - 0.74)	< 0.01
$^{2}$ SHORT-AGD(117.5 ± 1.5 mm)	53.6	Reference		
Herd				
A	47.0	•	•	0.81
В	51.0	•	•	
С	45.9	•	•	
D	35.4	Reference		
<sup>3</sup> Type of AI				
IDE	45.9	0.87	(0.50 - 1.51)	0.61
TAI	50.0	Reference		
<sup>4</sup> 305-d ME milk yield				
High (> 10,693 kg)	35.3	0.37	(0.14 - 0.96)	0.04
Low (≤ 10,693 kg)	49.3	Reference		
Second parity cows				
<sup>1</sup> AGD category (mean $\pm$ SEM)				
$^{2}$ LONG-AGD (138.3 ± 1.3 mm)	28.3	0.33	(0.15 - 0.72)	< 0.01
$^{2}$ SHORT-AGD(119.8 ± 1.4 mm)	44.4	Reference		
Herd				
Α	31.0	•	•	0.24
В	38.0			
С	38.3			
D	30.8	Reference		
<sup>3</sup> Type of AI				
IDE	38.3	1.08	(0.53 - 2.20)	0.82
TAI	34.4	Reference		
<sup>4</sup> 305-d ME milk yield				
High (> 11,827 kg)	28.1	0.21	(0.27 - 1.45)	0.27
Low (≤ 11,827 kg)	38.8	Reference		

**Table 7. 2.** Associations among ano-genital distance (AGD) categories, herd, type of AI, 305-d mature-equivalent (ME) milk yield and pregnancy to first AI in first and second parity Canadian Holsteins

<sup>1</sup>Ano-genital distance: the distance from the center of the anus to the base of the clitoris

<sup>2</sup>AGD categories: cows that had their AGD  $\leq$  or > the threshold AGD (127.1 mm) that predicted probability of pregnancy for the first insemination in 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows were designated into either SHORT- or LONG-AGD categories

<sup>3</sup>Type of AI; Cows were inseminated at detected estrus (IDE) or timed-AI (TAI) following synchronization of ovulation

<sup>4</sup>305-d ME milk yield categories were based on the average 305-d ME milk yield determined for 1<sup>st</sup> (10,693 kg) and 2<sup>nd</sup> (11,827 kg) parity cows



**Figure 7. 1.** Positioning of digital calipers to measure ano-genital distance (a): the distance from the center of the anus to the base of the clitoris. The distribution of ano-genital distance (b) in 1st (dotted bars; n = 360), 2nd (filled bars; n = 256) and 3rd +(hatched bars; n = 305) parity cows.



**Figure 7. 2.** Association between age and ano-genital distance (a; R2 = 0.09; P < 0.01) and height at hip and ano-genital distance (b; R2 = 0.04; P < 0.01) in lactating dairy cows (n = 921).



**Figure 7. 3.** The estimated probability of pregnancy to first AI (P/AI) plotted against ano-genital distance (AGD) in 1st and 2nd parity cows (a; n =360 and b; n = 256). For every one-unit (mm) increase in AGD, the odds of conceiving to first AI (P/AI) decreased by 3.4 and 2.4 % for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows, respectively (P < 0.05).



**Figure 7. 4.** The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis for ano-genital distance (AGD) that predicted probability of pregnancy to the first AI (P/AI) in 1st (a; n = 360; area under the curve: 0.62; Sensitivity: 66.4 and Specificity: 56.6 %; P < 0.01) and 2<sup>nd</sup> parity cows (b; n = 256; area under the curve: 0.58; Sensitivity: 46.0 and Specificity: 70.4 %; P = 0.04), respectively.





**Figure 7. 5.** Kaplan-Meier survival curve that illustrates the proportion of cows (by AGD category) that remained non-pregnant by 250 DIM in 1st (panel a) and 2nd parity cows (panel b). The 1st parity cows of LONG-AGD ( $135.6 \pm 1.5 \text{ mm}$ ; n =168) had significantly lower significantly lower significantly lower likelihood of pregnancy by 250 DIM (hazard ratio: 0.68; P < 0.01) than cows of SHORT-AGD ( $117.5 \pm 1.5 \text{ mm}$ ; n = 192). Similarly, the likelihood of pregnancy by 250 DIM tended to be lower (hazard ratio: 0.67; P = 0.06) for LONG-AGD cows ( $138.3 \pm 1.3 \text{ mm}$ ; n = 166) than those of SHORT-AGD ( $119.8 \pm 1.4 \text{ mm}$ ; n = 90) in the 2<sup>nd</sup> parity.

# Chapter 8. The relationship between ano-genital distance (AGD) and fertility, and genome-wide associations for AGD in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows

#### 8.1. Abstract

The evaluation of ano-genital distance (AGD; the distance from the centre of the anus to base of the clitoris) in dairy cows as a potential fertility trait for genetic selection is of recent interest. The objectives of this cross-sectional observational study were to (1) characterize the distribution and variability of AGD, (2) determine factors associated with AGD, (3) estimate heritability for AGD, (4) identify single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) associated with phenotypic variation of AGD, and (5) validate the relationship between categories of AGD and fertility in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows. Ano-genital distance was measured using digital calipers in 1180 Holstein cows (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation:  $171 \pm 93$  d in milk) from 10 dairy herds located in Munster, Ireland. In addition, age (yr), weight (kg), height at hip (cm) and body condition score (BCS) at the time of AGD measurement were determined in a subset of 281 cows. Genotype information available from 908 cows was subsequently imputed to the Illumina Bovine High Density Bead Chip for genome wide association analysis for phenotypic variation in AGD.

Overall, AGD had a normal distribution and high variability (mean [ $\pm$  standard deviation]; 119.2  $\pm$  11.6 mm). Ano-genital distance was weakly but positively associated with cow age, height and body weight, and negatively associated with BCS; the phenotypic variation in AGD that was explainable by these variables was small (coefficient of determination; R<sup>2</sup> = 0.09, 0.06, 0.10 and 0.02, respectively). The estimated heritability for AGD was 0.37 (standard error of mean  $\pm$  0.08). Six SNP of suggestive significance ( $P < 1 \times 10^{-5}$ ) were identified on *Bos taurus* autosomes 6, 15, 20 and 26; however, none of these SNP was related to previously identified candidate genes for fertility. Cows were categorized into quartiles (Q1; 86 to 111 mm; n = 295, Q2; 111 to 120 mm; n = 295; Q3; 120 to 127 mm; n = 295, and Q4; 127 to 160 mm; n = 295) based on AGD and the association with reproductive outcomes examined (21 d submission rate, pregnancy to first AI, pregnancy rate within 21, 42 and 84 d after the farm mating start date, and number of times bred). None of the reproductive parameters evaluated significantly differed between AGD categories. In summary, despite identification of high variability and moderate heritability for AGD in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows, the reproductive outcomes did not differ between categories of AGD. This latter result differs from our previous finding of an inverse relationship between AGD and pregnancy outcomes in first and second parity Canadian Holstein cows, emphasizing the need to test and validate this new phenotype in diverse cow populations.

Key words: fertility traits, heritability, reproductive efficiency, genomic selection

## 8.2. Background

Anogenital distance (AGD) has been defined as the distance from the center of the anus to either the posterior fourchette (Salazar-Martinez et al., 2004) or the clitoris (Sathyanarayana et al., 2010) in women and base of the clitoris in dairy cows (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c). Prenatal exposure of female fetuses to excess androgen leads to androgenization of the reproductive system in-utero (Langman, 1975; Bowman et al., 2003), which results in longer AGD and poor postnatal fertility outcomes in mice (Zehr et al., 2001), rabbits (Banszegi et al., 2012), gilts (Drickamer et al., 1997), and women (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2017).

A reproductive phenotype that has high variability, repeatability, heritability and strong associations with fertility would be an ideal candidate for genetic selection to improve reproductive performance in dairy cows. Recently, we reported for the first time that AGD is normally distributed, highly variable, minimally influenced by postnatal factors such as age and height, and inversely related to pregnancy to first and subsequent insemination events in first and second parity Canadian Holsteins cows (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c). In this regard, first and second parity Canadian Holstein cows with long AGD (>127.1 mm) had lower conception rate to first AI (first parity; 30.9 vs. 53.6% and second parity; 28.3 vs. 44.4%) and decreased likelihood of pregnancy by 250 d in milk (hazard ratio of 0.68 for first parity and 0.76 for second parity) compared to cows with short AGD ( $\leq$ 127.1 mm). These results are intriguing and if an association between the simple morphologic measure of AGD and reproductive performance can be validated in diverse populations of dairy cows, AGD could become a novel fertility trait for use in future genetic selection programs in dairy cows.

In Ireland, cows have been predominantly selected for improved fertility over the last two decades. For example, the Irish national breeding program first introduced a multi-trait selection index called the Economic Breeding Index (EBI) in 2001, placing 30% (currently at 35%) weightage for fertility, which includes calving interval and survival (Irish Cattle Breeding Federation, 2017). In contrast, in Canada, daughter fertility sub index was introduced to the Lifetime Profit Index (LPI) in 2007, placing only 12% weightage for fertility, which includes daughter fertility and herd life (currently at 21.4%; Canadian Dairy Network, 2018). This indicates that a relatively more fertile population of cows might be present in Ireland compared with Canada. Indeed, fertility in general, is greater for Holstein-Friesian cows managed in pasture-based seasonal calving system such as those in Ireland (Dillon et al., 2006) and New Zealand (Macdonald at al., 2008) than those managed under confinement system in the UK (Pryce et al., 2004) and the USA (Norman et al., 2009). In addition, heritability of AGD, and genome wide association studies

(GWAS) identifying single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) associated with phenotypic variation in AGD are novel aspects yet to be explored in dairy cows.

We hypothesized that seasonal-calving pasture-based cows in Ireland with short AGD have greater fertility outcomes than cows with long AGD, as observed in Canadian Holstein cows (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c), and SNP are associated with phenotypic variation in AGD. Therefore, the objectives of this observational study were to (1) characterize the distribution and variability of AGD, (2) determine the factors associated with AGD, (3) estimate heritability for AGD, (4) identify SNP associated with phenotypic variation of AGD, and (5) validate the association between categories of AGD and fertility in Irish Holsteins.

## 8.3. Materials and methods

#### 8.3.1. Animals and management

A cross-sectional observational study was conducted on a convenience sample of ten dairy herds located in the province of Munster in Ireland. Herds were operating pasture-based seasonal calving systems that ranged in size from 41 to 274 milking cows. The study population included a total of 1180 Holstein Friesian cows (308, 306 and 566 first, second, and third + parity cows, respectively). All cows calved during the spring calving season of 2016. All experimental procedures involving cows were approved by the Teagasc Animal Ethics Committee and authorized by the Health Products Regulatory Authority, which is the competent authority in Ireland responsible for the implementation of European Union legislation (Directive 2010/63/EU) for the protection of animals used for scientific purposes.

### 8.3.2. Determination of AGD, age, height, body weight, and BCS

Ano-genital distance was defined as the distance from the center of the anus to the base of the clitoris, and was measured using a stainless steel digital caliper (Silverlinec, Group Silverline Limited, Yeovil, Somerset, United Kingdom). The age (yr), height (cm), body weight (kg) and body condition score (**BCS**) were determined on the day of AGD determination in a subset of 281 cows. The age of the cow at the time of AGD measurement was determined from birth records. The height at the hip (hereafter referred to as "height") was determined using a livestock measuring stick from the ground to the top of the cow's back (above the tuber coxae). Body weight was measured using an electronic farm scale. The BCS was determined by the same trained person on a 1 to 5 scale system measured in increments of 0.25 units (1 = thin, 5 = fat) as described (Edmonson et al., 1989). Ano-genital distance measurements were obtained from 1180 cows (mean  $\pm$  SD: 171  $\pm$  93 DIM) that had no apparent perineal abnormalities such as inflamed or lacerated vulva as indicators of trauma at parturition, and that were later than two wk post-calving at the time of AGD determination.

# 8.3.3. Definition for interval from calving to mating start date categories and reproductive parameters

All cows calved during the spring calving season of 2016 and mating by AI commenced on a fixed calendar date on each farm between 11<sup>th</sup> of April and 3<sup>rd</sup> of May 2016. Detection of estrus was conducted using the standard reproductive management protocols within each farm, which typically involves periods of cow observation aided by use of tail paint, and the total duration of the breeding season was 12 wk. Pregnancy diagnosis using transrectal ultrasound was conducted five to seven weeks after the end of the breeding period, and conception date for pregnant cows was identified using a combination of the ultrasound results and breeding records. Cows were grouped into three categories based on the interval from calving to mating start date (MSD) as early-calving ( $\geq$ 88 d; n = 387), mid-calving (71 to 87 d; n = 402), and late-calving ( $\leq$ 70 d; n = 391), respectively.

The proportion of cows that received an AI within the first 21 d after the farm MSD was defined as 21-d submission rate. The proportion of cows pregnant to first AI was defined as pregnancy to first AI (P/AI). The 21-, 42-, and 84-d pregnancy rate were defined as the proportion of cows pregnant within the first 21, 42 or 84 d of the MSD. Total number of inseminations received during the entire breeding season was defined as "times bred".

### 8.3.4. Genotypes, quality control and imputation

Of the 1180 animals with AGD information, 907 animals also had genotype information available. These animals had been genotyped on a variety of panels including the Illumina bovine 3K genotype panel (n=6; SNP = 2,900), Illumina Low Density panel (n=156; SNP = 6,909) or the custom genotyping panel International Dairy and Beef (**IDB**) version 1 (n=73; SNP = 17,137), version 2 (n=578; SNP = 18,004 or version 3 (n=94; SNP = 53,450). All animals had a call rate  $\geq$  90% and only autosomal SNP, SNP with a known chromosome and position and SNP with a call rate  $\geq$  90% were retained. To increase the density of the SNP panel for GWAS, imputation to the Illumina Bovine High Density (**HD**) beadchip was performed using FImpute2 (Sargolzaei et al., 2014). Imputation was completed using a two-step approach, whereby all animals were first imputed to the Illumina BovineSNP50 chip using a reference population of 3,532 Holstein-Friesian BovineSNP50 genotyped animals, and subsequently imputed to HD density using a multi-breed population of 5,504 HD genotyped as the reference population. After imputation, each individual had 648,572 autosomal SNP with a minor allele frequency >0.002 available for analysis.

#### 8.3.5. Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). The descriptive statistics such as minimum, maximum, mean, and standard deviation (amount of dispersion indicative of variability) for AGD were determined using MEANS procedure of SAS for all cows (n = 1180) and separately for cows from first, second, and third + parity groups (n = 308, 306 and 566, respectively).

The differences in mean AGD between first, second and third + parity cows were tested using GLIMMIX procedure of SAS, where AGD was modeled against parity and the effect of herd was treated as random. The associations among cow age, height, weight, BCS and AGD was assessed by coefficient of determination ( $\mathbf{R}^2$ ) using REG procedure of SAS.

Initially, the linear association between AGD (continuous independent variable) and P/AI (binomial dependent variable) was tested by the logistic regression analysis using LOGISTIC procedure of SAS. As no significant association was found using this approach, cows were categorized into quartiles based on AGD (Q1; 86 to 111 mm; n = 295, Q2; 111 to 120 mm; n = 295; Q3; 120 to 127 mm; n = 295, and Q4; 127 to 160 mm; n = 295) and the association with reproductive outcomes (21 d submission rate, P/AI, pregnancy rate within 21, 42, 84 d after MSD, and times bred) were analyzed using the GLIMMIX procedure of SAS. The interval from calving to MSD (early-calving;  $\geq$ 88 d, mid-calving; 71 to 87 d, and late-calving;  $\leq$ 70 d, respectively) and parity (first, second and third + parity) were considered as fixed effects along with categories of AGD, while herd was considered a random effect. The model specifications included a binary distribution and logit function, and an option to retrieve odds ratios. The reproductive outcomes were initially modelled against categories of AGD, interval from calving to MSD, parity and their interactions. As none of the interactions was significant, the final model only had the categorical

variables modelled against each reproductive outcome while the effect of herd was treated as random variable. Significant differences were reported if  $P \le 0.05$  and considered to be a tendency if P > 0.05 and  $\le 0.10$ .

#### 8.3.6. Heritability and Genome-wide association study for AGD

Variance component of AGD was estimated by restricted maximum likelihood in ASREML (Gilmour et al., 2009) using a univariate animal model. Whole genome association analysis was performed in genome-wide complex trait analysis (Yang et al., 2011) using a mixed linear model based association based on the leave-one-chromosome-out method (Yang et al., 2014). The following model was used:  $y = \mu + bx + g^{-} + e$ , where y is the AGD measure,  $\mu$  is the overall mean, b is a vector of fixed effects including parity coded as first, second and third+ parity, herd id, and the additive effect of the candidate SNP tested for association, x is the incidence matrix for the parameters  $b, q^{-}$  is the accumulated polygenic effect of all SNP except those on the chromosome where the candidate SNP is located and e is the residual. False discovery rate (FDR) control was performed using the Benjamini-Hochberg method using a FDR of 0.05. Gene search completed using Ensembl (http://ensembl.org/) and **NCBI** map viewer was (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mapview/) on the UMD 3.1 genome build. The relative roles of candidate searched using Bovine Database nearest genes were Genome (http://bovinegenome.org/).

#### 8.4. Results and discussion

Overall, AGD had a normal distribution and high variability in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows managed under pasture-based seasonal calving systems (mean [ $\pm$  standard deviation]; 119.2  $\pm$  11.6 mm; Table 1 and Figure 1). The pattern of distribution and variability reported herein was

comparable to that of our previous finding (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c) in Canadian Holstein cows (mean [ $\pm$  SD] of 131.0  $\pm$  12.0 mm) except that the overall mean AGD was 12 mm shorter in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows compared to Canadian Holsteins. A large phenotypic variation for AGD (mean [ $\pm$ SD] of 80.4  $\pm$  10.5 mm) also has been reported in women (Mendiola et al., 2012). The normal distribution and the high variability reported for AGD in dairy cows and women indicate that large phenotypic variation exists for AGD among different species. There could be numerous factors that contribute to the variation of AGD in these species; therefore, we intended to identify potential postnatal factors associated with phenotypic variation of AGD in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows.

In the present study, AGD was positively associated with cow age, height and body weight, and negatively associated with BCS (Figure 2). However, the phenotypic variation in AGD explainable by these variables was small ( $r^2$ =0.09, 0.06, 0.10 and 0.02, respectively). In agreement with the current findings, our previous study (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c) has shown that phenotypic variation in AGD was also weakly associated with age ( $r^2$ =0.09) and height ( $r^2$ =0.04) in Canadian Holstein cows. Similarly, either weak or non-significant associations were reported between AGD and length and body weight in female infants (Thankamony et al., 2009) and age, height and weight in young women (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014b; Wu et al., 2017). These observations indicate that the phenotypic variation in AGD is largely independent of postnatal factors, not only in women but also in dairy cows, and likely influenced by prenatal inutero concentrations of androgens, as reported in rodents (Wolf et al., 2002; Hotchkiss et al., 2007; Dean et al., 2012). It is also possible that genotypic differences among individuals affect phenotypic AGD. Thus, we aimed to estimate heritability and identify genetic markers (SNP) associated with phenotypic variation in AGD for Irish Holstein-Friesian cows in the current study.

The heritability estimate of 0.37 (standard error of mean  $\pm$  0.08) reported for AGD in the current study is comparatively higher than what has been reported for most of the traditional female fertility traits (0.02 to 0.04; Berry et al., 2014) and closer to the heritability estimates recently reported for other reproductive phenotypes such as antral follicle count (0.31 by Walsh et al., 2014) and circulating anti-Müllerian hormone concentration (0.36 and 0.46 by Nawaz et al., 2017 and Gobikrushanth et al., 2018a, respectively) in dairy cows. Although, these novel reproductive phenotypes have relatively higher heritability estimates than traditional fertility traits used in the dairy industry, their positive relationship with fertility has been inconsistent. Identification of potential SNP associated with phenotypic variance of any trait may have the potential to increase the genomic prediction accuracy of the trait if eventually incorporated into SNP selection panels. However, in the current study, no SNP remained significantly associated with phenotypic variation in AGD after adjustment for multiple testing. Six SNP of suggestive significance (P<0.0001) were identified across four Bos taurus autosomes (BTA; 6, 15, 20 and 26; Figure 3). Genomic regions associated with phenotypic variation in AGD and putative candidate genes within 250 kb up and downstream of the strongest association are listed in Table 2. However, none of these candidate genes is known to be related to fertility in dairy cows.

In our previous study (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c), P/AI and pregnancy up to 250 DIM were lower for cows with long AGD compared to those with short AGD in both first and second parity cows. Several studies have documented that females with long AGD had poorer fecundity/fertility outcomes than those with short AGD in gilts (Drickamer et al., 1997), rodents (Zehr et al., 2001), rabbits (Banszegi et al., 2012) and women (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a; Wu et al., 2017). Drickmer et al. (1997) reported that the AGD of newborn gilts was significantly larger in litters that had a greater proportion of male piglets. In a second

experiment from the above study (Drickmer et al., 1997), using 13 yr of data on breeding and litter composition, the authors reported that the majority of gilts from male-biased litters failed to become pregnant at the first breeding, suggesting a negative relationship between AGD and fertility in gilts. Furthermore, the onset of puberty was delayed in female mice with long AGD (Zehr et al., 2001) and rabbit does with long AGD had smaller, lighter and more male-biased litters (Banszegi et al., 2012). Based on these results in litter bearing species, females fetuses exposed to a high proportion of male fetuses have longer AGD and subsequently impaired fertility in adulthood. Recent studies reported that women with longer AGD had increased follicular recruitment and greater testosterone concentrations (Mendiola et al., 2012; Mira-Escolano et al., 2014a) during the early follicular phase, and were at a much higher risk of developing polycystic ovarian syndrome (Wu et al., 2017) than those with shorter AGD. All these results lend support to our previous finding that longer AGD in Canadian Holstein cows is associated with poor reproductive performance (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c). In the present study, however, none of the reproductive parameters evaluated significantly differed between AGD categories in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows (Table 3). Hence, the current results in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows do not support our previous finding of an inverse relationship between AGD and fertility in Canadian Holsteins.

The inverse relationship between AGD and fertility in Canadian Holsteins was only evident in first and second parity cows, not in third + parity cows, despite the latter having a phenotypic variation similar to that of first and second parity cows (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c). An optimum AGD of 127 mm was identified as predictive of P/AI using the receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for both first and second parity cows with moderate sensitivity and specificity. Thus, we previously concluded that this finding was likely because only cows that excel in both fertility and milk production would typically remain in the herd beyond two lactations, thereby leaving a relatively fertile pool of older (third + parity) cows, within which the association between AGD and fertility was less evident. Extending that notion to the present study, the absence of an inverse relationship between AGD and fertility in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows is probably attributable to the strong emphasis placed on selecting for fertility traits in Ireland during the last two decades, and aggressive culling of sub-fertile cows, resulting in a relatively more fertile population of cows in Ireland compared to Canada. For example, overall P/AI was 55% in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows in the current study compared with 37% reported in Canadian Holstein cows in our previous study (Gobikrushanth et al., 2017c). Of note, as mentioned previously, mean AGD was 12 mm shorter in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows compared to Canadian Holsteins (119 vs. 131 mm, respectively) despite similar pattern of distribution and variation for AGD between these two populations of cows, indicating a relatively larger population of cows with short AGD in Ireland compared to Canada. In addition, the differences in the overall reproductive management system between these two countries could also be a contributing factor. For example, in our previous study, Canadian Holstein cows were managed under confinement system with timed-AI as the predominant breeding method, whereas in the current study Irish Holstein-Friesian cows were managed under pasture based seasonal-calving system with AI at detected estrus as the predominant method of breeding, which may have further improved P/AI (Tenhagen et al., 2004; Thangavelu et al., 2015).

Despite no relationship observed between categories of AGD and fertility, in the current study, late-calving cows had poorer reproductive outcomes compared to mid- or early-calving cows, categorized based on the interval from calving to MSD (Table 4). Cows that have longer interval between calving and MSD (e.g. mid- or early-calving cows) would have adequate time for uterine involution, clearance of postpartum uterine infections, resumption of ovarian cyclicity and

have a greater number of estrous cycles prior to the first insemination compared to cows that have shorter interval between calving and MSD (e.g. late-calving cows), which predispose to greater fertility in dairy cows (Thatcher and Wilcox, 1973; Galvao et al., 2004; Sheldon and Dobson, 2004; Santos et al., 2009).

In conclusion, the present study failed to demonstrate an inverse relationship between AGD and fertility in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows managed under pasture-based seasonal calving systems despite high variability for AGD in that population. The moderate heritability reported for AGD is promising and will remain important if an association between AGD and fertility could be established in other dairy cattle populations. Thus, the association between AGD and fertility warrants further investigation, especially in the less-fertile North American dairy cattle, to corroborate our previous findings in Canadian Holstein cows.

## **8.5.** Acknowledgments

M. Gobikrushanth is a recipient of the Teagasc-University of Alberta Walsh Fellowship sponsored by Alberta Innovates Biosolutions, Edmonton, Canada. We acknowledge the staff of the Teagasc research dairies and the owners of the commercial dairy farms for their cooperation and participation in the trial. This research was partially funded by Alberta Milk, Edmonton, Canada (Project no. 819413), and the Irish Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine through RSF project 13S528.

	Minimum (mm)	Maximum (mm)	Mean [± <sup>1</sup> SD] (mm)
Overall <sup>2</sup> AGD, all parities $(n = 1180)$	86.0	160.0	$119.2 \pm 11.6$
AGD in first parity cows $(n = 308)$	86.0	145.0	$115.7\pm10.8$
AGD in second parity cows $(n = 306)$	89.0	154.0	$117.6\pm10.9$
AGD in third + parity cows $(n = 566)$	86.0	160.0	$122.0\pm11.6$

Table 8. 1. Descriptive statistics for ano-genital distance (AGD) in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows

<sup>1</sup> SD: standard deviation

<sup>2</sup>AGD: ano-genital distance: is the distance from the center of the anus to the base of the clitoris

**Table 8. 2.** Genomic regions of suggestive association with ano-genital distance in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows. The strongest association within each region is identified as well as the nearest putative candidate genes

<sup>1</sup> BTA	Position ( <sup>2</sup> Mb)	<sup>3</sup> Number	Lead SNP	Lead SNP	<sup>5</sup> P	Minor allele	Genes within 250kb of the
		of SNP/s		( <sup>4</sup> bp)		frequency	strongest association
6	32.427-32.427	1	rs133726266	32427292	9.79x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.48	ENSBTAG00000046413
							ENSBTAG00000046473
15	40.947-41.007	3	rs137211667	41007334	8.67x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.09	<i>PARVA</i> , ENSBTAG00000047691,
							ENSBTAG0000008193,
							MICAL2
20	25.028-25.028	1	rs132798046	25028988	1.46x10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.47	ARL15
26	2.383-2.383	1	rs133491966	2383663	6.14X10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.12	-

<sup>1</sup>BTA: *Bos taurus* autosome

<sup>2</sup>Mb: Mega base

<sup>3</sup>Number of SNP/s: Number of single nucleotide polymorphisms of suggestive significance ( $p<1x10^{-5}$ ) within the region

<sup>4</sup>bp: Base pairs

<sup>5</sup>P: Unadjusted p-value of the most strongly associated SNP within the region

	<sup>1</sup> Categories of AGD				
-	Q1	Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4			
	(range, 86 to 111	(range, 111 to 120	(range, 120 to 127	(range, 127 to	
	mm; n = 295)	mm; n = 295)	mm; n = 295)	165 mm; n = 295)	
<sup>2</sup> 21-d Submission rate (%)	92.3	92.3	92.3	92.0	0.99
<sup>3</sup> Pregnancy to first AI (%)	53.8	52.9	53.2	54.1	0.99
<sup>4</sup> 21-d Pregnancy rate (%)	55.3	52.7	52.7	54.0	0.92
<sup>5</sup> 42-d Pregnancy rate (%)	76.1	76.1	75.2	79.7	0.61
<sup>6</sup> 84-d Pregnancy rate (%)	91.6	92.1	91.9	95.2	0.32
<sup>7</sup> Times bred	1.65	1.65	1.67	1.64	0.97

**Table 8. 3.** Associations among AGD categories and reproductive outcomes (least square means; LSM) in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows

<sup>1</sup>Cows were categorized into quartiles based on AGD.

<sup>2</sup>21-d submission rate was constructed by coding cows with an insemination record within the first 21 d from mating start date as 1, and cows with no insemination record within the first 21 d coded as 0.

<sup>3</sup>Pregnancy to first AI was coded as 1 if a cow received only one insemination and was diagnosed as pregnant by the end of the breeding season.

<sup>4,5,6</sup>The 21-d, 42-d and 84-d pregnancy rate were coded as 1 if cows became pregnant within 21, 42 and 84 d from the mating start date and as 0 if the animal was diagnosed as non-pregnant.

<sup>7</sup>Times bred: total number of inseminations per cow during the 12 wk breeding season.

	<sup>1</sup> Interval from	P - Value		
	Early-calving Mid-calving		Late-calving	
	(≥88 d;	(71 to 87 d;	(≤70 d;	
	n = 387)	n = 402)	n = 391)	
<sup>2</sup> 21-d Submission rate (%)	88.4 <sup>a</sup>	96.5 <sup>b</sup>	88.9 <sup>a</sup>	< 0.01
<sup>3</sup> Pregnancy to first AI (%)	59.4ª	56.2ª	44.7 <sup>b</sup>	< 0.01
<sup>4</sup> 21-d Pregnancy rate (%)	57.7ª	60.2ª	42.9 <sup>b</sup>	< 0.01
<sup>5</sup> 42-d Pregnancy rate (%)	78.6 <sup>a,x</sup>	80.0 <sup>a</sup>	71.2 <sup>b,y</sup>	< 0.01
<sup>6</sup> 84-d Pregnancy rate (%)	92.8	93.4	92.2	0.80
<sup>7</sup> Times bred	1.57 <sup>a</sup>	1.60 <sup>a</sup>	1.79 <sup>b</sup>	< 0.01

**Table 8. 4.** Associations among interval from calving to mating start date categories and reproductive outcomes (least square means;LSM) in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows

Different superscripts within the same category differ (a,b; P < 0.05) or tended to differ (x,y; P > 0.05 and  $\leq 0.10$ ).

<sup>1</sup>Cows categorized into early-calving, mid-calving, and late-calving based on the interval from calving to mating start date.

<sup>2</sup>21-d submission rate was constructed by coding cows with an insemination record within the first 21 d from mating start date as 1, and cows with no insemination record within the first 21 d coded as 0.

<sup>3</sup>Pregnancy to first AI was coded as 1 if a cow received only one service and was diagnosed as pregnant by the end of the breeding season.

<sup>4,5,6</sup>The 21-d, 42-d and 84-d pregnancy rate were coded as 1 if cows became pregnant within 21, 42 and 84 d from the mating start date and as 0 if the animal was diagnosed as non-pregnant.

<sup>7</sup>Times bred: total number of inseminations per cow during the 12 wk breeding season.

.



**Figure 8. 1.** The distribution of ano-genital distance in first (filled bars; n = 308), second (hatched bars; n = 306) and third + (dotted bars; n = 566) parity Irish Holstein-Friesian cows.



**Figure 8. 2.** Association between ano-genital distance (AGD), age, height at hip, body weight and body condition score (BCS) in a subset 281 Irish Holstein-Friesian cows (a;  $r^2 = 0.09$ ; P < 0.01, b;  $r^2 = 0.06$ ; P < 0.01, c;  $r^2 = 0.10$ ; P < 0.01, d;  $r^2 = 0.02$ ; P < 0.01, respectively).



**Figure 8.3.** Manhattan plot of the genome-wide association study for ano-genital distance in 908 Irish Holstein-Friesian cows. The blue horizontal line represents all single nucleotide polymorphisms with a suggestive significance (P-value <0.00001) across four Bos taurus autosomes (BTA: 6, 15, 20 and 26) before adjustment for false discovery rate of P < 0.05.

### Chapter 9. General discussion and future directions

A reproductive phenotype that has high variability, repeatability, heritability, and association with fertility could become an excellent fertility trait for genetic selection to enhance fertility in dairy cows. Therefore, we intended to evaluate the aforementioned characteristics for five novel reproductive phenotypes in dairy cows, namely, gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH)-induced luteinizing hormone (LH) response, antral follicle count (AFC), anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and ano-genital distance (AGD). In addition, we determined genetic markers (single nucleotide polymorphisms; SNP) associated with three of the aforementioned reproductive phenotypes (AMH, IGF-1, and AGD) using genome-wide association studies (GWAS).

#### 9.1. Key findings

In the first study, we showed that GnRH-induced LH responses were normally distributed, highly variable and had positive relationship with other reproductive hormones like circulating FSH and E2 in dairy cows. However, the repeatability for this reproductive phenotype was weak and not significant. Although, in our second study, we found that both AFC and AMH were repeatable between an unknown stage of follicular growth (14 d postpartum) and the expected day of follicular wave emergence (approximately 10 h after induced ovulation), the repeatability was significantly greater for AMH than for AFC. In addition, AMH and AFC were moderately correlated. In the third study, serum AMH determined during the first week postpartum was positively skewed, highly variable, and moderately heritable, but it was not associated with fertility. However, for the first time, numerous (n=670) genetic markers associated with

phenotypic variation of AMH were identified in dairy cows. Interestingly, some of these genetic markers were linked to candidate genes of fertility as previously reported in rodents. In the fourth study, serum IGF-1 determined during the first week postpartum had positively skewed distribution, high variability and positive associations with postpartum ovarian cyclicity in multiparous cows and pregnancy to first AI in both primiparous and multiparous cows. However, the diagnostic values were moderate in predicting pregnancy outcomes to first AI. As in the case of AMH, we identified several (n=37) genetic makers that were associated with phenotypic variation of IGF-1 in dairy cows, some of which have been linked to candidate genes of fertility in previous reports. For the first time, we characterized AGD in dairy cows and found that it was normally distributed, highly variable, moderately heritable, and minimally influenced by postnatal factors.-While, AGD was inversely related with fertility in Canadian Holstein cows of first and second parity, this relationship was not evident in older (third + parity) Canadian Holsteins. This was likely because only cows that excel in both fertility and milk production would typically remain in the herd beyond two lactations, leaving a relatively fertile pool of older (third + parity) cows in Canadian Holstein herds. The inverse relationship between AGD and fertility found in Canadian Holsteins, however, was not found in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows of any parity. Irish Holstein- Friesian cows are known to be more fertile than North American Holstein cows due to the strong emphasis placed on selecting for fertility traits in Ireland in the past two decades combined with an aggressive strategy of culling sub-fertile cows, within which the inverse association between AGD and fertility was less evident.

#### 9.2. General discussion, limitations, and future directions

The use of GnRH-induced LH response as a fertility trait for genetic selection remains questionable due to its poor repeatability despite having normal distribution, high variability and positive associations with other reproductive hormones such as FSH and E2. Circulating AMH would be a more reliable phenotype than AFC to test associations with reproductive outcomes due to its greater repeatability between unknown and known stages of follicular growth. The use of serum AMH as a fertility trait remains questionable despite having greater phenotypic variation, moderate heritability and numerous genetic markers linked to previously identified candidate genes of fertility. Nevertheless, circulating AMH has been suggested as a useful predictor of superovulation responses in dairy cows (Rico et al., 2012; Rozner and Verstegen., 2012; Souza et al., 2015). Therefore, genetic markers that were in linkage disequilibrium with AMH gene on chromosome 7 could be of value in identifying donors from within a pool of elite cows, that have higher potential for yielding a greater number of good quality transferable embryos. The early postpartum circulating IGF-1 was identified as an important factor necessary for postpartum cyclicity and establishment of pregnancy to first AI in dairy cows. However, due to its moderate sensitivity, circulating IGF-1 concentration cannot be used as a biomarker to predict pregnancy outcomes to first AI to strategically delay the breeding of cows with lower circulating IGF-1. Yet, genetic markers identified to be associated with phenotypic variation of IGF-1 could be incorporated into SNP panels to increase selection accuracy of cows having high IGF-1 if IGF-1 is to be considered as a fertility trait in future. Ano-genital distance had almost all of the preferred characteristics for a novel fertility trait including high variation, moderate heritability, and negative association with fertility, at least in first and second parity Canadian

Holsteins. The absence of association noted between AGD and fertility in older parity (third +) Canadian Holsteins and Irish Holstein-Friesian cows is interesting given that these are relatively more fertile animals. Nevertheless, the association between AGD and fertility warrants further investigation in the relatively less fertile North American cows.

Luteinizing hormone plays an important role in reproductive function. Therefore, selecting cows with greater capacity for LH secretion could be a strategy to improve fertility in dairy cows. The possible influence of negative energy balance (NEB) and high P4 concentration were controlled or avoided by evaluating GnRH-induced LH responses twice within a short interval (8) and 10 wk postpartum) and by eliminating cows that had circulating P4 concentration  $\geq 0.5$ ng/mL at GnRH of presynchronization and Ovsynch in our first study. However, it has been previously reported that dairy cows might take up to 20 wk postpartum to regain positive energy status (Taylor et al., 2003). Therefore, in order to determine the true potential of anterior pituitary gland in the production and release of LH, future experiments could be designed using prepubertal heifers or cows beyond 20 wk postpartum. Albeit not statistically significant, we have shown that cows with high LH responses had 12.5 percentage units greater ovulation rate compared to cows with low LH responses following GnRH treatment. Thus, the association between GnRH-induced LH responses and fertility warrants further investigation. If GnRHinduced LH responses are adequately repeatable and strongly associated with fertility, then the next steps are to determine (1) heritability, (2) genetic and phenotypic correlations with other traits of interest (i.e., production), and (3) genetic markers associated with its phenotypic variation through GWAS. Of note, a moderate heritability of 0.44 has been previously reported for GnRHinduced LH responses in ewes (Haley et al., 1989), and GWAS identifying genetic markers

associated with reproductive hormones in human subjects have been reported more recently (Chen et al., 2013; Ruth et al., 2016).

The use of AFC and circulating AMH as potential fertility traits is of recent interest to many researchers. Therefore, it is important to identify when these phenotypes should be measured relative to postpartum and/or ovarian cyclicity stages. Given this, in the second study, we determined AFC and AMH once during early postpartum where cows are at their unknown stage of follicular growth and again during timed-AI protocol which is 10 h after induced ovulation when cows are approximately at their follicular wave emergence. The first measurements for AFC and AMH were taken during the second week postpartum when cows are known to be in a state of negative energy balance (NEB). Therefore, this sampling time point could be considered inappropriate given potential negative influence of NEB on postpartum follicular growth and thereby production of AMH. The rise of FSH and emergence of first postpartum follicular wave occur within 3 to 5 d postpartum in dairy cows regardless of state of energy balance (Crowe, 2008). Indeed, earlier studies from Savio et al., (1990) and Beam and Butler (1997) reported that the first dominant follicle was selected between 10 and 12 d postpartum in all dairy cows irrespective of dietary deficiencies and periparturient diseases. In addition, Monniaux et al. (2012) have shown that circulating concentration of AMH were consistent through 8, 18, 28, 38, and 48 d postpartum despite dramatic changes in NEB. Therefore, determination of AFC and AMH at early postpartum period in our study should not have been affected by the state of NEB. The moderate-to-high correlation reported between AFC and AMH in the present study and in previous studies (Ireland et al., 2008; Rico et al., 2009) indicates that either of the two phenotypes (AFC or AMH) could be used interchangeably in future studies. Nevertheless, while the determination of AFC is inexpensive and rapid, it needs

the expertise of a trained individual to perform transrectal ultrasonography. Quantifying circulating AMH, on the other hand, is relatively expensive and takes more time, albeit easily measured from a single blood sample.

Due to the ease of determining AMH from a single blood sample and its greater repeatability, circulating AMH concentration was determined during first week postpartum and associated with fertility outcomes in the third study. Nevertheless, an optimum circulating AMH threshold predictive of pregnancy to first AI could not be established and categories of serum AMH had associations with none of the reproductive outcomes studied. The potential limitations of our study are the use of a relatively small sample size (n = 460) and the use of cows that were subjected to either timed AI or insemination at detected estrus. A posteriori power analysis based on an actual difference of 6% in pregnancy to first AI between low and high AMH category cows called for ~ 2000 cows in total to attain statistical significance. Though not significant, the difference of 6% in pregnancy to first AI increased to 8% when only cows inseminated at detected estrus were considered in the analysis. Therefore, future studies could focus on evaluating the association between circulating AMH and fertility in dairy cows subjected to insemination at detected estrus.

The fourth study determined circulating concentration of IGF-1during the first week postpartum in dairy cows, and we have shown that the variation in circulating IGF-1 was influenced by differences among herds, age, parity, body condition score and season of sampling. It is important to note that the differences among cows in their dry matter intake (DMI) and energy status (i.e. NEB) during the first week postpartum could have been some other factors influencing phenotypic variation of IGF-1, and a potential limitation of our study. Moreover, heritability for circulating IGF-1 was not estimated in this study due to extremely skewed
distribution for serum IGF-1 because nearly a third of the cows had IGF-1 concentration below the detection limit of the assay. Therefore, more sensitive assays should be used in future studies involving measurement of circulating IGF-1 in dairy cows.

The last two studies were designed to test the potential of using AGD as a novel fertility trait in dairy cows. Despite having almost all of the preferred characteristics of an ideal fertility trait, the association between AGD and fertility was inconsistent based on two studies conducted in Canada and Ireland. For example, the negative relationship observed between AGD and fertility in first and second parity Canadian Holsteins was not evident in older parity (third +) Canadian Holsteins as well as in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows. It is noteworthy that Irish Holstein-Friesians are inherently more fertile than Canadian Holsteins and this might have masked the actual relationship between AGD and fertility in Irish Holstein-Friesian cows. Nevertheless, the association between AGD and fertility warrants further investigation, especially using a large population of relatively less fertile North American Holsteins before ruling out the potential of using AGD as a fertility trait for genetic selection in future. If AGD is proven to be associated with fertility, then the next steps are to (1) unravel the underlying physiological mechanisms that lead to poor fertility in cows with longer AGD, and (2) determine the phenotypic and genetic correlations with production and health related traits that are currently used in our national selection indices.

# 9.3. Final thoughts

Vigilant and systematic implementation of genetic selection over the past decades has contributed greatly to the vast improvements seen in milk production potential of the modern dairy cow. While selection based on production-oriented traits has received much attention, little emphasis has been placed on genetic selection for fertility traits, until recently. Even so, the current focus is on conventional fertility traits, which rely on interval data collected from the field. However, these conventional fertility traits are highly influenced by environmental factors and have low heritability, slowing genetic progress. On the other hand, novel reproductive phenotypes that are closely related to the reproductive physiology of dairy cows such as commencement of luteal activity, estrus-related phenotypes, and hormone concentrations may be less influenced by the environment and have higher heritability, contributing to more rapid genetic progress, but are often difficult and expensive to quantify in a larger population. Whilst, commencement of luteal activity (Berry et al., 2012) and duration and intensity of estrus (Ismael et al., 2015) have already been evaluated as potential fertility traits, the knowledge on the use of reproductive hormones as fertility traits for genomic selection is uncommon. In this regard, this dissertation is an attempt to characterize novel reproductive phenotypes of physiological relevance in dairy cows, resulting in the creation of new knowledge and several original contributions that provide a deeper insight into five important novel reproductive phenotypes related to reproductive physiology of the Holstein cow.

## References

Aboozar, M., H. Amanloh, A. M. Aghazadeh, K. N. Adl, M. T. Moeini, and T. Tanha. 2012. Impacts of different levels of RUP on performance and reproduction of Holstein Friesian cows. J. Animal Veterinary Adv. 11:1338–1345. DOI: 10.3923/javaa.2012.1338.1345.

Adams, G. P., R. L. Matteri, J. P. Kastelic, J. C. H. Ko, and O. J. Ginther OJ. 1992. Association between surges of follicle stimulating hormone and the emergence of follicular waves in heifers J. Reprod. Fertil. 94:177–188. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1552480</u>.

Alexandratos, N., and J. Bruinsma. 2012. World agriculture towards 2030/2050: The 2012 revision. ESA Working Paper No. 12-03. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy. <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/016/ap106e/ap106e.pdf</u>.

Alonso, L., M. Maquivar, G. C. Salina, G. D. Mendoza, A. Guzman, S. Estrada, M. Villareal, and R. Molina. 2008. Effect of ruminally protected methionine on the productive and reproductive performance of grazing Bosindicus heifers raised in the humid tropics of Costa Rica. Trop Anim Health Prod 40:667–672. DOI: <u>10.1007/s11250-008-9146-1</u>.

Ambrose, J. D., J. P. Kastelic, R. Rajamahendran, M. Aali, and N. Dinn. 2005. Progesterone (CIDR)-based timed AI protocols using GnRH, porcine LH or estradiol cypionate for dairy heifers: Ovarian and endocrine responses and pregnancy rates. Theriogenology 64:1457–1474. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.03.010.

Ambrose, D. J., J. P. Kastelic, R. Corbett, P. A. Pitney, H. V. Petit, J. A. Small, and P. Zalkovic.
2006. Lower pregnancy losses in lactating dairy cows fed a diet enriched in alpha-linolenic acid.
J. Dairy Sci. 89:3066–3074. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72581-4</u>.

Ambrose, D. J., M. G. Colazo, and J. P. Kastelic. 2010. The applications of timed artificial insemination and timed embryo transfer in reproductive management of dairy cattle. R. Bras. Zootec., v.39, p.383–392. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982010001300042</u>.

Aneja, V. P., J. Blunden, K. James, W. H. Schlesinger, R. Knighton, W. Gilliam, G. Jennings, D. Niyogi, and S. Cole. 2008. Ammonia assessment from agriculture: US status and needs. J Environ Qual 37:515–520. DOI:<u>10.2134/jeq2007.0002in.</u>

Ardalan, M., K. Rezayazdi, and M. Dehghan-Banadaky. 2010. Effect of rumen-protected choline and methionine on physiological and metabolic disorders and reproductive indices of dairy cows. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr 94:259–265. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0396.2009.00966.x</u>.

Banszegi, O., P. Szenczi, D. Kriszta, A. Bilko, and V. Altbacker. 2012. Anogenital distance as a predictor of attractiveness, litter size and sex ratio of rabbit does. Physiol. Behav. 105:1226–1230. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.01.002</u>.

Baruselli, P. S., E. O. S. Batista, L. M. Vieira, and A. H. Souza. 2015. Relationship between follicle population, AMH concentration and fertility in cattle. Anim. Reprod. 12:487–497.

http://www.cbra.org.br/pages/publicacoes/animalreproduction/issues/download/v12/v12n3/pag4 87-497%20(AR758).pdf.

Batista, E. O. S., G. G. Macedo, R. V. Sala, M. Ortolan, M. F. Sá Filho, T. A. Del Valle, E. F. Jesus, R. Lopes, F. P. Rennó, and P. S. Baruselli. 2014. Plasma anti-mullerian hormone as a predictor of ovarian antral follicular population in Bos indicus (Nelore) and Bos taurus (Holstein) heifers. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 49:448–452. DOI: <u>10.1111/rda.12304</u>.

Battaglia, D. F., H. B. Krasa, V. Padmanabhan, C. Viguie, and F. J. Karsch. 2000. Endocrine alterations that underlie endotoxin-induced disruption of the follicular phase in ewes. Biol. Reprod. 62:45–53. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10611066</u>.

Bauman, D. E., and W. B. Currie. 1980. Partitioning of nutrients during pregnancy and lactation: A review of mechanisms involving homeostasis and homeorhesis. J. Dairy Sci. 63:1514–1529. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7000867.

Beal, W. E., R. E. Short, R. B. Staigmiller, R. A. Bellows, C. C. Kaltenbach, and T. G. Dunn. 1978. Influence of dietary energy intake on bovine pituitary and luteal function. Anim. Sci. 46: 181–188. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/346545</u>.

Beam, S. W., and W. R. Butler. 1997. Energy balance and ovarian follicle development prior to the first ovulation postpartum in dairy cows receiving three levels of dietary fat. Biol. Reprod. 56:133–142. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9002642</u>.

Beam S. W., and W. R. Butler. 1999. Effects of energy balance on follicular development and first ovulation in postpartum dairy cows. J. Reprod. Fertil. 54:411–424. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10692872.

Bello, N. M., J. P. Steibel, and J. R. Pursley. 2006. Optimizing ovulation to first GnRH improved outcomes to each hormonal injection of Ovsynch in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:3413–3424. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72378-5</u>.

Bellows, D. S., S. L. Ott, and R. A. Bellows (2002). Review: Cost of reproductive diseases and conditions in cattle. The professional animal scientists 18:26–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.15232/S1080-7446(15)31480-7</u>.

Berchtold, M. W., and A. Villalobo. 2014. The many faces of calmodulin in cell proliferation, programmed cell death, autophagy, and cancer. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1843:398–435. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.10.021</u>.

Berglund, B. Genetic improvement of dairy cows reproductive performance. 2008. Reprod Dom Anim 43:89–95. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01147.x</u>.

Berry, D. P., J. W. M. Bastiaansen, R. F. Veerkamp, S. Wijga, E. Wall, B. Berglund, and M. P. Calus. 2012. Genome-wide associations for fertility traits in Holstein-Friesian dairy cows using data from experimental research herds in four European countries. Animal 6:1206–1215. DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731112000067</u>.

Berry, D. P., E. Wall, and J. E. Pryce. 2014. Genetics and genomics of reproductive performance in dairy and beef cattle. Animal 8 Suppl 1:105–121. DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731114000743</u>.

Bisinotto, R. S., and J. E. P. Santos. 2012. The use of endocrine treatments to improve pregnancy rates in cattle. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 24:258–266. DOI: <u>10.1071/RD11916</u>.

Bisinotto, R. S., E. S. Ribeiro, F. S. Lima, N. Martinez, L. F. Greco, L. F. S. P. Barbosa, P. P. Bueno, L. F. S. Scagion, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2013. Targeted progesterone supplementation improves fertility in lactating dairy cows without a corpus luteum at the initiation of the timed artificial insemination protocol. J. Dairy Sci. 96:2214–2225. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2012-6038</u>.

Bisinotto, R. S., E. S. Ribeiro, and J. E. P. Santos. 2014. Synchronization of ovulation for management of reproduction in dairy cows. Animal. 8 Suppl 1:151–159.

DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731114000858</u>.

Bousquet, D. 2004. Decreasing Fertility in Dairy Cows: Myth or Reality? Proceedings of World Buiatrics Congress, Quebec, Canada.

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.461.7047&rep=rep1&type=pdf.

Buckley, F., K. O'Sullivan, J. F. Mee, R. D. Evans, and P. Dillon. 2013. Relationships among milk yield, body condition, cow weight, and reproduction in spring calved Holstein-Friesians. J. Dairy Sci. 86:2308–2319. DOI:<u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73823-5</u>.

Burns, D. S., F. Jimenez-Krassel, J. L. Ireland, P. G. Knight, and J. J. Ireland. 2005. Numbers of antral follicles during follicular waves in cattle: Evidence for high variation among animals, very high repeatability in individuals, and an inverse association with serum follicle-stimulating hormone concentrations. Biol. Reprod. 73:54–62. DOI: <u>10.1095/biolreprod.104.036277</u>.

Butler, W. R., and R. D. Smith. 1989. Interrelationship between energy balance and postpartum reproductive function in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 72:767–783. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-</u>0302(89)79169-4.

Butler, W. R. 1998. Review: Effect of protein nutrition on ovarian and uterine physiology in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 81:2533–2539. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)70146-8.

Butler, W. R. 2000. Nutritional interactions with reproductive performance in dairy cattle. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 60–61:449–457. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10844215</u>.

Butler, W. R. 2003. Energy balance relationships with follicular development, ovulation and fertility in postpartum dairy cows. Livest. Prod. Sci. 83:211–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(03)00112-X</u>.

Butler, S. T., A. L. Bork, S. H. Pelton, R. P. Radcliff, M. C. Lucy, and W. R. Butler. 2003. Insulin restores hepatic growth hormone (GH) responsiveness during lactation-induced negative energy balance in dairy cattle: effects on expression of insulin-like growth factor-I and GH receptor 1A.
J. Endocrinol. 176:205–217. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12553869</u>.

Butler, S. T. 2014. Nutritional management to optimize fertility of dairy cows in pasture-based systems. Animal 8: supplement 1, pp 15-26. DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731114000834</u>.

Bowman, C. J., N. J. Barlow, K. J. Turner, D. G. Wallace, and P. M. Foster. 2003. Effects of in utero exposure to finasteride on androgen-dependent reproductive development in the male rat. Toxicol. Sci. 74:393–406. DOI:<u>10.1093/toxsci/kfg128</u>.

Bridges, G. A., L. A. Helser, D. E. Grum, M. L. Mussard, C. L. Gasser, and M. L. Day. 2008. Decreasing the interval between GnRH and PGF2a from 7 to 5 days and lengthening proestrus increases timed-AI pregnancy rates in beef cows. Theriogenology 69:843–851. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2007.12.011.

Britt, J. H., R. G. Scott, J. D. Armstrong, and M. D. Wiitacre. 1986. Determinants of estrous behavior in lactating Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 69:2195–2202. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(86)80653-1</u>.

Bruinjé, T. C., M. Gobikrushanth, M. G. Colazo, and D. J. Ambrose. 2017a. Dynamics of pre- and post-insemination progesterone profiles and insemination outcomes determined by an in-line milk analysis system in primiparous and multiparous Canadian Holstein cows. Theriogenology 102:147–153. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017.05.024</u>.

Bruinjé, T. C., M. G. Colazo, M. Gobikrushanth, and D. J. Ambrose. 2017b. Relationships among early postpartum luteal activity, parity, and insemination outcomes based on in-line milk

progesterone profiles in Canadian Holstein cows. Theriogenology 100:32–41. DOI:10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017.05.021.

Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines on the Care and Use of Farm Animals in Research, Teaching and Testing. 2009. <u>http://ccac.ca/Documents/Standards/Guidelines/Farm\_Animals.pdf;</u> accessed on October 14<sup>th</sup> 2014.

Canadian Dairy Network. 2018. <u>https://www.cdn.ca/document.php?id=443;</u> accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> July 2018.

Canfield, R.W., C. J. Sniffen, and W. R. Butler. 1990. Effects of excess degradable protein on postpartum reproduction and energy balance in dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. 73:2343–2349. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(90)78916-3.

CanWest DHI. 2017. Western herd improvement report.

(http://www.canwestdhi.com/flip5/mobile/index.html#p=17). p 15; accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2018.

Cardoso, F. C., S. J. LeBlanc, M. R. Murphy, and J. K. Drackley. 2013. Prepartum nutritional strategy affects reproductive performance in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96:5859–5871. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2013-6759.

Cerri, R. L. A., H. M. Rutigliano, R. C. Chebel, and J. E. P. Santos. 2009. Period of dominance of the ovulatory follicle influences embryo quality in lactating dairy cows. Reproduction. 137:813–

### 823. DOI: <u>10.1530/REP-08-0242</u>.

Cerri, R., R. Chebel, F. Rivera, C. Narciso, R. Oliveira, W. Thatcher, and J. Santos. 2011a. Concentration of progesterone during the development of the ovulatory follicle: I. Ovarian and embryonic responses. J. Dairy Sci. 94:3342–3351. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2010-3734</u>.

Cerri, R., R. Chebel, F. Rivera, C. Narciso, R. Oliveira, W. Thatcher, and J. Santos. 2011b. Concentration of progesterone during the development of the ovulatory follicle: II. Ovarian and uterine responses. J. Dairy Sci. 94:3352–3365. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2010-3735</u>.

Chapa, A. M., M. E. McCormick, J. M. Fernandez, D. D. French, J. D. Ward, and J. F. Beatty. 2001. Supplemental dietary protein for grazing dairy cows: reproduction, condition loss, plasma metabolites, and insulin. J Dairy Sci 84:908–916. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74548-1</u>.

Chebel, R. C., and E. S. Ribeiro. 2016. Reproductive systems for North American dairy cattle herds. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 32:267–284. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.cvfa.2016.01.002</u>.

Chebel, R. C., L. G. D. Mendonça, and P. S. Baruselli. 2018. Association between body condition score change during the dry period and postpartum health and performance. J. Dairy Sci. 101:4595–4616. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2017-13732.

Chen, Z., S. Tao, Y. Gao et al: 2013. Genome-wide association study of sex hormones, gonadotropins and sex hormone-binding protein in Chinese men. J Med Genet 50: 794–801. DOI:10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101705.

Chu, H. P., Y. Liao, J. S. Novak, Z. Hu, J. J. Merkin, Y. Shymkiv, B. P. Braeckman, M. V. Dorovkov, A. Nguyen, P. M. Clifford, R. G. Nagele, D. E. Harrison, R. E. Ellis, and A. G. Ryazanov. 2014. Germline quality control: eEF2K stands guard to eliminate defective oocytes. Dev. cell 28:561–572. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.devcel.2014.01.027.</u>

Ciccioli, N. H., R. P. Wettemann, L. J. Spicer, C. A. Lents, F. J. White, and D. H. Keisler. 2003. Influence of body condition at calving and postpartum nutrition on endocrine function and reproductive performance of primiparous beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 81:3107–3120. DOI: 10.2527/2003.81123107x.

Colazo, M. G., J. P. Kastelic, H. Davis, M. D. Rutledge, M. F. Martinez, J. A. Small, and R. J. Mapletoft. 2008. Effects of plasma progesterone concentrations on LH release and ovulation in beef cattle given GnRH. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 34:109–117. DOI: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2006.11.004.

Colazo, M. G., A. Hayirli, L. Doepel, and D. J. Ambrose. 2009a. Reproductive performance of dairy cows is influenced by prepartum feed restriction and dietary fatty acid source. J. Dairy Sci. 92 2562–2571. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2008-1517</u>.

Colazo, M. G., T. O. Ree, D. G. V. Emmanuel, and D. J. Ambrose. 2009b. Plasma luteinizing hormone concentrations in cows given repeated treatments or three different doses of gonadotropin releasing hormone. Theriogenology 71:984–992. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2008.11.002</u>.

Colazo, M. G., A. Dourey, R. Rajamahendran, D. J. Ambrose. 2013. Progesterone supplementation before timed AI increased ovulation synchrony and pregnancy per AI, and supplementation after timed AI reduced pregnancy losses in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology. 79:833–841. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.12.011.

Colazo, M. G., and R. J. Mapletoft. 2014. A review of current timed-AI programs for beef and dairy cattle. Can Vet J. 55:772–280. PMCID: <u>PMC4095965</u>.

Colazo, M. G., M. Gobikrushanth, A. Behrouzi, and B. Hoff. 2017. Benchmarking early postpartum disorders in Alberta dairy herds. WCDS, Red Deer, AB, Canada. <u>https://wcds.ualberta.ca/wcds/wp-content/uploads/sites/57/2018/05/p-363.pdf</u>.

Colazo, M. G., I. Lopez-Helgurea, A. Behrouzi, D. J. Ambrose, and R. J. Mapletoft. 2017. Relationship between circulating progesterone and fertility in dairy cows subjected to GnRH-based protocols. Theriogenology 94:15–20. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017.02.004</u>.

Cooke, N. E., and J. G. Haddad. 1989. Vitamin D binding protein (Gc-globulin). Endocr. Rev 10:294–307. DOI: <u>10.1210/edrv-10-3-294</u>.

Council on Dairy Cattle Breeding. 2016. <u>https://queries.uscdcb.com/eval/summary/trend.cfm;</u> accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2018.

Crowe, M. A., M. Hostens, and G. Opsomer. 2018. Reproductive management in dairy cows – the future. Ir Vet J 71:1. DOI: 10.1186/s13620-017-0112-y.

Crowe, M. A. 2008. Resumption of ovarian cyclicity in post-partum beef and dairy cows. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 43:20-28. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01210.x</u>.

Cowie, T. A. 1948. Pregnancy diagnosis tests: a review. Commonwealth agricultural bureaux joint publication No. 13, Oxford, UK; p. 11–7. 15.

Cummins, S. B., P. Lonergan, A. C. O. Evans, D. P. Berry, R. D. Evans, and S. T. Butler. 2012a. Genetic merit for fertility traits in Holstein cows: I. Production characteristics and reproductive efficiency in a pasture-based system. J. Dairy Sci. 95:1310–1322. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-4742</u>.

Cummins, S. B., P. Lonergan, A. C. O. Evans, and S. T. Butler. 2012b. Genetic merit for fertility traits in Holstein cows: II. Ovarian follicular and corpus luteum dynamics, reproductive hormones, and estrus behavior. J. Dairy Sci. 95:3698–3710. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-4976</u>.

Curran, S., R. A. Pierson, and O. J. Ginther. 1986. Ultrasonographic appearance of the bovine conceptus from days 10 through 20. J Am Vet Med Assoc 189:1289–1294. <u>PMID: 3793570.</u>

Curtis, C. R., H. N. Erb, C. J. Sniffen, R. D. Smith, and D. S. Kronfeld. 1985. Path analysis of dry period nutrition, postpartum metabolic and reproductive disorders, and mastitis in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 68:2347–2360. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(85)81109-7</u>.

Cushman, R. A., M. F. Allan, L. A. Kuehn, W. M. Snelling, A. S. Cupp, and H. C. Freetly. 2009. Evaluation of antral follicle count and ovarian morphology in crossbred beef cows: Investigation of influence of stage of the estrous cycle, age, and birth weight. J. Anim. Sci. 87:1971–1980. DOI: 10.2527/jas.2008-1728.

Dairy Farmers of Canada. 2016. <u>https://www.dairyfarmers.ca/what-we-do/our-economic-</u> contribution; accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2018.

Dean, A., L. B. Smith, S. Macpherson, and R. M. Sharpe. 2012. The effect of dihydrotestosterone exposure during or prior to the masculinization programming window on reproductive development in male and female rats. Int. J. Androl. 35:330–339. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1365-</u>2605.2011.01236.x.

Dematawewa, C. M. B., and P. J. Berger. 1998. Genetic and Phenotypic Parameters for 305-Day Yield, Fertility, and Survival in Holsteins. J. Dairy Sci. 81:2700–2709. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75827-8</u>.

Denicol, A. C, G. Jr. Lopes, L. G. Mendonça, F. A. Rivera, F. Guagnini, R. V. Perez, J. R. Lima,R. G. Bruno, J. E. P. Santos, and R. C. Chebel. 2012. Low progesterone concentration during the

development of the first follicular wave reduces pregnancy per insemination of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:1794–1806. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-4650</u>.

de Vries, M. J., and R. F. Veerkamp. 2000. Energy Balance of Dairy Cattle in Relation to Milk Production Variables and Fertility. J. Dairy Sci. 83:62–69. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-</u> <u>0302(00)74856-9</u>.

Dewailly, D., C. Y. Andersen, A. Balen, F. Broekmans, N. Dilaver, R. Fanchin, G. Griesinger, T.
W. Kelsey, A. La Marca, C. Lambalk, H. Mason, S. M. Nelson, J. A. Visser, W. H. Wallace, and
R. A. Anderson. 2014. The physiology and clinical utility of anti-Mullerian hormone in women.
Hum Reprod Update. 20:370–385. DOI: <u>10.1093/humupd/dmt062</u>.

Dias, F. C. F., M. G. Colazo, J. P. Kastelic, R. J. Mapletoft, G. P. Adams, and J. Singh. 2010. Progesterone concentration, estradiol pretreatment, and dose of gonadotropin-releasing hormone affect gonadotropin-releasing hormone-mediated luteinizing hormone release in beef heifers. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 39:155–162. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.domaniend.2010.04.002</u>.

Dijkhuizen, A. A., J. Stelwagen, and J. A. Renkema. 1984. Economic Aspects of Reproductive Failure in Dairy Cattle. I. Financial loss at farm level. Elsevier Scmnce Publ. B V 385:251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5877(85)90020-0.

Dillon, P., D. P. Berry, R. D. Evans, F. Buckley, and B. Horan. 2006. Consequences of genetic selection for increased milk production in European seasonal pasture based systems of milk

production. Livest. Sci. 99, 141–158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livprodsci.2005.06.011.</u>

Diskin, M. G., S. M. Waters, M. H. Parr, and D. A. Kenny. 2016. Pregnancy losses in cattle: potential for improvement. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 28:83–93. DOI: <u>10.1071/RD15366</u>.

Dourey, A., M. G. Colazo, P. P. Barajas, and D. J. Ambrose. 2011. Relationships between endometrial cytology and interval to first ovulation, and pregnancy in postpartum dairy cows in a single herd. Res Vet Sci 91:e149–53. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.rvsc.2010.11.011</u>.

Drackley, J. K. 1999. Biology of dairy cows during the transition period: The final frontier? J. Dairy Sci. 82:2259–2273. <u>PMID: 10575597.</u>

Edmonson, A. J., L. J. Lean, L. D. Weaver, T. Farver, and G. Webster. 1989. A body condition scoring chart for Holstein dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 72:68–78.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(89)79081-0

Elmlinger, M. W., M. Zwirner, and W. Kuhnel. 2005. Stability of insulin- like growth factor (IGF)-I and IGF binding protein (IGFBP)-3 measured by the IMMULITE automated chemiluminescence assay system in different blood specimens. Clin. Lab. 51:145–152. <u>PMID: 15819169.</u>

Elrod, C. C., and W. R. Butler. 1993. Reduction of fertility and alteration of uterine pH in heifers fed excess ruminally degradable protein. J. Anim. Sci. 71:694–701. <u>PMID: 8463156</u>.

El-Zarkouny, S. Z., J. A. Cartmill, B. A. Hensley, and J. S. Stevenson. 2004. Presynchronization of estrous cycles before Ovsynch and progesterone in dairy cows: Ovulation, pregnancy rates, and embryo survival. J. Dairy Sci. 87:1024–1037. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73248-8</u>.

Esslemont, R. J., and M. J. Bryant. 1976. Oestrous behaviour in a herd of dairy cows. Vet. Rec. 99:472–475. <u>PMID: 1034995.</u>

Evans, A. C. O., G. P. Adams, and N. C. Rawlings. 1994. Endocrine and ovarian follicular changes leading up to the first ovulation in prepubertal heifers. J. Reprod. Fertil. 100:187–194. <u>PMID:</u> 8182588.

Falkenberg, U., J. Haertel, K. Rotter, M. Iwersen, G. Arndt, and W. Heuwieser. 2008. Relationships between the concentration of insulin-like growth factor-1 in serum in dairy cows in early lactation and reproductive performance and milk yield. J. Dairy Sci. 91:3862–3868.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2007-0887</u>.

Fajersson, P., R. L. Stanko, and G. L. Williams. 1999. Distribution and repeatability of anterior pituitary responses to GnRH and relationship of response classification to the postpartum anovulatory interval of beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 77:3043–3049. <u>PMID: 10568476.</u>

Fenwick, M. A., S. Llewellyn, R. Fitzpatrick, D. A. Kenny, J. J. Murphy, J. Patton J, and D. C. Wathes. 2008. Negative energy balance in dairy cows is associated with specific changes in IGFbinding protein expression in the oviduct. Reproduction 135:63–75.

### DOI: 10.1530/REP-07-0243.

Fink, G. 1988. Gonadotropin secretion and its control. In: E. Knobil and J. D. Neill (Ed.) The Physiology of Reproduction. pp 1349–1377. Raven Press, New York.

Fouladi-Nashta A. A., C. G. Gutierrez, P. C. Garnsworthy, and R. Webb. 2005. Effect of dietary carbohydrate source on oocyte/embryo quality and development in high yielding, lactating dairy cattle. Biol. Reprod. 72:135–136.

Forde, N., M. E. Beltman, P. Lonergan, M. Diskin, J. F. Roche, and M. A. Crowe. 2011. Oestrous cycles in Bos Taurus cattle. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 124:163–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2010.08.025.

Foster, J. P., G. E. Lamming, and A. R. Peters. 1980. Short-term relationships between plasma LH,FSH and progesterone concentrations in post-partum dairy cows and the effect of GnRH injection.J. Reprod. Fert. 59:321–327. PMID: 6776270.

Fricke, P. M., and M. C. Wiltbank. 1999. Effect of milk production on the incidence of double ovulation in dairy cows. Theriogenology 52:1133–1143. DOI:<u>10.1016/S0093-691X(99)00205-8</u>.

Fricke, P. M., P. D. Carvalho, J. O. Giordano A. Valenza, and G. Lopes Jr, and M. C. Amundson.
2014. Expression and detection of estrus in dairy cows: the role of new technologies. Animals
97:2771–2781. DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731114000299</u>.

Fricke, P. M., A. Ricci, J. O. Giordano, and P. D. Carvalho. 2016. Methods for and implementation of pregnancy diagnosis in dairy cows. Vet Clin N Am Food Anim Pract. 32:165–80. DOI: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2015.09.006.

Friggens, N. C., M. Bjerring, C. Ridder, S. Højsgaard, and T. Larsen. 2008. Improved detection of reproductive status in dairy cows using milk progesterone measurements. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 43:113–121. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01150.x</u>.

Gaiani, R., F. Chiesa, M. Mattioli, G. Nannetti, and G. Galeati. 1984. Androstenedione and testosterone concentrations in plasma and milk of the cow throughout pregnancy. J. Reprod. Fert. 70:55–59. <u>PMID: 6694152.</u>

Galvão KN, Sá Filho MF and Santos JEP 2007. Reducing the interval from presynchronization to initiation of timed artificial insemination improves fertility in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90:4212–4218. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2007-0182</u>.

Galvao, K. N., M. Frajblat, S. B. Brittin, W. R. Butler, C. L. Guard, and R. O. Gilbert. 2009. Effect of prostaglandin F2a on subclinical endometritis and fertility in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92:4906–13. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2008-1984</u>.

Galvao, K. N., P. Federico, A. De Vries, and G. M. Schuenemann. 2013. Economic comparison of reproductive programs for dairy herds using estrus detection, timed artificial insemination, or a

combination. J. Dairy Sci. 96:2681–2693. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2012-5982</u>.

García-Ruiz, A., J. B. Cole, P. M. VanRaden, G. R. Wiggans, F. J. Ruiz-López, and C. P. Van Tassell. 2016. Changes in genetic selection differentials and generation intervals in US Holstein dairy cattle as a result of genomic selection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113:E3995–E4004. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1519061113.

Garnsworthy, P. C., A. Lock, G. E. Mann, K. D. Sinclair, and R. Webb. 2008. Nutrition, metabolism and fertility in dairy cows. Dietary energy source and ovarian function. J. Dairy Sci. 91:3814–3823. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2008-1031.

Garverick, H. A., M. N. Harris, R. Vogel-Bluel, J. D. Sampson, J. Bader, W. R. Lamberson, J. N. Spain, M. C. Lucy, and R. S. Youngquist. 2013. Concentrations of nonesterified fatty acids and glucose in blood of periparturient dairy cows are indicative of pregnancy success at first insemination. J. Dairy Sci. 96:181–188. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2012-5619</u>.

Gilbert, R. O., S. T. Shin, C. L. Guard, H. N. Erb, and M. Frajblat. 2005. Prevalence of endometritis and its effects on reproductive performance of dairy cows. Theriogenology 64:1879–88. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.04.022.

Giordano, J. O., P. M. Fricke, J. N. Guenther, G. Lopes Jr., M. M. Herlihy, A. B. Nascimento, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2012. Effect of progesterone on magnitude of the luteinizing hormone surge induced by two different doses of gonadotropin-releasing hormone in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy

## Sci. 95:3781–3793. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-5155</u>.

Ginther, O.J. 2000. Selection of the dominant follicle in cattle and horses. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 60:61–79. PMID: 10844185.

Gobikrushanth, M. A. De Vries, J. E. P. Santos, C. A. Risco, and K. N. Galvao. 2014. Effect of delayed breeding during the summer on profitability of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97:4236–4246. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2013-7664</u>.

Gobikrushanth, M., R. Salehi, D. J. Ambrose, and M. G. Colazo. 2016. Categorization of endometritis and its association with ovarian follicular growth and ovulation, reproductive performance, feed intake and milk yield in dairy cattle. Theriogenology 86:1842–1849. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2016.06.003.

Gobikrushanth, M., P. A. Dutra, T. C. Bruinjé, M. G. Colazo, S. T. Butler, and D. J. Ambrose. 2017a. The repeatability of antral follicle counts and anti-Müllerian hormone concentrations determined at an unknown stage of follicular growth and an expected day of follicular wave emergence in dairy cows. Theriogenology 92:90-94. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017.01.018</u>.

Gobikrushanth, M., P. A. Dutra, T. C. Bruinjé, M. G. Colazo, S. T. Butler, and D. J. Ambrose. 2017b. Characterization of the variability and repeatability of gonadotropin releasing hormoneinduced luteinizing hormone responses in dairy cows within a synchronized ovulation protocol. J. Dairy Sci. 100:6753-6762. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2016-12529</u>. Gobikrushanth, M., T. C. Bruinjé, M. G. Colazo, S. T. Butler, and D. J. Ambrose. 2017c. Characterization of ano-genital distance and its relationship to fertility in Canadian Holsteins. J. Dairy Sci. 100: 9815-9823. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2017-13033</u>.

Gobikrushanth, M., D. C. Purfield, M. G. Colazo, S. T. Butler, Z. Wang, and D. J. Ambrose. 2018a. The relationship between serum anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) concentrations and fertility, and genome wide associations for AMH in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100: 7563-7574. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2017-13940</u>.

Gobikrushanth, M., D. C. Purfield, M. G. Colazo, Z. Wang, S. T. Butler, and D. J. Ambrose. 2018b. The relationship between serum insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) concentrations and reproductive performance, and genome wide associations for serum IGF-1 in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 101: 9154-9167. DOI:<u>10.3168/jds.2018-14535</u>.

Gobikrushanth, M., K. Macmillan, A. Behrouzi, B. Hoff, and M. G. Colazo. 2018c. The factors associated with postpartum body condition score change and its relationship with serum analytes, productive and reproductive performance in dairy cows. Livestock Science. In review.

Gong, J. G., W. J. Lee, P. C. Garnsworthy, and R. Webb. 2002. Effect of dietary-induced increases in circulating insulin concentration during the early postpartum period on reproductive function in dairy cows. Reproduction. 123: 419–27. <u>PMID: 11882019.</u>

Goodman, R. L., and F. J. Karsch. 1980. Pulsatile secretion of luteinizing hormone: Differential

suppression by ovarian steroids. Endocrinology 107:1286–1290. DOI: 10.1210/endo-107-5-1286.

Green, J. A., T. E. Parks, M. P. Avalle, B. P. Telugu, A. L. McLain, A. J. Peterson, W. McMillan, N. Mathialagan, S. Xie, R. R. Hook, S. Xie, and R. M. Roberts. 2005. The establishment of an ELISA for the detection of pregnancy–associated glycoproteins (PAGs) in the serum of pregnant cows and heifers. Theriogenology. 63: 1481–1503. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2004.07.011</u>.

Green, J. C., J. P. Meyer, A. M. Williams, E. M. Newsom, D. H. Keisler, and M. C. Lucy. 2012. Pregnancy development from day 28 to 42 of gestation in postpartum Holstein cows that were either milked (lactating) or not milked (not lactating) after calving. Reproduction 143:699–711. DOI: <u>10.1530/REP-11-0461</u>.

Griffin, P. G., and O. J. Ginther. 1992. Research applications of ultrasonic imaging in reproductive biology. J. Anim. Sci. 70:953–72. PMID: 1564014.

Grimard, B., B. Marquant-Lequienne, D. Remy, C. Richard, F. Nuttinck, P. Humblot, and A. A. Ponter. 2013. Postpartum variations of plasma IGF and IGFBPs, oocyte production and quality in dairy cows: relationships with parity and subsequent fertility. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 48: 183–194. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2012.02127.x</u>

Grochowska, R., P. Sorensen, L. Zwierzchowski, M. Snochowski, and P. Lovendahl. 2001. Genetic variation in stimulated GH release and in IGF-I of young dairy cattle and their associations with the leucine/valine polymorphism in the GH gene. J. Anim. Sci. 79: 450–476. <u>PMID:</u> <u>11219457</u>.

Gutierrez, C. G., B. K. Campbell, and R. Webb. 1997. Development of a long-term bovine granulosa cell culture system: induction and maintenance of estradiol production, response to follicle-stimulating hormone, and morphological characteristics. Biol. Reprod. 56: 608–616. <u>PMID: 9047004</u>.

Häggman, J., J. Christensen, E. Mäntysaari, and J. Juga. 2018. Genetic parameters for endocrine and traditional fertility traits, hyperketonemia and milk yield in dairy cattle. Animal 1–8. DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731118001386</u>.

Hammon, D. S., I. M. Evjen, T. R. Dhiman, J. P. Goff, and J. L. Walters. 2006. Neutrophil function and energy status in Holstein cows with uterine health disorders. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 113:21–29. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.vetimm.2006.03.022</u>.

Hansen, L. B. 2000. Consequences of Selection for Milk Yield from a Geneticist's Viewpoint. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1145–1150. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)74980-0</u>.

Hansen, R. K., A. Mund, S. L. Poulsen, M. Sandoval, K. Klement, K. Tsouroula, M. A. X.Tollenaere, M. Raschle, R. Soria, S. Offermanns, T. Worzfeld, R. Grosse, D. T. Brandt, B. Rozell,M. Mann, F. Cole, E. Soutoglou, A. A. Goodarzi, J. A. Daniel, N. Mailand, and S. Bekker-Jensen.

2016. SCAI promotes DNA double-strand break repair in distinct chromosomal contexts. Nat. Cell. Biol. 18:1357–1366. DOI; <u>10.1038/ncb3436</u>.

Haley, C. S., G. J. Lee, M. Fordyce, G. Baxter, R. B. L, and R. Webb. 1989. Study of LH response to GnRH in the young male as a criterion of genetic merit for female reproduction in sheep. J. Reprod. Fert. 86:119–133. <u>PMID: 2666648</u>.

Hayhurst, C., A. P. F. Flint, P. Løvendahl, J. A. Woolliams, and M. D. Royal. 2009. Genetic variation of metabolite and hormone concentration in UK Holstein-Friesian calves and the genetic relationship with economically important traits. J. Dairy Sci. 92:4001–4007.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2008-1130</u>.

Herlihy, M. M., J. O. Giordano, A. H. Souza, H. Ayres, R. M. Ferreira, A. Keskin, A. B. Nascimento, J. N. Guenther, J. M. Gaska, S. J. Kacuba, M. A. Crowe, S. T. Butler, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2012. Presynchronization with double-Ovsynch improves fertility at first postpartum artificial insemination in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 95:7003–7014.

# DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-5260</u>.

Hotchkiss, A. K., C. S. Lambright, J. S. Ostby, L. Parks-Saldutti, J. G. Vandenbergh, and L. E. Gray Jr. 2007. Prenatal testosterone exposure permanently masculinizes Anogenital distance, nipple development, and reproductive tract morphology in female Sprague-Dawley rats. Toxicol. Sci. 96:335–345. DOI: <u>10.1093/toxsci/kfm002</u>.

Hristov, A. N., and F. Giallongo. 2014. Feeding protein to dairy cows-what should be our target?
Tri-State Dairy Nutrition Conference April 14-16, 2014, Pennsylvania State University. pp. 75–
84. <u>https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20143239208</u>.

Huang, W., B. S. Yandell, and H. Khatib. 2010. Transcriptomic profiling of bovine IVF embryos revealed candidate genes and pathways involved in early embryonic development. BMC Genomics 11:23. DOI: <u>10.1186/1471-2164-11-23</u>

Hutchinson, I. A., R. J. Dewhurst, A. C. Evans, P. Lonergan, and S. T. Butler. 2012. Effect of grass dry matter intake and fat supplementation on progesterone metabolism in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 78, 878–886.DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.04.001</u>.

Hyttel, P., T. Greve, and H. Callesen. 1989. Ultrastructural aspects of oocyte maturation and fertilization in cattle. J. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 38:35–47. <u>PMID: 2677348.</u>

International Dairy Federation. 2016. <u>https://www.idfa.org/docs/default-source/d-news/world-</u> <u>dairy-situationsample.pdf;</u> accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2018.

Ireland, J. J., F. Ward, F. Jimenez-Krassel, J. L. Ireland, G. W. Smith, P. Lonergan, and A. C. Evans. 2007. Follicle numbers are highly repeatable within individual animals but are inversely correlated with FSH concentrations and the proportion of good quality embryos after ovarian stimulation in cattle. Hum. Reprod. 22:1687–1695. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/dem071.</u>

Ireland, J. L. H., D. Sheetz, F. Jimenez-Krassel, A. P. N. Themmen, F. Ward, P. Lonergan, G. W. Smith, G. I. Perez, A. C. O. Evans, and J. J. Ireland. 2008. Antral follicle count reliably predicts number of morphologically healthy oocytes and follicles in ovaries of young adult cattle. Biol. Reprod. 79:1219–25. DOI: <u>10.1095/biolreprod.108.071670</u>.

Ireland, J. J., G. W. Smith, D. Scheetz, F. Jimenez-Krassel, J. K. Folger, J. L. H. Ireland, F. Mossa, P. Lonergan, and A. C. O. Evans. 2011. Does size matter in females? An overview of the impact of the high variation in the ovarian reserve on ovarian function and fertility, utility of anti-Mullerian hormone as a diagnostic marker for fertility and causes of variation in the ovarian reserve in cattle. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 23:1–14. DOI: <u>10.1071/RD10226</u>.

Irish Farmers Association. 2016. <u>https://www.ifa.ie/sectors/dairy/dairy-fact-sheet/;</u> accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2018.

Irish Cattle Breeding Federation. 2017. <u>https://www.icbf.com/wp/?p=5772</u>; accessed on 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2018.

Ismael, A., E. Strandberg, M. Kargo, A. Fogh, and P. Lovendahl. 2015. Estrus traits derived from activity measurements are heritable and closely related to the time from calving to first insemination. J. Dairy Sci. 98:3470–3477. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2014-8940</u>.

Janson, L. 1980: Studies on fertility traits in Swedish dairy cattle. II. Genetic parameters. Acta Agr Scand 30, 427–436. https://doi.org/10.1080/00015128009435290. Janson, L., and B. Andreasson. 1981: Studies on fertility traits in Swedish dairy cattle. IV. Genetic and phenotypic correlation between milk yield and fertility. Acta Agr Scand 31:313–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/00015128109435713.

Jiang, H., and M. C. Lucy. 2001. Variants of the 5'-untranslated region of the bovine growth hormone receptor mRNA: isolation, expression and effects on translational efficiency. Gene 265: 45–53. <u>PMID: 11255006</u>.

Jimenez-Krassel, F., J. K. Folger, J. L. H. Ireland, G. W. Smith, X. Hou, J. S. Davis, P. Lonergan, A. C. O. Evans, and J. J. Ireland. 2009. Evidence that high variation in ovarian reserves of healthy young adults has a negative impact on the corpus luteum and endometrium during reproductive cycles of single-ovulating species. Biol. Reprod. 80:1272–1281.

DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.075093.

Jimenez-Krassel, F., D. Scheetz, L. Neuder, J. Ireland, J. Pursley, G. Smith, R. Tempelman, T. Ferris, W. Roudebush, and F. Mossa. 2015. Concentration of anti- Müllerian hormone in dairy heifers is positively associated with productive herd life. J. Dairy Sci. 98:3036–3045.

## DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2014-8130</u>.

Jimenez-Krassel, J., D. Scheetz, L. Neuder, J. Pursley, and J. J. Ireland. 2017. A single ultrasound determination of  $\geq 25$  mm follicle  $\geq 3$ mm in diameter in dairy heifers is predictive of a reduced productive herd life. J. Dairy. Sci. 100:5019–5027. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2016-12277</u>.

Joosten I., M. F. Sanders, and E. J. Hensen. 1991. Involvement of major histocompatibility complex class I compatibility between dam and calf in the aetiology of bovine retained placenta. Anim. Genet. 22:455–463. <u>PMID: 1789499</u>.

Jorritsma, H., and R. Jorritsma. 2000. An overview of fertility statistics and milk production data of 15 dairy operations in southeast Friesland. Tijdschr Diergeneeskd 125: 180–184. <u>PMID: 10758636</u>.

Kadri, N. K., G. Sahana, C. Charlier, T. Iso Touru, B. Guldbrandtsen, L. Karim, U. S. Nielsen, F. Panitz, G. P. Aamand, N. Schulman, M. Georges, J. Vilkki, M. S. Lund, and T. Druet. 2014. A 660-Kb deletion with antagonistic effects on fertility and milk production segregates at high frequency in Nordic Red cattle: additional evidence for the common occurrence of balancing selection in livestock. PLoS Genetics 10, e1004049. DOI: <u>10.1371/journal.pgen.1004049</u>.

Kane, K. K., K. W. Creighton, M .K. Petersen, D. M. Hallford, M. D. Remmenga, and D. E. Hawkins. 2002. Effects of varying levels of undegradable intake protein on endocrine and metabolic function of young post-partum beef cows. Theriogenology 57: 2179–2191. <u>PMID:</u> <u>12141568</u>.

Kasimanickam, R., T. F. Duffield, R. A. Foster, C. J. Gartley, K. E. Leslie, J. S. Walton, and W.H. Johnson. 2004. Endometrial cytology and ultrasonography for the detection of subclinical endometritis in postpartum dairy cows. Theriogenology 62:9–23.

## DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2003.03.001</u>.

Kastelic, J. P, S. Curran, and O. J. Ginther. 1989. Accuracy of ultrasonography for pregnancy diagnosis on Days 10 to 22 in heifers. Theriogenology 31:813 – 820. <u>PMID: 16726596</u>.

Kawashima, C., M. Sakaguchi, T. Suzuki, Y. Sasamoto, Y. Takahashi, M. Matsui, and A. Miyamoto. 2007. Metabolic profiles in ovulatory and anovulatory primiparous dairy cows during the first follicular wave postpartum. J. Reprod. Dev. 53:113–20. <u>PMID: 17043386</u>.

Kaltenbach, C. C., T. G. Dunn, T. E. Kiser, L. R. Corah, A. M. Akbar, and G. D. Niswender. 1974. Release of FSH and LH in beef heifers by synthetic gonadotropin releasing hormone. J. Anim. Sci. 38:357–362. <u>PMID: 4590935</u>.

Karsch, F. J. 1987. Central actions of ovarian steroids in the feedback regulation of pulsatile secretion of luteinizing hormone. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 49:365–382.

DOI: <u>10.1146/annurev.ph.49.030187.002053</u>.

Kehrli, M. E., B. J. Nonnecke, and J. A. Roth. 1989. Alterations in bovine PMN function during the periparturient period. Am. J. Vet. Res. 50:207–214. <u>PMID: 2541640</u>.

Kerr, D. E., B. Laarveld, M. I. Fehr, and J. G. Manns. 1991. Profiles of serum IGF-I concentrations in calves from birth to eighteen months of age and in cows throughout the lactation cycle. Can. J. Anim. Sci.71:695–705. <u>https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas91-085</u>.

Killeen, A. P.,, D. G. Morris, D. A. Kenny, M. P. Mullen, M. G. Diskin, and S. M. Waters. 2014. Global gene expression in endometrium of high and low fertility heifers during the mid-luteal phase of the estrous cycle. BMC Genomics 15:234. DOI: <u>10.1186/1471-2164-15-234</u>.

Kinder, J. E., M. L. Day, and R. J. Kittok. 1987. Endocrine regulation of puberty in cows and ewes.J. Reprod. Fert. 34:167–186. <u>PMID: 3305916</u>.

Kobayashi, Y., C. K. Boyd, C. J. Bracken, W. R. Lamberson, D. H. Keisler, and M.C. Lucy. 1999. Reduced growth hormone receptor (GHR) messenger ribonucleic acid in liver of periparturient cattle is caused by a specific down-regulation of GHR 1A that is associated with decreased insulinlike growth factor I. Endocrinology 140:3947–3954. DOI: <u>10.1210/endo.140.9.7000</u>.

La Marca, A., and A. Volpe. 2006. Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) in female reproduction: is measurement of circulating AMH a useful tool? Clin. Endocrinol. 64:603–610. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02533.x.

Lammers, B. P., A. J. Heinrichs, and R. S. Kensinger. 1999. The effects of accelerated growth rates and estrogen implants in prepubertal Holstein heifers on growth, feed efficiency, and blood parameters. J. Dairy Sci. 82:1746–1752. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(99)75405-6</u>.

Langman, J. 1975. Medical Embryology: Human development – Normal and Abnormal 3rd edition. Baltimore: The Williams & Wilkins Company 160–200.

Land R.B. 1973. The expression of female sex-linked characteristics in the male. Nature 241: 208–209.

LeBlanc, S. J., T. F. Duffield, K. E. Leslie, K. G. Bateman, G. P. Keefe, J. S. Walton, and W. H. Johnson. 2002. Defining and diagnosing postpartum clinical endometritis and its impact on reproductive performance in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85:2223–36.

## DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74302-6.

LeBlanc, S. J., K. D. Lissemore, D. F. Kelton, T. F. Duffield, and K. E. Leslie. 2006. Major advances in disease prevention in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1267–1279.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72195-6</u>.

LeBlanc, S., 2010. Assessing the association of the level of milk production with reproductive performance in dairy cattle. J. Reprod. Dev. 56: Suppl., S1–S7. <u>PMID: 20629210</u>.

Lee, J. Y., and I. H. Kim. 2006. Advancing parity is associated with high milk production at the cost of body condition and increased periparturient disorders in dairy herds. J. Vet. Sci. 7:161–166. PMCID: <u>PMC3242109</u>.

Leers-Sucheta, S., P. K. Chakraborty, K. E. Rowe, H. A. Turner, and F. Stormshak. 1994. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone-induced release of luteinizing hormone in postpartum beef heifers maintained on two planes of nutrition before and after breeding. J. Anim. Sci. 72:998–1003. <u>PMID: 8014168.</u>

Lemley, C. O., S. T. Butler, W. R. Butler, and M. E. Wilson. 2008. Short communication: insulin alters hepatic progesterone catabolic enzymes cytochrome P450 2C and 3A in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91:641–645. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2007-0636</u>.

Leroy, J. L., T. Vanholder, B. Mateusen, A. Christophe, G. Opsomer, A. de Kruif, G. Genicot, and A. Van Soom. 2005. Non-esterified fatty acids in follicular fluid of dairy cows and their effect on developmental capacity of bovine oocytes in vitro. Reproduction 130:485–495.

DOI: <u>10.1530/rep.1.00735</u>.

Leroy, J. L. M. R., G. Opsomer, A. Van Soom, I. G. F. Goovaerts, and P. E. J. Bols. 2008. Reduced fertility in highyielding dairy cows: Are the oocyte and embryo in danger? Part I - The importance of negative energy balance and altered corpus luteum function to the reduction of oocyte and embryo quality in high-yielding dairy cows. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 43: 612–622.

DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2007.00960.x</u>.

Liang, D. 2013. PhD Dissertation. Department of Animal and Food Science, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, USA.

Lima, J. R., F. A. Rivera, C. D. Narciso, R. Oliveira, R. C. Chebel, J. E. P. and Santos. 2009. Effect of increasing amounts of supplemental progesterone in a timed artificial insemination protocol on

fertility of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy. Sci. 92:5436–5446. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2009-2134.

Lopez, H., L. D. Satter, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2004. Relationship between level of milk production and estrous behavior of lactating dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 81:209–223.

DOI: <u>10.1016/j.anireprosci.2003.10.009</u>.

López-Gatius, F., P. Santolaria, I. Mundet, and J.L. Yániz. 2005. Walking activity at estrus and subsequent fertility in dairy cows. Theriogenology. 63:1419–1429.

DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2004.07.007</u>.

Lucy, M. C., C. R. Staples, F. M. Michel, W. W. Thatcher, and D. J. Bolt. 1991. Effect of feeding calcium soaps to early postpartum dairy cows on plasma prostaglandin F2 alpha, luteinizing hormone, and follicular growth. J. Dairy Sci. 74 483–489.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78195-2</u>.

Lucy, M. C., J. Beck, C. R. Staples, H. H. Head, R. L. De La Sota, and W. W. Thatcher. 1992. Follicular dynamics, plasma metabolites, hormones and insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) in lactating cows with positive or negative energy balance during the preovulatory period. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 32:331–341. <u>PMID: 1418395</u>.

Lucy, M. C., R. L. De La Sota, C. R. Staples, W. W. Thatcher. 1993. Ovarian follicular populations in lactating dairy cows treated with recombinant bovine somatotropin (sometribove) or saline and fed diets differing in fat content and energy. J. Dairy Sci. 76 1014–1027.

### DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(93)77429-9</u>.

Lucy, M. C., 2000. Regulation of ovarian follicular growth by somatotropin and insulin-like growth factors in cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 83:1635–1647. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75032-6</u>.

Lucy, M. C. 2001. Reproductive Loss in High-Producing Dairy Cattle: Where Will It End?. J. Dairy Sci. 84:1277–1293. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)70158-0</u>.

Lucy, M. C., H. Jiang, and Y. Kobayashi. 2001. Changes in the somatotrophic axis associated with the initiation of lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 84:E113–E119. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)70205-6</u>.

Lucy, M. C. 2008. Functional differences in the growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor axis in cattle and pigs: implications for post-partum nutrition and reproduction. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 43:31–39. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01140.x</u>.

Lund, P., B. M. Moats-Staats, M. A. Hynes, J. G. Simmons, M. Jansen, and A. J. D'Ercole, and J. J. Van Wyk. 1986. Somatomedin-C/insulin-like growth factor-I and insulin-like growth factor-II mRNAs in rat fetal and adult tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 261:14539–14544. <u>PMID: 3771541</u>.

Luk, J., S. Torrealday, G.N. Perry, and L. Pal. 2012. Relevance of vitamin D in reproduction. Hum. Reprod. 27:3015–3027. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/des248</u>.
Macleod, D. J., R. M. Sharpe, M. Welsh, M. Fisken, h. M. Scott, G. R. Hutchison, A. J. Drake, and S. van den Driesche. 2010. Androgen action in the masculinization programming window and development of male reproductive organs. Int. J. Androl. 33:279-287. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2605.2009.01005.x.

Macmillan, K. L., I. J. Lean, and C. T. Westwood. 1996. The effects of lactation on the fertility of dairy cows. Aust. Vet. J. 73:141–147. <u>PMID: 8660229</u>.

Macmillan, K., J. P. Kastelic, and M. G. Colazo. 2018. Update on multiple ovulation in cattle. Animals 8 (5):62. DOI: <u>10.3390/ani8050062</u>.

Madureira, A. M., B. F. Silper, T. A. Burnett, L. Polsky, L. H. Cruppe, D. M. Veira, J. L. Vasconcelos, and R. L. Cerri. 2015. Factors affecting expression of estrus measured by activity monitors and conception risk of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:7003–7014.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2015-9672</u>.

Mamluk, R., Y. Greber, and R. Meidan. 1999. Hormonal regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid expression for steroidogenic factor-1, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, and cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage in bovine luteal cells. Biol. Reprod.60:628–634. <u>PMID: 10026109</u>.

McGuire, M. A., D. E. Bauman, W. S. Cohick, and D. A. Dwyer. 1995. Nutritional modulation of the somatotropin/insulin-like growth factor system: response to feed deprivation in lactating cows. J. Nutr. 125:493–502. DOI: <u>10.1093/jn/125.3.493</u>.

McDougall, S. 2001. Effect of intrauterine antibiotic treatment on reproductive performance of dairy cows following periparturient disease. N Z Vet J. 49:150–158. DOI: 10.1080/00480169.2001.36223.

Meikle, A., M. Kulcsar, Y. Chilliard, H. Febel, C. Delavaud, D. Cavestany, and P. Chilibroste. 2004. Effects of parity and body condition at parturition on endocrine and reproductive parameters of the cow. Reproduction 127:727–737. DOI: <u>10.1530/rep.1.00080</u>.

Mendiola, J., M. Roca, L. Mınguez-Alarcon, M. P. Mira-Escolano, J. J. Lopez-Espin, E. S. Barrett,
S. H. Swan, and A. M. Torres-Cantero. 2012. Anogenital distance is related to ovarian follicular number in young Spanish women: a cross-sectional study. Environ. Health 11:90.
DOI: 10.1186/1476-069X-11-90.

Miglior, F., B. L. Muir, and B. J. Van Doormaal. 2005. Selection indices in Holstein cattle of various countries. J. Dairy Sci. 88:1255–1263. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72792-2</u>.

Minozzi, G., E. L. Nicolazzi, A. Stella, S. Biffani, R. Negrini, B. Lazzari, P. Ajmone-Marsan, and J. L. Williams. 2013. Genome wide analysis of fertility and production traits in Italian Holstein cattle. PLoS One 8:e80219. DOI: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0080219</u>.

Minten, M. A., T. R. Bilby, R. G. S. Bruno, C. C. Allen, C. A. Madsen, Z. Wang, J. E. Sawyer, A. Tibary, H. L. Neibergs, T. W. Geary, S. Bauersachs, and T. E. Spencer. 2013. Effects of fertility

on gene expression and function of the bovine endometrium. PLoS One 8:e69444. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069444.

Mira-Escolano, M. P., J. Mendiola, L. Mınguez-Alarcon, M. Melgarejo, A. Cutillas-Tolin, J. J. Lopez-Espin, J. A. Noguera-Velasco, and A. M. Torres-Cantero. 2014a. Longer anogenital distance is associated with higher testosterone levels in women: a cross-sectional study. BJOG 121:1359–1364. DOI: <u>10.1111/1471-0528.12627</u>.

Mira-Escolano, M. P., J. Mendiola, L. Mınguez-Alarcon, M. Roca, A. Cutillas-Tolin, J. J. Lopez-Espin, and A. M. Torres-Cantero. 2014b. Anogenital distance of women in relation to their mother's gynecological characteristics before or during pregnancy. Reprod. Biomed. Online 28:209–215. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.rbmo.2013.09.026</u>.

Mongkonpunya, K., Y. C. Lin, P. A. Noden, W. D. Oxender, and H. D. Hafs. 1975. Androgens in the Bovine Fetus and Dam. Proceedings of the society for experimental biology and medicine. 148:489–493. <u>PMID: 1168349</u>.

Monniaux, D., L. Drouilhet, C. Rico, A. Estienne, P. Jarrier, J. Touzé, J. Sapa, F. Phocas, J. Dupont, R. Dalbiès-Tran, and S. Fabre. 2013. Regulation of anti-Müllerian hormone production in domestic animals. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 25:1–16. DOI: <u>10.1071/RD12270</u>.

Moore, S. G., T. Fair, P. Lonergan, and S. T. Butler. 2014a. Genetic merit for fertility traits in Holstein cows: IV. Transition period, uterine health, and resumption of cyclicity. J. Dairy Sci. 97:2740–2752. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2013-7278</u>.

Moore, S. G., S. Scully, J. A. Browne, T. Fair, and S. T. Butler. 2014b. Genetic merit for fertility traits in Holstein cows: V. Factors affecting circulating progesterone concentrations. J. Dairy Sci. 97:5543–5557. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2014-8133</u>.

Moreira, F., C. Orlandi, C. A. Risco, R. Mattos, F. Lopes, and W. W. Thatcher. 2001. Effects of presynchronization and bovine somatotropin on pregnancy rates to a timed artificial insemination protocol in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84:1646–1659.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74600-0</u>.

Mossa, F., F. Jimenez-Krassel, J. K. Folger, J. L. H. Ireland, G. W. Smith, P. Lonergan, A. C. O. Evans, and J. J. Ireland. 2010. Evidence that high variation in antral follicle count during follicular waves is linked to alterations in ovarian androgen production in cattle. Reproduction 140:713–720. DOI: <u>10.1530/REP-10-0214</u>.

Mossa, F., S. W. Walsh, S. T. butler, D. P. Berry, F. Carter, P. Lonergan, G. W. Smith, J. J. Ireland, and A. C. O. Evans. 2012. Low number of ovarian follicles  $\geq$  3mm in diameter are associated with low fertility in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:2355–61. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2011-4325. Mossa, F., F. Carter, S.W. Walsh, D. A. Kenny, G. W. Smith, J. L. Ireland, T. B. Hildebrandt, P. Lonergan, J. J. Ireland and A.C.O. Evans. 2013. Maternal undernutrition in cows impairs ovarian and cardiovascular systems in their offspring. Biol. Reprod. 88:1–9.

DOI: <u>10.1095/biolreprod.112.107235</u>.

Mottram, T. 2015. Animal board invited review: precision livestock farming for dairy cows with a focus on oestrus detection. Animal 26:1–10. DOI: <u>10.1017/S1751731115002517</u>.

Moyes, T. E. 2004. Variation in Concentrations of Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1 in Pasture-fed Holstein-Friesian Cows. Ph.D. Thesis, Department of Veterinary Science, The University of Melbourne, VIC, Australia.

Mullen, M. P., D. P. Berry, D. J. Howard, M. G. Diskin, C. O. Lynch, L. Giblin, D. A. Kenny, D.
A. Magee, K. G. Meade, and S. M. Waters. 2011. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1) gene are associated with performance in Holstein-Friesian dairy cattle.
Front. Genet. 2:3. DOI: <u>10.3389/fgene.2011.00003</u>.

Nawaz, M. Y., F. Jimenez-Krassel, J. P. Steibel, Y. Lu, A. Baktula, N. Vulkasinovic, S. K. DeNise, L. Neuder, J. L. H. Ireland, J. J. Ireland, and R. J. Tempelman. 2017. Genomic heritability and genome-wide association analysis of AMH in Holstein dairy heifers. J. Dairy Sci. *In press*. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2018-14798</u>.

National Research Council 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th ed. Natl. Acad. Press,

Washington, DC.

Nebel, R. L. 1988. On-farm milk progesterone tests. J. Dairy Sci. 71:1682–90. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(88)79733-7.

Nett, T. M., A. M. Turzillo, M. Baratta, and L. A. Rispoli. 2002. Pituitary effects of steroid hormones on secretion of follicle-stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 23:33–42. <u>PMID: 12142224</u>.

Nicolini, P., M. Carriquiry, and A. Meikle. 2013. A polymorphism in the insulin-like growth factor 1 gene is associated with postpartum resumption of ovarian cyclicity in Holstein-Friesian cows under grazing conditions. Acta Vet. Scand. 55:11. DOI: <u>10.1186/1751-0147-55-11</u>.

Norman, H. D., J. R. Wright, S. M. Hubbard, R. H. Miller, and J. L. Hutchison. 2009. Reproductive status of Holstein and Jersey cows in the United States. J. Dairy Sci. 92:3517–3528. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2008-1768</u>.

Ocon, O. M., and P. J. Hansen. 2003. Disruption of bovine oocytes and pre implantation embryos by urea and acidic pH. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1197–1200. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73703-5</u>.

Ogoh, H., N. Tanuma, Y. Matsui, N. Hayakawa, A. Inagaki, M. Sumiyoshi, Y. Momoi, A. Kishimoto, M. Suzuki, N. Sasaki, T. Ohuchi, M. Nomura, Y. Teruya, K. Yasuda, T. Watanabe,

and H. Shima. 2016. The protein phosphatase 6 catalytic subunit (Ppp6c) is indispensable for proper post-implantation embryogenesis. Mech. Dev. 139:1–9. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.mod.2016.02.001</u>.

Ohbayashi N., M. Shibayama, Y. Kurotaki, M. Imanishi, T. Fujimori, N. Itoh, and S. Takada. 2002. FGF18 is required for normal cell proliferation and differentiation during osteogenesis and chondrogenesis. Genes. Dev. 16:870-879. DOI: <u>10.1101/gad.965702</u>.

Opsomer, G., Y. T. Grohn, J. Hertl, M. Coryn, H. Deluyker, and A. de Kruif. 2000. Risk factors for postpartum ovarian dysfunction in high producing dairy cows in Belgium: a field study. Theriogenology. 53:841–857. DOI: <u>10.1016/S0093-691X(00)00234-X</u>.

Ornitz, D. M., and N. Itoh. 2015. The Fibroblast Growth Factor signaling pathway. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol. 4:215–266. DOI: <u>10.1002/wdev.176</u>.

Palmer, M. A., G. Olmos, L. A. Boyle, and J. F. Mee. 2010. Estrus detection and estrus characteristics in housed and pastured Holstein-Friesian cows. Theriogenology 74: 255–264. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2010.02.009</u>.

Palmquist, D. L., and W. P. Weiss. 1994. Blood and hydrolyzed feather meals as sources of undegradable protein in high fat diets for cows in early lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 77 1630–1643. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77105-8</u>.

Patton, J., D. A. Kenny, S. McNamara, J. F. Mee, F. P. O'Mara, M. G. Diskin, and J. J. Murphy.
2007. Relationships among milk production, energy balance, plasma analytes, and reproduction in
Holstein–Friesian cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90:649–658. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)71547-3</u>.

Pecsok, S. R., M. L. McGilliard, and R. L. Nebel. 1994. Conception rates. 1. Derivation and estimates for effects of estrus detection on cow profitability. J. Dairy Sci. 77: 3008–3015. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77242-8.

Peñagaricano, F., A. De Vries, and D. T. Bennink. 2017. Genomic selection and reproductive technologies to optimize herd replacements. Large Dairy Herd Management, 3rd ed. pp 379–388. ADSA® Foundation.

Ruth, K. S., P. J. Campbell, S. Chew, E. M. Lim, N. Hadlow, B. G. Stuckey, S. J. Brown, B. Feenstra, J. Joseph, G. L. Surdulescu, et al. 2016. Genome-wide association study with 1000 genomes imputation identifies signals for nine sex hormone-related phenotypes. Eur. J. Hum. Genet., 24:284-290. DOI: <u>10.1038/ejhg.2015.102</u>.

Peter, A. T., W. T. K. Bosu, and R. J. DeDecker. 1989. Suppression of preovulatory luteinizing hormone surges in heifers after intrauterine infusions of *Escherichia coli* endotoxin. Am J Vet Res. 50:368–373. <u>PMID: 2648904</u>.

Petersson, K. J., B. Berglund, E. Strandberg, H. Gustafsson, A. P. F. Flint, J. A. Woolliams, and
M. D. Royal. 2007. Genetic analysis of postpartum measures of luteal activity in dairy cows. J.
Dairy Sci. 90: 427–434. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)72644-9</u>.

Petit, H. V., and H. Twagiramungu. 2006. Conception rate and reproductive function of dairy cows fed different fat sources. Theriogenology 66:1316–1324.

DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2006.04.029</u>.

Pryce, J. E., M. D. Royal, P. C. Garnsworthy, and I. L. Mao, I. L. 2004. Fertility in the high-producing dairy cow. Livest. Prod. Sci. 86:125–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-</u>6226(03)00145-3.

Pursley, J. R., M. O. Mee, and M. C. Wiltbank. 1995. Synchronization of ovulation in dairy cows using PGF2alpha and GnRH. Theriogenology 44:915–23. <u>PMID: 16727787</u>.

Pushpakumara, P. G. A., N. H. Gardner, C. K. Reynolds, D. E. Beever, and D. C. Wathes. 2003. Relationships between transition period diet, metabolic parameters and fertility in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 60:1165–1185. <u>PMID: 12935855</u>.

Pushpakumara, P. G. A., R. S. Robinson, K. J. Demmers, G. E. Mann, K. D. Sinclair, R. Webb, and D. C. Wathes. 2002. Expression of the insulin like growth factor (IGF) system in the bovine oviduct at estrus and during early pregnancy. Reproduction 123: 859–868. <u>PMID: 12052240</u>.

Pulley, S. L., D. H. Keisler, and J. S. Stevenson. 2015. Concentrations of luteinizing hormone and ovulatory responses in dairy cows before timed artificial insemination. J. Dairy Sci. 98:6188–6201.
DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2015-9473</u>.

Purcell, S., B. Neale, K. Todd-Brown, L. Thomas, M. A. Ferreira, D. Bender, J. Maller, P. Sklar,
P. I. De Bakker, and M. J. Daly. 2007. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 81:559–575. DOI: <u>10.1086/519795</u>.

Rajala-Schultz, P. J., W. J. A. Saville, G. S. Frazer, and T. E. Wittum. 2001. Association between milk urea nitrogen and fertility in Ohio dairy cows. J Dairy Sci 84: 482–489. <u>PMID: 11233033</u>.

Ranasinghe, R. M., T. Nakao, K. Yamada, and K. Koike. 2010. Silent ovulation, based on walking activity and milk progesterone concentrations, in Holstein cows housed in a free-stall barn. Theriogenology 73:942–949. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2009.11.021</u>.

Rawlings, N. C., I. A. Jeffcoate, and D. L. Rieger. 1984. The influence of estradiol-17ß and progesterone on peripheral serum concentrations of luteinizing hormone and follicle stimulating hormone in the ovariectomized ewe. Theriogenology 22:473–488.

Rechler, M. M., and S. P. Nissley. 1990. Insulin-like growth factors. In: Sporn, M.B.; Roberts, A.B. eds. Peptide growth factors and their receptors. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, Austria. 95:263–267.

Renaville, R., M. Hammadi, and D. Portetelle. 2002. Role of the somatotropic axis in the mammalian metabolism. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 23:351–360. <u>PMID: 12142251</u>.

Revah, I., and W. R. Butler. 1996. Prolonged dominance of follicles and reduced viability of

bovine oocytes. J. Reprod. Fertil. 106:39-47. PMID: 8667344.

Rhoads, M. L., R. P. Rhoads, R. O. Gilbert, R. Toole, and W. R. Butler. 2006. Detrimental effects of high plasma urea nitrogen levels on viability of embryos from lactating dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci 91: 1–10. DOI: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2005.02.009.

Rhodes, F. M., S. McDougall, C. R. Burke, G. A. Verkerk, and K. L. Macmillan. 2003. Invited review: treatment of cows with an extended postpartum anestrous interval. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1876–1894. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73775-8</u>

Ribeiro, E. S., R. L. Cerri, R. S. Bisinotto, F. S. Lima, F. T. Silvestre, L. F. Greco, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2011. Reproductive performance of grazing dairy cows following presynchronization and resynchronization protocols. J. Dairy Sci. 94:4984–4996.

## DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-4225</u>

Ribeiro, E. S., K. N. Galvão, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2012a. Economic aspects of applying reproductive technologies to dairy herds. Anim. Reprod. 9:370–387. http://www.cbra.org.br/pages/publicacoes/animalreproduction/issues/download/v9n3/pag370-387%20(AR528).pdf.

Ribeiro, E. S., F. S. Lima, L. F. Greco, R. S. Bisinotto, A. P. A. Monteiro, M. Favoreto, H. Ayres, R. S. Marsola, N. Martinez, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2012b. Prevalence of periparturient diseases and effects on fertility of seasonally calving grazing dairy cows supplemented with concentrates. J. Dairy Sci. 96 :5682–5697.

## DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2012-6335</u>.

Ribeiro, E. S., R. S. Bisinotto, M. G. Favoreto, L. T. Martins, R. L. A. Cerri, F. T. Silvestre, L. F. Greco, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2012c. Fertility in dairy cows following presynchronization and administering twice the luteolytic dose of prostaglandin F2α as one or two injections in the 5-day timed artificial insemination protocol. Theriogenology 78: 273–284. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.01.012.

Ribeiro, E. S., A. P. Monteiro, F. S. Lima, H. Ayres, R. S. Bisinotto, M. Favoreto, L. F. Greco, R.
S. Marsola, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2012d. Effects of presynchronization and length of proestrus on fertility of grazing dairy cows subjected to a 5-day timed artificial insemination protocol. J. Dairy Sci. 95:2513–2522.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2011-4921</u>.

Ribeiro, E. S, F. S. Lima, L. F. Greco, R. S. Bisinotto, A. P. A. Monteiro, M. Favoreto, H. Ayres, R. S. Marsola, N. Martinez, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2013. Prevalence of periparturient diseases and effects on fertility of seasonally calving grazing dairy cows supplemented with concentrates. J Dairy Sci. 96:5682–5697.

DOI: 10.3168/jds.2012-6335.

Ribeiro, E. S., R. S. Bisinotto, F. S. Lima, L. F. Greco, A. Morrison, A. Kumar, W. W. Thatcher, and J. E. P. Santos. 2014. Plasma anti-Müllerian hormone in adult dairy cows and associations

with fertility. J. Dairy Sci. 97:6888–900. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2014-7908</u>.

Rico, C., S. Fabre, C. Médigue, N. di Clemente, F. Clément, M. Bontoux, J. L. Touzé, M. Dupont,
E. Briant, B. Rémy, J. F. Beckers, and D. Monniaux. 2009. Anti-Müllerian hormone is an endocrine marker of ovarian gonadotropin-responsive follicles and can help to predict superovulatory responses in the cow. Biol. Reprod. 80:50–59.

DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.072157.

Rico, C., L. Drouilhet, P. Salvetti, R. Dalbiès-Tran, P. Jarrier, J. L. Touzé, E. Pillet, C. Ponsart, S. Fabre, and Monniaux D. 2012. Determination of anti-Müllerian hormone concentrations in blood as a tool to select Holstein donor cows for embryo production: from the laboratory to the farm. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 24:932-944. DOI:<u>10.1071/RD11290</u>.

Rivest S., S. Lee, B. Attardi, and C. Rivier. 1993. The chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of interleukin-1β alters the activity of the hypothalamic–pituitary–gonadal axis of cycling rats. I. Effect on LHRH and gonadotropin biosynthesis and secretion. Endocrinology. 133:2424–2430. DOI: <u>10.1210/endo.133.6.8243260</u>.

Robinson, R. S., G. E. Mann, T. S. Gadd, G. E. Lamming, and D. C. Wathes. 2000. The expression of the IGF system in the bovine uterus throughout the oestrous cycle and early pregnancy. J. Endocrinol. 165:231–243. <u>PMID: 10810287</u>.

Roche, J. R., N. C. Friggens, J. K. Kay, M. W. Fisher, K. J. Stafford, and D. P. Berry. 2009. Invited

review: body condition score and its association with dairy cow productivity, health, and welfare. J. Dairy Sci. 92:5769–5801. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2009-2431</u>.

Roche, J. R, K. A. Macdonald, C. R. Burke, J. M. Lee, and D. P. Berry. 2007. Associations among body condition score, body weight, and reproductive performance in seasonal-calving dairy cattle.
J. Dairy Sci. 90:376–391. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)72639-5</u>.

Roche, J. F., D. Mackey, and M. D. Diskin. 2000. Reproductive management of postpartum cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 60–61:703–712. <u>PMID: 10844236</u>.

Rochijan, B. P. Widyobroto, and Ismaya. 2016. Impact of high rumen undegraded protein (HRUP) supplementation to blood urea nitrogen and reproduction performance in early lactation dairy cows. Int. J. Dairy. Sci. 11:28–34. DOI: <u>10.3923/ijds.2016.28.34.</u>

Rodney, R. M., P. Celi, W. Scott, K. Breinhild, and I. J. Lean. 2015. Effects of dietary fat on fertility of dairy cattle: A meta-analysis and meta-regression. J. Dairy Sci. 98:5601–5620. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2015-9528</u>.

Roelofs, J. B., F. J. van Eerdenburg, N. M. Soede, and B. Kemp. 2005. Pedometer readings for estrous detection and as predictor for time of ovulation in dairy cattle. Theriogenology 64:1690–1703. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.04.004</u>.

Roxstrom, A., E. Strandberg, B. Berglund, U. Emanuelson, and J. Philipsson. 2001. Genetic and

environmental correlations among female fertility traits and milk production in different parities of Swedish Red and White dairy cattle. Acta Agric Scand A Anim Sci 51:7–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/090647001300004745.</u>

Royal, M. D., A. O. Darwash, A.P.F. Flint, R. Webb, J. A. Woolliams, and G. E. Lamming. 2000.
Declining fertility in dairy cattle: changes in traditional and endocrine parameters of fertility.
Anim. Sci. 70:487–502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1357729800051845.</u>

Rozner, A., and J. Verstegen. 2012. Relationship between serum anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), ovarian reserve, and embryo production in superovulated Holstein Cows. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 25:304.

Saint-Dizier, M., and S. Chastant-Maillard. 2012. Towards an automated detection of oestrus in dairy cattle. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 47:1056–1061. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2011.01971.x</u>

Salazar-Martinez, E., P. Romano-Riquer, E. Yanez-Marquez, M. P. Longnecker, and M. Hernandez-Avila. 2004. Anogenital distance in human male and female newborns: a descriptive, cross-sectional study. Environ. Health. 3:8. DOI: <u>10.1186/1476-069X-3-8</u>.

Salehi, R., M. G. Colazo, M. Oba, and D. J. Ambrose. 2015. A prepartum diet supplemented with oilseeds high in oleic or linoleic acid reduced GnRH-induced LH release in dairy cows during second week postpartum. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol. 13:69. DOI: <u>10.1186/s12958-015-0060-x</u>.

Salo, S. 2018. Effects of quality and amounts of dietary protein on dairy cattle reproduction and the environment. Dairy and Vet Sci J. 5(5): JDVS.MS.ID.555675. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2015-10305</u>.

Sangsritavong, S., D. K. Combs, R. Sartori, L.E. Armentano, and M.C. Wiltbank. 2002. High feed intake increases liver blood flow and metabolism of progesterone and estradiol-17  $\beta$  in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 85:2831–2842. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74370-1</u>.

Santos, J. E. P., T. R. Bilby, W. W. Thatcher, C. R. Staples, and F. T. Silvestre. 2008. Long chain fatty acids of diet as factors influencing reproduction in cattle. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 43:23–30. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01139.x</u>.

Santos, J. E. P, H. M. Rutigliano, and M. F. Sá Filho. 2009. Risk factors for resumption of postpartum estrous cycles and embryonic survival in lactating dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 110:207–221. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.anireprosci.2008.01.014</u>.

Santos, J. E. P., R. S. Bisinotto, E. S. Ribeiro, F. S. Lima, L. F. Greco, C. R. Staples, and W. W. Thatcher. 2010a. Applying nutrition and physiology to improve reproduction in dairy cattle. Soc. Reprod. Fertil. Suppl. 67:387–403. <u>PMID:21755686.</u>

Santos, J. E. P., C. D. Narciso, F. Rivera, W. W. Thatcher, and R. C. Chebel. 2010b. Effect of reducing the period of follicle dominance in a timed AI protocol on reproduction of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93: 2976–2988. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2009-2870</u>.

Sargolzaei, M., J. P. Chesnais, and F. S. Schenkel. 2014. A new approach for efficient genotype imputation using information from relatives. BMC Genomics 15.

DOI: <u>10.1186/1471-2164-15-478</u>.

Sartori, R., R. Sartor-Bergfelt, S. A. Mertens, J. N. Guenther, J. J. Parrish, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2002. Fertilization and early embryonic development in heifers and lactating cows in summer and lactating and dry cows in winter. J. Dairy. Sci. 85:2803–2812.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74367-1</u>.

SAS Institute. 2010. SAS/SASTAT Software. Release 9.3, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.

Sathyanarayana, S., L. Beard, C. Zhou, and R. Grady. 2010. Measurement and correlates of anogenital distance in healthy, newborn infants. Int. J. Androl. 33:317–323.

DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2605.2009.01044.x</u>.

Savio J. D., M. P. Boland, N. Hynes, and J. F. Roche. Resumption of follicular activity in the early postpartum period of dairy cows. 1990. J. Reprod. Fertil. 88:569–579. <u>PMID: 2182844</u>.

Savio, J. D., W. W. Thatcher, G. R. Morris, K. Entwistle, M. Drost, and M. R. Mattiacci. 1993. Effects of induction of low plasma progesterone concentrations with a progesterone-releasing intravaginal device on follicular turnover and fertility in cattle. J. Reprod. Fertil. 98:77–84. <u>PMID: 8345482</u>.

Senger, P. L. 1994. The estrus detection problem: new concepts, technologies, and possibilities. J. Dairy Sci. 77:2745–2753. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77217-9</u>.

Schneider, A., M. N. Correa, and W. R. Butler. 2013. Association between growth hormone receptor Alul polymorphism and fertility of Holstein cows. Theriogenology 80:1061–1066. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2013.08.006.

Schoenemann, H. M., W. D. Humphrey, M. E. Crowder, T. M. Nett, and J. J. Reeves. 1985. Pituitary luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone receptors in ovariectomized cows after challenge with ovarian steroids. Biol. Reprod. 32:574–583. <u>PMID: 2986740</u>.

Sheldon, I. M., D. E. Noakes, A. N. Rycroft, D. U. Pfeiffer, and H. Dobson. 2002. Influence of uterine bacterial contamination after parturition on ovarian dominant follicle selection and follicle growth and function in cattle. Reproduction 123:837–45. <u>PMID: 12052238</u>.

Sheldon, I. M, G. S. Lewis, S. J. LeBlanc, and R. O. Gilbert. 2006. Defining postpartum uterine disease in cattle. Theriogenology 65:1516–30. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.08.021</u>.

Sheldon, I. M., E. J. Williams, A. N. A. Miller, D. M. Nash, and S. Herath. 2008. Uterine diseases in cattle after parturition. Vet. J. 176:115–121. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.12.031</u>.

Sheldon, I. M., J. Cronin, L. Goetze, G. Donofrio, and H. Schuberth. 2009. Defining postpartum uterine disease and the mechanisms of infection and immunity in the female reproductive tract in

cattle. Biol. Reprod. 81:1025–1032. DOI: <u>10.1095/biolreprod.109.077370</u>.

Silvestre, F. T., T. S. Carvalho, N. Francisco, J. E. P. Santos, C. R. Staples, T. C. Jenkins, and W. W. Thatcher. 2011. Effects of differential supplementation of fatty acids during the peripartum and breeding periods of Holstein cows: I. Uterine and metabolic responses, reproduction, and lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 94 189–204. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2010-3370</u>.

Sletmoen-Olson, K. E., J. S. Caton, K. C. Olson, D. A. Redmer, J. D. Kirsch, and L. P. Reynolds. 2000. Undegraded intake protein supplementation: II. Effects on plasma hormone and metabolite concentrations in periparturient beef cows fed low-quality hay during gestation and lactation. J Anim. Sci. 78:456–463. <u>PMID: 10709938</u>.

Souza, A. H., H. Ayres, R. M. Ferreira, and M. C. Wiltbank. 2008. A new presynchronization system (double-Ovsynch) increases fertility at first postpartum timed AI in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 70:208–215. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2008.03.014</u>.

Souza, A. H., P. Carvalho, A. Rozner, L. Vieira, K. Hackbart, R. Bender, A. Dresch A, J. Verstegen J, R. Shaver, and M. Wiltbank. 2015. Relationship between circulating anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) and superovulatory response of high-producing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:169-178. DOI:10.3168/jds.2014-8182.

Spencer, T. E., R. C. Burghardt, G. A. Johnson, and F. W. Bazer. 2004. Conceptus signals for establishment and maintenance of pregnancy. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 82-83:537–550. DOI: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2004.04.014.

Spicer, L. J., E. Alpizar, and S. E. Ecternkamp. 1993. Effects of insulin, insulin-like growth factor 1, and gonadotropins on bovine granulosa cell proliferation, progesterone production, estradiol production, and (or) insulin-like growth factor 1 production in vitro. J. Anim. Sci. 71:1232–1241. PMID: 8505257.

Spicer, L. J., W. B. Tucker, and G. D. Adams. 1990. Insulin-like growth factor-I in dairy cows: Relationships among energy balance, body condition, ovarian activity, and estrous behavior. J. Dairy Sci. 73:929–937. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(90)78749-8.

Staples, C. R., J. M. Burke, and W. W. Thatcher. 1998 Influence of supplemental fats on reproductive tissues and performance of lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci 81 856-871. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75644-9.

Steckler, T., J. Wang, F. F. Bartol, S. K. Roy, and V. Padmanabhan. 2005. Fetal programming: prenatal testosterone treatment causes intrauterine growth retardation, reduces ovarian reserve and increases ovarian follicular recruitment. Endocrinology 146:3185–3193.

DOI: <u>10.1210/en.2004-1444</u>.

Stevenson, J. S., and S. L. Pully. 2016. Feedback effects of estradiol and progesterone on ovulation and fertility of dairy cows after gonadotropin-releasing hormone-induced release of luteinizing hormone. J. Dairy Sci. 99:3003–3015. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2015-10091</u>.

Stewart, R. E., L. J. Spicer, T. D. Hamilton, and B. E. Keefer. 1995. Effects of insulin-like growth factor I and insulin on proliferation and on basal and luteinizing hormone-induced steroidogenesis of bovine thecal cells: involvement of glucose and receptors for insulin-like growth factor I and luteinizing hormone. J. Anim. Sci. 73:3719–3731. <u>PMID: 8655449</u>.

Stirling, T. E., C.R.Stockdale, and K.L. Macmillan. 2008. Heritability of IGF-1 and its genetic correlation with milk yield in Holstein-Friesian cows in selected Victorian herds. Proc. New Zealand Soc Anim. Prod. 68:98–99. DOI: <u>10.2527/1995.73123719x</u>.

Swan, S. H. 2008. Environmental phthalate exposure in relation to reproductive outcomes and other health endpoints in humans. Environ. Res. 108:177–184. PMCID: <u>PMC2775531</u>.

Swets, J. A. 1988. Measuring the accuracy of diagnostic systems. Science 240:1285–1293. <u>PMID: 3287615</u>.

Tamminga, S. 2006. The effect of the supply of rumen degradable protein and metabolisable protein on negative energy balance and fertility in dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 96: 227–239. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.anireprosci.2006.08.003</u>.

Taylor, V. J., D. E. Beever, and D. C. Wathes. 2003. Physiological adaptations to milk production that affect fertility in high yielding dairy cows. British Society of Animal Science Occasional Publication, vol 29, pp. 37–71. Nottingham, UK: Nottingham University Press. http://oro.open.ac.uk/id/eprint/9706 Taylor, V. J., Z. Cheng, P. G. Pushpakumara, D. E. Beever, and D. C. Wathes. 2004. Relationships between the plasma concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-1 in dairy cows and their fertility and milk yield. Vet. Rec. 155:583–588. <u>PMID: 15573950</u>.

Thangavelu, G., M. G. Colazo, D. J. Ambrose, M. Oba, E. K. Okine, and M. K. Dyck. 2007. Diets enriched in unsaturated fatty acids enhance early embryonic development in lactating Holstein cows. Theriogenology 68 949–957. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2007.07.002</u>.

Tenghe, A. M. M. 2017. Milk progesterone measures to improve genomic selection for fertility in dairy cows. PhD Dissertation. Joint PhD thesis, between Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden and Wageningen University, the Netherlands.

Thankamony, A., K. K. Ong, D. B. Dunger, C. L. Acerini, and L. A. Hughes. 2009. Anogenital distance from birth to 2 years: a population study. Environ. Health Perspect. 117:1786-90. DOI: <u>10.1289/ehp.0900881</u>.

Thatcher, W. W., A. Guzeloglu, R. Mattos, M. Binelli, T. R. Hansen, and J. K. Pru. 2001. Uterineconceptus interactions and reproductive failure in cattle. Theriogenology 56: 1435–1450. <u>PMID: 11768809</u>.

Titi, H. H., S. I. Azzam, and M. A. Alnimer. 2013. Effect of protected methionine supplementation on milk production and reproduction in first calf heifers. ArchivTierzucht 56: 225–236.

Tomac, T., D. Cekinovic, and J. Arapovic. 2011. Biology of the corpus luteum. Period Biol. 113:43–49.

Tyrrell, R. N., B. G. Starr, B. J. Restall, and J. B. Donnelly. 1980. Repeatability of LH responses by lambs to monthly challenge with synthetic GnRH. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 3:155–160. http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=XE8081634.

Uehara, Y., O. Minowa, C. Mori, K. Shiota, J. Kuno, T. Noda, and N. Kitamura. 1995. Placental defect and embryonic lethality in mice lacking hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. Nature. 373:702–705. DOI: <u>10.1038/373702a0</u>.

Valenza, A., J. O. Giordano, G. Jr. Lopes, L. Vincenti, M. C. Amundson, and P. M. Fricke. 2012. Assessment of an accelerometer system for detection of estrus and for treatment with GnRH at the time of insemination in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:7115–7127.

DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2012-5639</u>.

Vanholder, T., J. L. M. R. Leroy, J. Dewulf, L. Duchateau, M. Coryn, A. de Kruif, and G. Opsomer. 2005. Hormonal and metabolic profiles of high-yielding dairy cows prior to ovarian cyst formation or first ovulation postpartum. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 40:460–7.

DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1439-0531.2005.00601.x</u>.

Varel, V. H., J. A. Nienaber, and H. C. Freetly. 1999. Conservation of nitrogen in cattle feedlot waste with urease inhibitors. J. Anim. Sci 77:1162–1168. <u>PMID: 10340583</u>.

Vasconcelos, J. L. M., R. W. Silcox, G. J. Rosa, J. R. Pursley, and M. C. Wiltbank. 1999. Synchronization rate, size of the ovulatory follicle, and pregnancy rate after synchronization of ovulation beginning on different days of the estrous cycle in lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology 52:1067–1078. DOI: <u>10.1016/S0093-691X(99)00195-8</u>.

Velazquez, M. A., L. J. Spicer, and D. C. Wathes. 2008. The role of endocrine insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in female bovine reproduction. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 35:325–342. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.domaniend.2008.07.002</u>.

Vendola, K., J. Zhou, J. Wang, O. A. Famuyiwa, M. Bievre, and C. A. Bondy. 1999. Androgens promote oocyte insulin-like growth factor I expression and initiation of follicle development in the primate ovary. Biol. Reprod. 61:353–357. <u>PMID: 10411511</u>.

Walsh, R. B., D. F. Kelton, T. F. Duffield, K. E. Leslie, J. S. Walton, and S. J. LeBlanc. 2007.
Prevalence and risk factors for postpartum anovulatory condition in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90: 315–324. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(07)72632-2</u>.

Walsh, S. W., E. J. Williams, A. C. O. Evans. 2011. A review of the causes of poor fertility in high milk producing dairy cows. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 123:127–138. DOI: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2010.12.001.

Walsh, S. W., F. Mossa, S. T. Butler, D. P. Berry, D. Scheetz, F. Jimenez-Krassel, R. J. Tempelman, F. Carter, P. Lonergan, A. C. Evans, and J. J. Ireland. 2014. Heritability and impact of environmental effects during pregnancy on antral follicle count in cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 97:4503–4511. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2013-7758.

Waterman, R. C., J. E. Sawyer, C. P. Mathis, D. E. Hawkins, G. B. Donart, and M. K. Petersen. 2006. Effects of supplements that contain increasing amounts of metabolizable protein with or without Ca-propionate salt on postpartum interval and nutrient partitioning in young beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 84:433–446. <u>PMID: 16424272</u>.

Wathes, D. C., Z. Cheng, N. Bourne, V. J. Taylor, M. P. Coffey, and S. Brotherstone. 2007. Differences between primiparous and multiparous dairy cows in the inter-relationships between metabolic traits, milk yield and body condition score in the periparturient period. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 33:203–225. DOI: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2006.05.004.

Wathes, D. C., V. J. Taylor, Z. Cheng, and G. E. Mann. 2003. Follicle growth, corpus luteum function and their effects on embryo development in postpartum dairy cows. Reproduction Suppl. 61:1–19. <u>PMID: 14635938</u>.

Wathes, D. C., T. S. Reynolds, R. S. Robinson, and K. R. Stevenson. 1997. Role of the insulinlike growth factor system in uterine function and placental development in ruminants. J. Dairy Sci. 81:1778–1789. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75747-9</u>. Webb, R., G. E. Lamming, N. B. Haynes, H. D. Hafs, and J. G. Manns. 1977. Response of cyclic and postpartum suckled cows to injections of synthetic LH-RH. J. Reprod. Fertil. 50:203–208. <u>PMID: 328872</u>.

Weiss, W. P., L. B. Willett, N. R. St-Pierre, D. C. Borger, T. R. McKelvey, and D. J. Wyatt. 2009. Varying forage type, metabolizable protein concentration, and carbohydrate source affects manure excretion, manure ammonia, and nitrogen metabolism of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92: 5607–5619. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2009-2248</u>.

Westwood, C. T., I. J. Lean, J. K. Garvin, and P. Wynn. 2000. Effects of genetic merit and varying dietary protein degradability on lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 83: 2926–2940. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75193-9.

Williams, G. L., J. Kotwica, W. D. Slanger, D. K. Olson, J. E. Tilton, and L. J. Johnson. 1982. Effect of suckling on pituitary responsiveness to gonadotropin-releasing hormone throughout the early postpartum period of beef cows. J. Anim. Sci. 54:594–602. <u>PMID: 6806232</u>.

Williams, G. L., and R. L. Stanko. 1996. Variation in anterior pituitary responsiveness to GnRH in cattle: Potential as a physiological indicator of reproductive merit. J. Anim. Sci. 74:(Suppl. 1) 214 (Abstract).

Williams, E. J., D. P. Fischer, D. E. Noakes, G. C. England, A. N. Rycroft, H. Dobson, and I. M.

Sheldon. 2007. The relationship between uterine pathogen growth density and ovarian function in the postpartum dairy cow. Theriogenology 68:549–559.

DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2007.04.056.

Wilsdorf, L. J., D. H. Keisler, S. E. Poock, W. R. Lamberson, R. C. Escalante, and M. C. Lucy. 2016. Test for nonpregnancy in dairy cows based on plasma progesterone concentrations before and after timed artificial insemination. J. Dairy Sci. 99:5858–5865. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.2016-10864</u>.

Wiltbank, M. C., and J. R. Pursley. 2014. The cow as an induced ovulator: Timed AI after synchronization of ovulation. Theriogenology. 81:170–185. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2013.09.017.

Wiltbank, M., H. Lopez, and R. Sartori. 2006. Changes in reproductive physiology of lactating dairy cows due to elevated steroid metabolism. Theriogenology. 65:17–29.

DOI; <u>10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.10.003</u>.

Wiltbank, M. C., A. Gümen, and R. Sartori. 2002. Physiological classification of anovularoty conditions in cattle. Theriogenology 57:21–52. <u>PMID: 11775971</u>.

Wiltbank, M. C., P. M. Fricke, S. Sangsritavong, R. Sartori, and O. J. Ginther. 2000. Mechanisms that prevent and produce double ovulations in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 83:2998–3007. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75201-5.

Wisnicky, W., L. E. Cassida. 1948. A manual method for diagnosis of pregnancy in cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 113:451.

Wolf, C. J., A. Hotchkiss, J. S. Ostby, G. A. LeBlanc, and L. E. Gray Jr. 2002. Effects of prenatal testosterone propionate on the sexual development of male and female rats: a dose–response study. Toxicol. Sci. 65:71–86. <u>PMID: 11752687</u>.

Wright, T. C., S. Moscardini, P. H. Luimes, P. Susmel, and B. W. McBride. 1998. Effects of rumen undegradable protein and feed intake on nitrogen balance and milk protein production in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81:784–793. DOI: <u>10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75635-8</u>.

Wu, Y., G. Zhong, S. Chen, C. Zheng, D. Liao, and M. Xie. 2017. Polycystic ovary syndrome is associated with anogenital distance, a marker of prenatal androgen exposure. Hum. Reprod. 32:937–943. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/dex042</u>.

Yang, J., B. Benyamin, B. P. McEvoy, S. Gordon, A. K. Henders, D. R. Nyholt, P. A. Madden, A.
C. Heath, N. G. Martin, G. W. Montgomery, M. E. Goddard, and P. M. Visscher. 2010. Common
SNPs explain a large proportion of the heritability for human height. Nat. Genet. 42:565–U131.
DOI: <u>10.1038/ng.608</u>.

Yang, J. A., S. H. Lee, M. E. Goddard, and P. M. Visscher. 2011. GCTA: A Tool for Genomewide Complex Trait Analysis. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 88:76–82. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.11.011</u>. Yang, J. A., N. A. Zaitlen, M. E. Goddard, P. M. Visscher, and A. L. Price. 2014. Mixed model association methods: advantages and pitfalls. Nat Genet. 46:100–106. DOI: <u>10.1038/ng.2876</u>.

Young, B. A. 1981. Cold stress as it affects animal production. J. Anim. Sci. 2:154–163. PMID: 7240034.

Yu, G., and T. Maeda. 2017. Inline progesterone monitoring in the dairy industry. Trends Biotechnol. 35:579–582. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.02.007</u>.

Zehr, J. L., S. E. Gans, and M. K. McClintock. 2001. Variation in reproductive traits is associated with short anogenital distance in female rats. Dev. Psychobiol. 38:229–238. <u>PMID: 11319729</u>.

Zulu, V. C., N. Toshihiko, and Y. Sawamukai. 2002. Insulin-like growth factor 1 as a possible hormonal mediator of nutritional regulation of reproduction in cattle. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 64:657–664. <u>PMID: 12237508</u>.